
 
          

 
AGENDA 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MEETING 

CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS  
Pat Bryson Municipal Hall ~ 201 North Brushy Street 

Leander, Texas  
 

Thursday ~June 26, 2014 at 7:00 pm 
 

 
 
 Place 1 Michelle Stephenson - Vice Chair      Place 4 Sid Sokol 
 Place 2 Joel Wixson              Place 5 Richard Allen 
  Place 3 Jason Anderson                                     Place 6 Betty Saenz  
               Place 7 Jeff Seiler - Chair 

 
 

 
 

1. Call to Order  
 
 

2. Roll Call  
 
 
3. Approval of Minutes:  

a. Regular Planning & Zoning Meeting: June 12, 2014 
 
 

4. Director’s report to P & Z Commissioners on actions taken by the City Council 
 
 

5. Citizen Communications - Three (3) minutes of time is allowed, per speaker 
 

 
 

  
 



 
 

  Public Hearing 
 
 

6. Subdivision Case 14-PP-005:  Hold a public hearing and consider action on the 
Travisso, Section 2 Preliminary Plat for 42.46 acres more or less; TCAD Parcel 
819093 & 382583; generally located to the north of Goodnight Trail and east of 
Travisso Parkway; Travis County, Texas. Applicant/Agent:  Samuel Kiger, P.E. on 
behalf of Travisso, LTD. 
 

 
a) Staff Presentation 
b) Applicant Presentation 
c) Open Public Hearing 
d) Close Public Hearing 
e) Discussion 
f) Consider Action 

 
 

7. Subdivision Case 13-FP-016:  Hold a public hearing and consider action on the 
Savanna Ranch, Section 2 Final Plat for 21.787 acres more or less; WCAD Parcel 
R508032; generally located to the northwest of the intersection of San Gabriel 
Parkway and Halsey Drive, more specifically located to the northwest of the 
intersection of Matheson Drive and Halsey Drive; Williamson County, Texas. 
Applicant/Agent:  Danny R. Martin, P.E. (Malone/Wheeler, Inc) on behalf of 
Benbrook Development, Inc. 

 
 

a) Staff Presentation 
b) Applicant Presentation 
c) Open Public Hearing 
d) Close Public Hearing 
e) Discussion 
f) Consider Action 

 
 

8. Subdivision Case 14-FP-004:  Hold a public hearing and consider action on the 
Northside Meadow, Phase 2 Final Plat for 17.278 acres more or less; WCAD Parcel 
R522435; generally located to the northwest of the intersection of Old 2243 W and 
US 183, more specifically located to the north of Phase 1B of the Northside 
Meadow Subdivision; Williamson County, Texas. Applicant/Agent:  Doucet & 
Associates on behalf of Continental Homes of Texas, LP. 

 
 

a) Staff Presentation 
b) Applicant Presentation 
c) Open Public Hearing 
d) Close Public Hearing 
e) Discussion 
f) Consider Action 
 



 
 

9. Zoning Case 14-Z-013:  Hold a public hearing and consider action on the rezoning 
of 2,400 acres, more or less, known as the Transportation Oriented Development 
District (the "TOD").  The property is an area of approximately 2,400 acres in the 
Williamson County portion of the City of Leander, Texas as of May 16, 2014, lying 
generally east of County Road 279 / Bagdad Road, north of East Crystal Falls 
Roadway, west of County Roads 269 and 270, and south of the San Gabriel River; 
including  US Highway 183  from generally north of its intersection with Sonny 
Drive to south of its intersection with High Gabriel East; including the 183A Toll 
Road from just south of its intersection with High Gabriel East to approximately 
2,500 feet south of its intersection with RM 2243, and  including the following 
subdivisions Old Town, and the Original Town of Leander Mason's, Atkin's, and 
Walker's Additions.  The land is also more particularly described in field notes, 
maps and materials related to the proposed zoning.  The property is currently zoned 
Planned Unit Development ("PUD") and is proposed to be rezoned to amend the PUD 
to modify the land use plan for the area and to amend the development regulations 
included in the SmartCode and additional standards applicable to the areas designated 
as Conventional Development. Applicant: City of Leander 

 
a) Staff Presentation 
b) Applicant Presentation 
c) Open Public Hearing 
d) Close Public Hearing 
e) Discussion 
f) Consider Action 

 
 

10. Composite Zoning Ordinance Case 14-OR-003:  Hold a public hearing and consider 
action on amending sections of the Composite Zoning Ordinance, to add the 
definition of ornamental trees and riparian corridors and to modify the definition of 
a significant tree, update the site standards regarding landscape requirements, to add 
and modify requirements for drainage and detention facilities, to amend the site 
development standards to include the protection of riparian corridors, and to update 
the parking lot connections requirements.  Applicant: City of Leander Planning 
Department 
 

 
a) Staff Presentation 
b) Open Public Hearing 
c) Close Public Hearing 
d) Discussion 
e) Consider Action 
 

 
11. Subdivision Ordinance Case 14-OR-005:  Hold a public hearing and consider action 

on amending sections of the Subdivision Ordinance, to add provisions for the 
protection of riparian corridors, to add requirements associated with parking lot 
connections and to add tree survey requirements.  Applicant:  City of Leander. 
 

 
a) Staff Presentation 
b) Open Public Hearing 



c) Close Public Hearing 
d) Discussion 
e) Consider Action 
 

 
12. Discuss scheduling a P & Z retreat in August for the purpose of conducting training 

and identifying goals for fiscal year 2014-15. 
 

a) Discussion 
b) Consider Action 
 

 
 

13. Meeting adjourned at  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 
This meeting will be conducted pursuant to the Texas Government Code Section 551.  
The  City  of  Leander is  committed  to  compliance  with  the  Americans  with  Disabilities  Act.   
Reasonable modifications and equal access to communications will be provided upon request.  Please 
call the City Secretary at 512/ 528-2700 for information.  Hearing impaired or speech disabled 
persons equipped with telecommunications devices for the deaf may call 512/ 528-2800.  I certify 
that the above notice of the Regular Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of 
Leander, Texas, was posted on the bulletin board at City  Hall, in Leander, Texas, on the 19th  day of 
June, 2014  by 5:00 pm pursuant to Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code.  
 
 
 
 
 
Tom Yantis, AICP – Director of Development Services 
 



 
          

 
MINUTES 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MEETING 

CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS  
Pat Bryson Municipal Hall ~ 201 North Brushy Street 

Leander, Texas  
 

Thursday ~June 12, 2014 at 7:00 pm 
 

 
 
 Place 1 Michelle Stephenson - Vice Chair      Place 4 Sid Sokol 
 Place 2 Joel Wixson              Place 5 Richard Allen 
  Place 3 Jason Anderson                                     Place 6 Betty Saenz  
               Place 7 Jeff Seiler - Chair 

 
 

 
1. Call to Order  

 Meeting called to order at 7:10 pm. 
 

2. Roll Call  
All Commissioners were present except Commissioner Allen. 
 

3. Approval of Minutes:  
a. Regular Planning & Zoning Meeting: May 22, 2014 

Motion made by Commissioner Sokol to approve the minutes, seconded 
by Commissioner Anderson. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
4. Director’s report to P & Z Commissioners on actions taken by the City Council 

Robin Griffin, Senior Planner, reported on actions that were taken by 
the City Council at their June 5th, 2014 meeting on items that were 
recommended from the P & Z Commission. 

 
5. Citizen Communications - Three (3) minutes of time is allowed, per speaker 

No citizens wished to speak. 



  Public Hearing 
 

6. Subdivision Case 14-CP-004:  Hold a public hearing and consider action on the 
Leander Crossing Concept Plan, for 63.33 acres more or less; WCAD Parcels 
R305748, R457903, R474901, R474912, R322778, R500607, and R485578, 
generally located to the northwest of the intersection of Woodview Drive and 183A 
Toll Road, Leander, Williamson County Texas.  Applicant: Ryan Betz on behalf of 
Willey Joseph Leavitt Decedents Trust, Leander Developers 4, LTD, and Noel 
Larson. 

 
a) Staff Presentation 

Robin Griffin, Senior Planner, stated that staff reviewed the request and 
it has staff approval.  
 

b) Applicant Presentation 
Ryan Betz spoke on the Concept Plan for Leander Crossing. 

 
c) Open Public Hearing 

 Chairman Seiler opened the public hearing. 
 Dianne Hess – spoke against 
 John Schmidt – spoke against 
 David Dauber – spoke against 
 

d) Close Public Hearing 
 Chairman Seiler closed the public hearing. 

 
e) Discussion 

 Discussion took place. 
 

f) Consider Action 
Commissioner Wixson moved to approve with staff recommendation, 
Commissioner Saenz seconded the motion. Motion passed 
unanimously. 

 
 
 

7. Subdivision Case 14-TOD-CP-001:  Hold a public hearing and consider action on the 
Leander 183 Concept Plan, for 490 acres more or less; WCAD Parcels R032104, 
R032237, R485832, R485833, R485834, R032103, R032211, R032196, R525991, 
R525993 and R032213 generally located to the east of 183 A Toll and north of East 
San Gabriel Parkway, Leander, Williamson County Texas.  Applicant:  Stefan Pharis 
on behalf Crescent Leander, TX LLC.   

 
a) Staff Presentation 

Robin Griffin, Senior Planner stated that staff reviewed the request and it 
has staff approval.  
 

b) Applicant Presentation 
Tommy Tucker and Stefan Pharis described their company and 
explained the Concept Plan for Leander 183. 



c) Open Public Hearing 
 Chairman Seiler opened the public hearing. 
 Carl Keprita – had concerns 
           Kathy Jerel – concerns about widening CR 270 
           Donna Roland – concerns about water issues/flooding 
 

d) Close Public Hearing 
 Chairman Seiler closed the public hearing. 

 
e) Discussion 

 Discussion took place. 
 

f) Consider Action 
Commissioner Anderson moved to approve with staff 
recommendation, Vice Chair Stephenson seconded the motion. 
Motion passed unanimously. 

 
 
 

8. Subdivision Case 13-PP-012:  Hold a public hearing and consider action on the Bluffs 
at Crystal Falls II, Section 3, Phases 3A – 3O Preliminary Plat, for 191.28 acres more 
or less; TCAD Parcel #831299; generally located to the west of the future extension 
of Osage Dr; Leander, Travis County, Texas. Applicant/Agent:  Sam Kiger on behalf 
of Taylor Morrison of Crystal Falls, LLC. 
 

a) Staff Presentation 
Martin Siwek, Planner stated that staff reviewed the request and it has 
staff approval.  
 

b) Applicant Presentation 
Sam Kiger answered P & Z Commissioners questions. 

 
c) Open Public Hearing 

 Chairman Seiler opened the public hearing. 
 No one wished to speak. 
 

d) Close Public Hearing 
 Chairman Seiler closed the public hearing. 

 
e) Discussion 

 Discussion took place. 
 

f) Consider Action 
Commissioner Wixson moved to approve with staff recommendation, 
Vice Chair Stephenson seconded the motion. Motion passed 
unanimously. 

 
 



 
9. Zoning Case #14-Z-010: Hold a public hearing and consider action on the 

rezoning of a parcel located at 1405 Leander Dr. for 4.64 acres more or less; 
Parcel #R036497. Currently the property is zoned HC-4-D (Heavy 
Commercial).  The property is proposed to be zoned HC-5-D (Heavy 
Commercial), Leander, Williamson County, Texas. Applicant: Keith Stuart 
on behalf of Robert M Campbell and Campbell Girls Partnership Ltd. 
 

a) Staff Presentation 
Martin Siwek, Planner, discussed request & surrounding land uses. 

 
b) Applicant Presentation 

Keith Stuart explained the purpose of the zoning request. 
 

c) Open Public Hearing 
 Chairman Seiler opened the public hearing. 
 No one wished to speak. 
 

d) Close Public Hearing 
 Chairman Seiler closed the public hearing. 

 
e) Discussion 

Some discussion took place. 
 

f) Consider Action 
Commissioner Sokol moved to approve the zoning request of HC-5-D 
(Heavy Commercial), Commissioner Anderson seconded the motion. 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
 

 
10. Zoning Case #14-Z-012: Hold a public hearing and consider action on the 

rezoning of a parcel generally located approximately 190 feet north of the 
intersection of Vista Ridge Drive and Bagdad Road on the west side of 
Bagdad Road; 3.537 acres more or less out of the Moses S. Hornsby Survey 
Abstract No. 259; Parcel #R032162. Currently the property is zoned interim 
SFR-1-B (Single Family Rural).  The property is proposed to be zoned SFU-
2-B (Single Family Urban), Leander, Williamson County, Texas. Applicant: 
James Cook on behalf MHI Partnership, LTD. 

 
a) Staff Presentation 
b) Applicant Presentation 
c) Open Public Hearing 
d) Close Public Hearing 
e) Discussion 
f) Consider Action 

 
Commissioner Sokol moved to take no action on this zoning request 
due to the cancellation of the meeting caused by severe weather as 
instructed by the City Fire Department. Vice Chair Stephenson 
seconded the motion. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
 



 
 
 

11. Meeting adjourned at 8:20 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  Chairman Seiler 

 

                                           

ATTEST: 
Ellen Pizalate, P & Z Secretary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Item # 6 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

  
JUNE 26, 2014 

  
 

 
 
Agenda Subject: Subdivision Case 14-PP-005:  Hold a public hearing and consider 

action on the Travisso, Section 2 Preliminary Plat for 42.46 acres 
more or less; TCAD Parcel 819093 & 382583; generally located to 
the north of Goodnight Trail and east of Travisso Parkway; Travis 
County, Texas. 

 
Background: This request is the second step in the subdivision process.  

Pursuant to Section 212.005 of the Texas Local Government Code, 
approval by municipality is required since the preliminary plat 
satisfies the applicable regulations without requesting any 
variances that require approval of the Planning & Zoning 
Commission.   

 
Origination: Applicant/Agent:  Samuel Kiger, P.E. on behalf of Travisso, LTD. 
 
Financial  
Consideration: None 
 
Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the preliminary plat.  This 

preliminary plat includes approximately 132 single-family lots and 
5 greenbelt lots.  This proposal meets all of the requirements of the 
Subdivision Ordinance. 

 
Motion: The Planning & Zoning Commission recommends approval of the 

preliminary plat for the subject property. 
  
Attachments: 1. Preliminary Plat 
  
Prepared By:   Robin M. Griffin  
 Senior Planner    06/13/2014 




















  

 




   


























































































































 

















 

















 





















 



 































D

E

1

5

'

D

E

2

0

'

W

W

D

E

2

0

'

W

W

E

1

0

'

W

W

E

1

5

'

P

U

E

1

5

'

P

U

E







IN THE CITY OF LEANDER, TRAVIS COUNTY, TEXAS



SCALE: 1"=120'

1 FOOT CONTOURS

Date: 06-12-14

ENGINEER:

SURVEYOR:

OWNER:

I, Phillip L. McLaughlin, am authorized under the laws of the state of Texas to practice the
profession of land surveying, and hereby state that all existing easements of record as found
on the property report for 2,144.875 Ac. described in a deed of record to Travisso, Ltd. In
Document No. 2013056181 received from an Independence Title Company on March 13,
2014, have been shown or noted on the Preliminary Plat.

Phillip L. McLaughlin, R.P.L.S. #5300

Travisso, LTD.

11200 Lakeline Blvd., Suite 150A

Austin, Texas 78717

Phone: (512) 328-866

Fax: (512) 328-7988

Jay Engineering Co., Inc.

Texas Registered Engineering Firm F-4780

P.O. Box 1220

Leander, Texas 78646-1220

Phone: (512) 259-3882

Fax: (512) 259-8016

Phillip L. McLaughlin RPLS

G & R Surveying, LLC

1805 Ouida Drive

Austin, Texas 78728

Phone: (512) 267-7430

Fax: (512) 836-8385

      





 




 


 
























STREET INFORMATION

STREET NAME LENGTH ROW WIDTH ROAD WIDTH DESIGN SPEED

GOOD NIGHT TRAIL

(COLLECTOR)

430 L.F. 60' 40' F-F 30 MPH

VENEZIA VIEW

(LOCAL)

1747 L.F. 50' 28' F-F 30 MPH

VENEZIA VIEW

(COLLECTOR)

791 L.F. 60' 40' F-F 30 MPH

PARISIO COURT

(LOCAL)

689 L.F. 50' 28' F-F 30 MPH

PIANA PLACE

(LOCAL)

276 L.F. 50' 28' F-F 30 MPH

CASTELLA COVE

(LOCAL)

380 L.F. 50' 28' F-F 30 MPH

CASTELLA COVE

(PRIVATE DRIVE)

448 L.F. 30' 26.5' B-B -

PIANA PLACE

(PRIVATE DRIVE)

773 L.F. 30' 26.5' B-B -

CI
TY

 O
F 

LE
AN

DE
R

CI
TY

 O
F 

JO
NE

ST
OW

N

LEANDER ETJ

RM
 1

43
1

RM 1431

GOOD NIGHT

TR
AI

L

NAMELESS RD.

CI
TY

 O
F L

EA
NDER

TRAVISSO

PRKW
Y,

PROJECT

SITE

LOCATION MAP

SCALE: 1" = 2,000'




BUFFER ZONES - SHALL REMAIN FREE OF CONSTRUCTION,
DEVELOPMENT, OR OTHER ALTERATIONS EXCEPT FOR  UTILITY AND
ROADWAY CROSSINGS



















1 Overall Layout

2

3

4

5

Water Distribution Plan

6

Wastewater Collection System

7

Storm Sewer Plan

Overall Drainage Plan

Tree Plan

Layout (100' Scale)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Access to Good Night Trail is prohibited from Lots 39 & 64 of Block "F".

2. Access to Good Night Trail is prohibited from Lots 174 & 186 of Block "E".

3. Access to Good Night Trail is prohibited from Lots 71 & 72 of Block "C".

4. Access to Castella Cove is prohibited from Lot 47 of Block "C"

5. Sidewalks shall be installed on both sides of Good Night Trail, Venezia View (Collector), and

Parisio Court. Sidewalks shall be installed on one side of all local streets. Those sidewalks not

abutting a residential , commercial or industrial lot (including sidewalks along street frontages of

lots proposed for schools, Churches, park lots, detention lots, drainage lots, irrigation lots,

landscape lots, or similar lots), sidewalks on arterial streets to which access is prohibited,

sidewalks on double frontage lots on the side to which  access is prohibited, and all sidewalks on

safe school routes shall be installed when the adjoining street is constructed.

6. Obstruction of drainage easements is prohibited.

7. All Private Streets & Drives, Pocket Parks, Greenbelt and Landscape Lots within the subdivision

shall be owned and maintained by the Travisso Homeowners Association.

8. A 10 foot wide P.U.E. will be provided adjacent to all public and private Right of Ways.

9. For lots less than sixty (60) feet wide and zoned SFC of SFT, residential street facing garages

shall be located no closer to the street than five (5) feet in front of the dwelling or roof covered

porch structure being not less than seven (7) feet wide for all portions of the structure adjacent to

the garage. For all other lots, residential street facing garages shall be located no closer to the

street than the dwelling.

10. Developer is required to pay 50% of Recreation Improvement fees to the city with each final plat

approval. Recreation fees are $350 per lot.

11. Any stub street more than 150' in length requires a temporary turn-a-round.

No.

Sheet

of

J
a
y
 
E

n
g
i
n
e
e
r
i
n
g
 
C

o
m

p
a
n
y
,
 
I
n
c
.

P
.
O

.
 
B

o
x
 
1
2
2
0

L
e
a
n
d
e
r
,
 
T

e
x
a
s
 
7
8
6
4
6
-
1
2
2
0

T
e
l
.
 
(
5
1
2
)
 
2
5
9
-
3
8
8
2
 
 
F

a
x
.
 
(
5
1
2
)
 
2
5
9
-
8
0
1
6

TM

O
V

E
R

A
L

L
 
L

A
Y

O
U

T

T
R

A
V

I
S

S
O

 
-
 
S

E
C

.
2

P
R

E
L
I
M

I
N

A
R

Y
 
P

L
A

T

7

1

T
R

A
V

IS
S

O
, L

T
D

.

GB

GB

GB

V

E

N

E

Z

I

A

 

V

I

E

W

FOR  REVIEW  ONLY

Samuel D. Kiger
89353

WQP #11

DET. POND

#51

EXIST.

WQ/DET.

POND SEE

TRAVISSO

SECTION 1

PH. 2 PLANS

















































WQDP #22

SECTION 1

SFC SFU & SFS SFE & SFR TOTAL PER SECTION

50' Lots 60'-70' Lots 80' Lots

0 141 59 200

SECTION 2

SFC SFU & SFS SFE & SFR TOTAL PER SECTION

50' Lots 60'-70' Lots 80' Lots

55 66 11 132

Total Lots = 55 207 70 332

Allowed Per PUD =

20% or

420-635 Max

20% or

420-635 Min

25% or

525-793 Min

2,100 - 3,173

Current Percentage =
17% 62% 21%



GB/WQP

GB/DETENTION POND

LOT INFORMATION

Phase Res. Lot GB Lot Pvt. Drv. Lot Acres

Timing

2A 28 1 1 7.03 2014

2B 11 0 0 6.19 2014

2C 24 0 0 6.78 2014

2D 34 1 0 10.43 2015

2E 35 3 1 12.03 2015

TOTAL 132 5 2 42.46

Pvt. Drv.

Lot

Pvt. Drv.

Lot



















  













  



















































































































  




























































 

























R

3

0

0

'

R

2

0

3

'

R
180'

R70'

R
2

0

0

'

R

2

0

0

'

R70'

R

3

0

0

'

R

3

0

2

'

R

3

0

0

'

R

3

0

0

'

R

4

7

5

'

R60'

R

3

0

0

'











































 













 







 




















































































DE

15'

DE

20'

WWDE

20'

WWE

10'

WWE

15'

PUE

15'

PUE














Line Table

Line #
L1

L2

L3

L4

L5

L6

L7

L8

L9

L10

L11

L12

L13

L14

L15

L16

L17

L18

L19

L20

L21

L22

L23

L24

L25

L26

L27

L28

L29

L30

L31

Length
60.58

140.00

145.57

76.41

305.57

191.73

254.77

63.42

245.97

141.41

149.82

130.00

60.00

314.85

143.53

140.06

70.84

252.02

180.27

153.79

92.07

86.32

153.55

176.32

127.93

121.15

115.55

97.52

67.47

146.06

288.15

Direction
N26° 05' 21.23"E

N34° 00' 57.24"E

S55° 59' 02.76"E

N08° 11' 23.63"E

S89° 00' 14.54"E

S33° 24' 49.33"E

S51° 57' 01.37"E

S02° 08' 06.98"W

S33° 37' 14.07"W

S53° 33' 41.31"E

S36° 26' 19.30"W

S68° 55' 58.32"E

S21° 04' 01.68"W

S22° 21' 14.12"W

S22° 56' 58.68"W

N68° 43' 14.95"W

N58° 12' 27.63"W

N47° 42' 14.38"W

S79° 57' 18.51"W

N75° 41' 03.15"W

N33° 06' 34.24"W

N05° 51' 49.42"W

N04° 24' 51.13"E

S62° 39' 41.96"W

S72° 10' 16.29"W

S83° 20' 24.09"W

N85° 46' 15.93"W

N81° 18' 42.27"W

N82° 09' 45.81"W

S24° 06' 55.98"W

S89° 28' 06.08"W

Line Table

Line #
L32

L33

L34

L35

L36

L37

L38

L39

L40

L41

L42

L43

L44

L45

L46

L47

L48

L49

L50

L51

L52

L53

L54

L55

L56

L57

L58

L59

L60

L61

Length
212.19

137.51

58.22

77.78

254.34

317.39

155.57

16.25

50.00

4.99

140.29

33.86

50.00

4.74

115.72

317.31

141.39

54.80

51.77

94.62

17.76

13.57

73.64

73.64

73.64

76.80

221.79

83.32

146.68

27.54

Direction
S86° 33' 51.24"W

N21° 26' 58.91"W

N39° 34' 38.36"W

N54° 58' 03.44"W

N57° 12' 55.22"W

N64° 18' 41.16"E

N19° 49' 14.12"E

N21° 06' 02.31"W

N68° 53' 57.69"E

N21° 06' 02.31"W

N68° 53' 57.69"E

N85° 08' 29.87"E

N88° 57' 28.46"E

N01° 02' 31.54"W

N85° 08' 29.87"E

S01° 02' 31.54"E

S16° 34' 58.27"E

S31° 24' 22.89"E

S40° 09' 29.57"E

S48° 26' 39.49"E

S48° 14' 29.33"E

S74° 06' 10.88"E

S74° 06' 10.88"E

S88° 12' 07.48"E

N77° 41' 55.93"E

N64° 48' 49.53"E

N62° 37' 05.10"E

N73° 25' 17.58"E

N27° 22' 54.90"W

N34° 00' 57.24"E

Curve Table

Curve #
C1

C2

C3

C4

C5

C6

C7

C8

C9

Length
27.15

169.41

124.99

31.42

119.06

32.75

31.32

81.50

31.42

Radius
270.00

225.00

175.01

20.00

419.27

20.00

20.15

205.00

20.00

Delta
005.7608

043.1410

040.9196

090.0000

016.2708

093.8163

089.0279

022.7774

090.0000

Chord Direction
S66° 03' 08.82"E

N01° 44' 59.60"W

N00° 38' 24.09"W

N23° 53' 57.69"E

N77° 01' 13.78"E

S47° 57' 00.84"E

N40° 18' 08.81"E

N45° 24' 16.51"E

N79° 00' 57.24"E

Chord
27.14

165.44

122.35

28.28

118.66

29.21

28.26

80.96

28.28



IN THE CITY OF LEANDER, TRAVIS COUNTY, TEXAS



SCALE: 1"=100'

1 FOOT CONTOURS

Date: 06-12-14

      
 

 













 





































No.

Sheet

of

J
a
y
 
E

n
g
i
n
e
e
r
i
n
g
 
C

o
m

p
a
n
y
,
 
I
n
c
.

P
.
O

.
 
B

o
x
 
1
2
2
0

L
e
a
n
d
e
r
,
 
T

e
x
a
s
 
7
8
6
4
6
-
1
2
2
0

T
e
l
.
 
(
5
1
2
)
 
2
5
9
-
3
8
8
2
 
 
F

a
x
.
 
(
5
1
2
)
 
2
5
9
-
8
0
1
6

TM

L
A

Y
O

U
T

 
(
1

0
0

'
 
S

C
A

L
E

)

T
R

A
V

I
S

S
O

 
-
 
S

E
C

.
2

P
R

E
L
I
M

I
N

A
R

Y
 
P

L
A

T

7

2

T
R

A
V

IS
S

O
, L

T
D

.

GB

GB

GB

V

E

N

E

Z
I

A  V
I

E
W

FOR  REVIEW  ONLY

Samuel D. Kiger
89353

WQP #11

DET. POND

#51

EXIST.

WQ/DET.

POND SEE

TRAVISSO

SECTION 1

PH. 2 PLANS










































WQDP #22







GB/WQP

GB/DETENTION POND



















Pvt. Drv.

Lot

Pvt. Drv.

Lot



















  













  




























W

L
























































































  




























































 

























W
L

W
L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W
L

W
L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

WL

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W
L

W
L

W
L

W
L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L
W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W
L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W
L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

WL

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W
L WL

W

L

W
L

W
L

W
L

W
L

W

L

W
L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

WL

WL

WL

WL

WL

WL

W
L

W
L

W
L

W
L

W
L

W
L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L

W

L











DE

15'

DE

20'

WWDE

20'

WWE

10'

WWE

15'

PUE

15'

PUE





IN THE CITY OF LEANDER, TRAVIS COUNTY, TEXAS



SCALE: 1"=100'

1 FOOT CONTOURS

Date: 06-12-14

      
















 































No.

Sheet

of

J
a
y
 
E

n
g
i
n
e
e
r
i
n
g
 
C

o
m

p
a
n
y
,
 
I
n
c
.

P
.
O

.
 
B

o
x
 
1
2
2
0

L
e
a
n
d
e
r
,
 
T

e
x
a
s
 
7
8
6
4
6
-
1
2
2
0

T
e
l
.
 
(
5
1
2
)
 
2
5
9
-
3
8
8
2
 
 
F

a
x
.
 
(
5
1
2
)
 
2
5
9
-
8
0
1
6

TM

W
A

T
E

R
 
D

I
S

T
R

I
B

U
T

I
O

N
 
S

Y
S

T
E

M

T
R

A
V

I
S

S
O

 
-
 
S

E
C

.
2

P
R

E
L
I
M

I
N

A
R

Y
 
P

L
A

T

7

3

T
R

A
V

IS
S

O
, L

T
D

.

GB

GB

GB

V
ENEZ

I
A

 
V

I

E

W

FOR  REVIEW  ONLY

Samuel D. Kiger
89353

WQP #11

DET. POND

#51

EXIST.

WQ/DET.

POND SEE

TRAVISSO

SECTION 1

PH. 2 PLANS

































NOTES:

1. EXISTING UTILITY LOCATIONS SHOWN HEREON ARE APPROXIMATE. CONTRACTOR IS TO VERIFY LOCATIONS

OF ALL EXISTING UTILITY LINES PRIOR TO COMMENCING WORK.

2. WATER LINE FITTINGS SHOWN ON THIS SHEET ARE FOR GENERAL LOCATION PURPOSES AND ARE DRAWN

AT A LARGER SCALE THAN ACTUAL SIZE FOR CLARITY.



TIE-INTO

EXIST. 8" W.L.

TIE-INTO

EXIST. 24" W.L.

TIE-INTO

EXIST. 24" W.L.

8" WL

8" WL

8" WL

8" WL

8" WL

8" WL

8" WL

8" WL




8" WL

STUB




WQDP #22

GB/WQP

GB/DETENTION POND

Pvt. Drv.

Lot

Pvt. Drv.

Lot



















  













  




























W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

F
M

F

M

F

M

F

M

F

M

F

M

F

M

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W
W

W
W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W
























































































  




























































 

























W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

WW

W
W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

F

M

F

M
F

M

F

M

F

M

F

M

F

M

F

M

F

M

F

M

F

M

F

M

FM

F

M

F

M

F

M

F

M

F

M

F
M

F

M

F

M

F
M

F

M











DE

15'

DE

20'

WWDE

20'

WWE

10'

WWE

15'

PUE

15'

PUE





IN THE CITY OF LEANDER, TRAVIS COUNTY, TEXAS



SCALE: 1"=100'

1 FOOT CONTOURS

Date: 06-12-14

       















 


























No.

Sheet

of

J
a
y
 
E

n
g
i
n
e
e
r
i
n
g
 
C

o
m

p
a
n
y
,
 
I
n
c
.

P
.
O

.
 
B

o
x
 
1
2
2
0

L
e
a
n
d
e
r
,
 
T

e
x
a
s
 
7
8
6
4
6
-
1
2
2
0

T
e
l
.
 
(
5
1
2
)
 
2
5
9
-
3
8
8
2
 
 
F

a
x
.
 
(
5
1
2
)
 
2
5
9
-
8
0
1
6

TM

W
A

S
T

E
W

A
T

E
R

C
O

L
L

E
C

T
I
O

N
 
S

Y
S

T
E

M

T
R

A
V

I
S

S
O

 
-
 
S

E
C

.
2

P
R

E
L
I
M

I
N

A
R

Y
 
P

L
A

T

7

4

T
R

A
V

IS
S

O
, L

T
D

.

GB

GB

GB

V
ENEZ

I A

 
V

I

E

W

FOR  REVIEW  ONLY

Samuel D. Kiger
89353

WQP #11

DET. POND

#51

EXIST.

WQ/DET.

POND SEE

TRAVISSO

SECTION 1

PH. 2 PLANS



































NOTES:

1. EXISTING UTILITY LOCATIONS SHOWN HEREON ARE APPROXIMATE. CONTRACTOR IS TO VERIFY LOCATIONS

OF ALL EXISTING UTILITY LINES PRIOR TO COMMENCING WORK.

2. WASTEWATER LINE FITTINGS SHOWN ON THIS SHEET ARE FOR GENERAL LOCATION PURPOSES AND ARE

DRAWN AT A LARGER SCALE THAN ACTUAL SIZE FOR CLARITY.






LEGEND

WW WW

TIE-INTO

EXIST. 8" WW

TIE-INTO

EXIST. 15" WW

TIE-INTO

EXIST. 8" WW

15" WW

12" FM

15" WW

2" FM

2" FM

8" WW

8" WW

8" WW

2" FM

8" WW

STUB

12" FM

STUB




WQDP #22

GB/WQP

GB/DETENTION POND

Pvt. Drv.

Lot

Pvt. Drv.

Lot



















  













  




























S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S
























































































  






















































S
S







 

























S

S

S

S

S
S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S
S

S
S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S
S

S
S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

SS











S

S

DE

15'

DE

20'

WWDE

20'

WWE

10'

WWE

15'

PUE

15'

PUE





IN THE CITY OF LEANDER, TRAVIS COUNTY, TEXAS



SCALE: 1"=100'

1 FOOT CONTOURS

Date: 06-12-14

      















 


































No.

Sheet

of

J
a
y
 
E

n
g
i
n
e
e
r
i
n
g
 
C

o
m

p
a
n
y
,
 
I
n
c
.

P
.
O

.
 
B

o
x
 
1
2
2
0

L
e
a
n
d
e
r
,
 
T

e
x
a
s
 
7
8
6
4
6
-
1
2
2
0

T
e
l
.
 
(
5
1
2
)
 
2
5
9
-
3
8
8
2
 
 
F

a
x
.
 
(
5
1
2
)
 
2
5
9
-
8
0
1
6

TM
S

T
O

R
M

 
S

E
W

E
R

 
P

L
A

N

T
R

A
V

I
S

S
O

 
-
 
S

E
C

.
2

P
R

E
L
I
M

I
N

A
R

Y
 
P

L
A

T

7

5

T
R

A
V

IS
S

O
, L

T
D

.

GB

GB

GB

V

E
N

E
Z I A

 
V

I
E

W

FOR  REVIEW  ONLY

Samuel D. Kiger
89353

WQP #11

DET. POND

#51

EXIST.

WQ/DET.

POND SEE

TRAVISSO

SECTION 1

PH. 2 PLANS



































NOTES:

1. EXISTING UTILITY LOCATIONS SHOWN HEREON ARE APPROXIMATE. CONTRACTOR IS TO VERIFY LOCATIONS

OF ALL EXISTING UTILITY LINES PRIOR TO COMMENCING WORK.

2. STORM SEWER LINE FITTINGS SHOWN ON THIS SHEET ARE FOR GENERAL LOCATION PURPOSES AND ARE

DRAWN AT A LARGER SCALE THAN ACTUAL SIZE FOR CLARITY.






LEGEND

SS SS

TIE-INTO

EXIST. 54" SS18" SS

18" SS

24" SS

30" SS

36" SS

42" SS

18" SS

TIE-INTO

EXIST. 24" SS





18" SS

18" SS

24" SS

WQDP #22

GB/WQP

GB/DETENTION POND

24" SS

Pvt. Drv.

Lot

Pvt. Drv.

Lot





IN THE CITY OF LEANDER, TRAVIS COUNTY, TEXAS



SCALE: 1"=200'

5 FOOT CONTOURS

Date: 06-12-14
























 No.

Sheet

of

J
a
y
 
E

n
g
i
n
e
e
r
i
n
g
 
C

o
m

p
a
n
y
,
 
I
n
c
.

P
.
O

.
 
B

o
x
 
1
2
2
0

L
e
a
n
d
e
r
,
 
T

e
x
a
s
 
7
8
6
4
6
-
1
2
2
0

T
e
l
.
 
(
5
1
2
)
 
2
5
9
-
3
8
8
2
 
 
F

a
x
.
 
(
5
1
2
)
 
2
5
9
-
8
0
1
6

TM
O

V
E

R
A

L
L

 
D

R
A

I
N

A
G

E
 
P

L
A

N

T
R

A
V

I
S

S
O

 
-
 
S

E
C

.
2

P
R

E
L
I
M

I
N

A
R

Y
 
P

L
A

T

7

6

T
R

A
V

IS
S

O
, L

T
D

.

FOR  REVIEW  ONLY

Samuel D. Kiger
89353

DET. POND

#51

EXIST.

WQ/DET.

POND SEE

TRAVISSO

SECTION 1

PH. 2 PLANS










WQP

#11

WQDP

#22



















  













  



















































































































  




























































 









































IN THE CITY OF LEANDER, TRAVIS COUNTY, TEXAS



SCALE: 1"=100'

1 FOOT CONTOURS

Date: 06-12-14























No.

Sheet

of

J
a
y
 
E

n
g
i
n
e
e
r
i
n
g
 
C

o
m

p
a
n
y
,
 
I
n
c
.

P
.
O

.
 
B

o
x
 
1
2
2
0

L
e
a
n
d
e
r
,
 
T

e
x
a
s
 
7
8
6
4
6
-
1
2
2
0

T
e
l
.
 
(
5
1
2
)
 
2
5
9
-
3
8
8
2
 
 
F

a
x
.
 
(
5
1
2
)
 
2
5
9
-
8
0
1
6

TM
T

R
E

E
 
P

L
A

N

T
R

A
V

I
S

S
O

 
-
 
S

E
C

.
2

P
R

E
L
I
M

I
N

A
R

Y
 
P

L
A

T

7

7

T
R

A
V

IS
S

O
, L

T
D

.

FOR  REVIEW  ONLY

Samuel D. Kiger
89353







































Item # 7 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

  
JUNE 26, 2014 

  
 

 
 
Agenda Subject: Subdivision Case 13-FP-016:  Hold a public hearing and consider 

action on the Savanna Ranch, Section 2 Final Plat for 21.787 acres 
more or less; WCAD Parcel R508032; generally located to the 
northwest of the intersection of San Gabriel Parkway and Halsey 
Drive, more specifically located to the northwest of the intersection 
of Matheson Drive and Halsey Drive; Williamson County, Texas. 

 
Background: This request is the final step in the subdivision process.  Pursuant 

to Section 212.005 of the Texas Local Government Code, approval 
by municipality is required since the final plat satisfies the 
applicable regulations without requesting any variances that 
require approval of the Planning & Zoning Commission.   

 
Origination: Applicant/Agent:  Danny R. Martin, P.E. (Malone/Wheeler, Inc) 

on behalf of Benbrook Development, Inc. 
 
Financial  
Consideration: None 
 
Recommendation: This final plat includes 91 single-family lots and 2 landscape lots.  

This proposal meets all of the requirements of the Subdivision 
Ordinance.  Staff recommends to conditionally approve the final 
plat with the following condition: 

 
1. All conditions listed in the Subdivision Ordinance Article II, 

Section 24 (f) (3) regarding the acceptance of the final 
improvements or the posting of fiscal assurance for the final 
improvements have been met.   

 
Motion: The Planning & Zoning Commission recommends approval of the 

final plat for the subject property. 
  
Attachments: 1. Final Plat 
  
Prepared By:   Robin M. Griffin, AICP  
 Senior Planner    06/13/2014 









Item # 8 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

  
JUNE 26, 2014 

  
 

 
 
Agenda Subject: Subdivision Case 14-FP-004:  Hold a public hearing and consider 

action on the Northside Meadow, Phase 2 Final Plat for 17.278 
acres more or less; WCAD Parcel R522435; generally located to 
the northwest of the intersection of Old 2243 W and US 183, more 
specifically located to the north of Phase 1B of the Northside 
Meadow Subdivision; Williamson County, Texas. 

 
Background: This request is the final step in the subdivision process.  Pursuant 

to Section 212.005 of the Texas Local Government Code, approval 
by municipality is required since the final plat satisfies the 
applicable regulations without requesting any variances that 
require approval of the Planning & Zoning Commission.   

 
Origination: Applicant/Agent:  Doucet & Associates on behalf of Continental 

Homes of Texas, LP. 
 
Financial  
Consideration: None 
 
Recommendation: This final plat includes 63 single-family lots, 8  landscape lots, and 

2 park lots.  This proposal meets all of the requirements of the 
Subdivision Ordinance.  Staff recommends to conditionally 
approve the final plat with the following condition: 

 
1. All conditions listed in the Subdivision Ordinance Article II, 

Section 24 (f) (3) regarding the acceptance of the final 
improvements or the posting of fiscal assurance for the final 
improvements have been met.   

 
Motion: The Planning & Zoning Commission recommends approval of the 

final plat for the subject property. 
  
Attachments: 1. Final Plat 
  
Prepared By:   Robin M. Griffin, AICP  
 Senior Planner    06/13/2014 







Item # 9 
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
JUNE 26, 2014 

  
 

 
 
Agenda Subject: Zoning Case 14-Z-013:  Hold a public hearing and consider action 

on the rezoning of 2,400 acres, more or less, known as the 
Transportation Oriented Development District (the "TOD").  The 
property is an area of approximately 2,400 acres in the Williamson 
County portion of the City of Leander, Texas as of May 16, 2014, 
lying generally east of County Road 279 / Bagdad Road, north of 
East Crystal Falls Roadway, west of County Roads 269 and 270, 
and south of the San Gabriel River; including  US Highway 183  
from generally north of its intersection with Sonny Drive to south 
of its intersection with High Gabriel East; including the 183A Toll 
Road from just south of its intersection with High Gabriel East to 
approximately 2,500 feet south of its intersection with RM 2243, 
and  including the following subdivisions Old Town, and the 
Original Town of Leander Mason's, Atkin's, and Walker's 
Additions.  The land is also more particularly described in field 
notes, maps and materials related to the proposed zoning.  The 
property is currently zoned Planned Unit Development ("PUD") and 
is proposed to be rezoned to amend the PUD to modify the land use 
plan for the area and to amend the development regulations included 
in the SmartCode and additional standards applicable to the areas 
designated as Conventional Development.  

 
Background: The SmartCode was first adopted in 2005 and this update process 

is intended to provide adjustments to the code to address issues and 
implement best practices that have arisen since its original 
adoption.  The SmartCode governs the development of the land 
within the Transit Oriented Development District. 

 
Origination: City of Leander Planning Department 
 
Financial  
Consideration: None 
 
Recommendation: See Planning Analysis. 
 
  



Item # 9 
 

Attachments: 1.   Planning Analysis 
 2.  Proposed Leander SmartCode 
 3. Conventional Development Sector Proposed Amendment 
 4. Sector Map 1, Option A 
 5. Sector Map 2, Option B 
 6. Sector Map 3, Option C 
 7. Sector Map 6 Parks & Trails 
 8. Sector Map 7 A, B, & C Streets 
 9. Sector Map 9 Transect Zones 
 10. Zoning Exhibit 
  
Prepared By:   Robin M. Griffin, AICP  
 Senior Planner  06/18/2014 
 



Attachment # 1                 

 
PLANNING ANALYSIS  

 
ZONING CASE 14-Z-013 

SMARTCODE AMENDMENT 
 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Proposal: Amendment to the SmartCode 
 Adoption of a Sector Planning Area Map 
 Adoption of Conventional Development Sector Standards  
 
Size and Location: The property includes approximate 2,400 acres more or less known as the 

Transportation Oriented Development District (the “TOD”). 
 
Staff Contact:   Tom Yantis, AICP   
 Development Services Director     
   
CONVENTIONAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
 
The Conventional Development Standards will be a separate document from the SmartCode that 
establishes regulations for the properties that are designated as CD Sector (Conventional 
Development) on the Sector Planning Area Map.  These standards will be in addition to the 
standards required by the Composite Zoning Ordinance.  This sector allows for conventional 
single-use and mixed-use development with basic design standards to provide a transition to 
adjacent neighborhoods and pedestrian-oriented communities.  Developers will have the option 
to follow the standards listed in the SmartCode instead of the Composite Zoning Ordinance if 
they choose to design their development in the pattern of the Clustered Land Development 
(CLD) or Traditional Neighborhood Development (TND) as provided in Article 4 of the 
SmartCode. 
 
The additional standards include: 

 Designing the streets to meet the requirements of the A-Street, B-Street, or C-Street.  
The different street types will be allocated by quadrant of Town Center, Community 
Center and Neighborhood Center nodes as designated in the Comprehensive Plan. 

 Establishing the location of the parking for commercial districts 
 Identifying the required architectural component based on the street type and the use of 

the structure. 
 Establishing a minimum density of four units per acre. 
 Requiring access from alley for residential lot narrower than 50 feet. 

 
        

  

 



Attachment # 1                 

SECTOR PLANNING AREA MAP 
 
The new sector planning area map options have been drawn to address several of the concerns of the 
stakeholders, primarily the contraction of the area subject to the SmartCode, and more flexibility in 
planning and allocating Transect Zones. 
 
There are 5 proposed sectors on the Sector Planning Area map, S1 - General, S2-Transit, S3-Old 
Town, CD-Conventional Development and OS-Open Space.  Each sector is allocated with appropriate 
community types (i.e. Cluster Land Development, Traditional Neighborhood Development, Regional 
Center Development and Conventional).   Within the S1 and S2 sectors, the SmartCode is mandatory.  
Within the S3 sector, for properties that were platted and zoned prior to the adoption of the TOD, the 
property owner may choose to develop under either their prior conventional zoning district or the 
SmartCode.  Within the CD sector, the SmartCode is optional, if the landowner chooses not to use the 
SmartCode, they will propose a concept plan for their property that will establish the allowed mix of 
uses, and the composite zoning district in compliance with the comprehensive plan. 
 
Once a community type (i.e. CLD, TND or RCD)  is determined for an area subject to the SmartCode, 
a concept plan and preliminary plat are prepared that allocate the transect zones within the 
community.  For areas that have already been planned (i.e. Old Town and some of the properties 
around the rail station) the transect zones have already been established and are depicted on the Sector 
Map. 
 
 
 

SMARTCODE AMENDMENT 
 
The City with assistance from its consultants, Michael Watkins and Sandy Sorlien, has held a 
series of work sessions with stakeholders, Planning & Zoning Commission, and City Council to 
prepare amendments to the SmartCode.  The amendments to the SmartCode are intended to 
encourage development in the TOD and provide standards that are easier to implement and 
understand than the 2005 version of the SmartCode. 
 
Proposed amendments to the SmartCode include: 

 Add sector planning as a step prior to community unit planning to allow more flexibility 
in the allocation of transect zones once a property is ready for development 

 Add incentives to encourage development in Old Town 
 Revise Transect Zones for Old Town 
 Provide consolidated summary tables for the Transect Zones 
 Remove or reduce minimum building height requirements 
 Change minimum densities to maximum densities for residential 
 Allow more flexibility in parking location by adding B and C Street options 
 Streamline the development process to more closely match the processes in the 

Composite Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision Ordinance 
 Reorganize the development standards within the chapters of the SmartCode to make 

them easier to read and understand 
 Remove minimum parking standards and provide an option to establish maximum 

parking ratios 
 Add the Signage module which has easy to understand standards for signage 

 



Attachment # 1                 

 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
During the course of the public meetings related to the amendments to the SmartCode and the 
TOD PUD, there were three Sector Planning Map options developed.  Staff has presented all 
three options in the packet materials for this agenda item.  Staff recommends that P&Z choose 
one option to recommend to City Council for adoption. 
 
Within the text of the proposed amendments to the SmartCode in the architectural section 6.13 
on page SC49, there is optional text highlighted in red which provides more stringent standards.  
Staff recommends that the P&Z determine whether to include the more stringent standards or 
recommend removing that text before final adoption. 
 
Overall, staff recommends approval of the amended PUD for the Transit Oriented Development 
District to include adoption of the revised SmartCode, the CD Sector standards, and one of the 
three Sector Plans which  includes the sector planning map, the trails map, the A, B and C streets 
map, and the approved transect zones map. 



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC1

 

L e a n d e r
S m a r t C o d e

A T r A n s e c T -B A s e d  c o d e  f o r  P l A n n i n g  A n d  Z o n i n g

P r e PA r e d  B y  s A n d y  s o r l i e n  /  s m A rT c o d e  l o c A l  & m i c h A e l  W AT k i n s  A r c h i T e c T ,  l l c

d r A f T  A P r i l  28 ,  2014



2

ARTICLE 2
SECTORS

ARTICLE 3 & ARTICLE 4
COMMUNITY UNITS

ARTICLE 5
LOTS & BUILDINGS    

A. Sectors B. Community Units C.Transect Zones Standards

Open Lands O1  Preserved 
 Open Sector (N/A)

None T1
T2

Natural Zone

Rural Zone

O2 Reserved 
Open Sector (N/A)

None

New
Development

S1 General Sector TND Traditional
Neighborhood
Development

T3
T4
T5

Sub-Urban Zone

General Urban Zone

Urban Center Zone

  Building Placement

  Building Form

  Building Function & Use

   Parking Minimums

  Parking Location

  Landscape Standards

  Signage Standards

  Architecture Standards

S2 Transit Sector RCD Regional Center
Development T4

T5
General Urban Zone

Urban Center Zone

Existing
Development

S3 Old Town Sector OTD Old Town District T4
T5

General Urban Zone

Urban Center Zone

Other CB
CS

Civic Building

Civic Space

SD Special District

CD Conventional Development 
Sector CLD Clustered Land

Development T2
T3
T4

Rural Zone

Sub-Urban Zone

General Urban Zone

TND Traditional
Neighborhood
Development

T3
T4
T5

Sub-Urban Zone

General Urban Zone

Urban Center Zone

Composite Zoning Ordinance

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5

DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODEOUTLINE



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

 CHAPTER 1 GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS
  1.1 AUTHORITY
  1.2 APPLICABILITY
  1.3 INTENT
  1.4 PROCESS
  1.5 VARIANCES
  1.6 INCENTIVES
  1.7 ALTERNATE & SAVINGS PROVISIONS
 TABLE 1A INTENT - SECTORS
 TABLE 1B  INTENT - COMMUNITY UNITS 
 TABLE 1C INTENT - TRANSECT ZONES

CHAPTER 2 SECTORS
  2.1 INSTRUCTIONS
  2.2 (S1) GENERAL SECTOR
  2.3 (S2) TRANSIT SECTOR
  2.4 (S3) OLD TOWN SECTOR
  2.5 (CD) CONVENTIONAL DEV. SECTOR 
 TABLE 2A SECTOR, COMMUNITY UNIT & TRANSECT  
  ZONE ALLOCATION

 CHAPTER 3 THOROUGHFARES & CIVIC SPACES
  3.1 INSTRUCTIONS
  3.2 THOROUGHFARES - VEHICULAR LANES
  3.3 THOROUGHFARES - PUBLIC FRONTAGES
  3.4 CIVIC ZONES
  3.5 SPECIAL DISTRICTS
 TABLE 3A VEHICULAR LANE DIMENSIONS
 TABLE 3B VEHICULAR LANE & PARKING ASSEMBLIES 
 TABLE 3C PUBLIC FRONTAGES - GENERAL
 TABLE 3D PUBLIC FRONTAGES - SPECIFIC
 TABLE 3E THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES
 TABLE 3F CIVIC SPACE
 TABLE 3G PUBLIC LIGHTING
 TABLE 3H PUBLIC PLANTING

CHAPTER 4 NEW COMMUNITIES
  4.1 INSTRUCTIONS
  4.2 SEQUENCE OF COMMUNITY DESIGN
  4.3 COMMUNITY UNITS
  4.4 PARTICIPATING PARCELS
  4.5 TRANSECT ZONES
  4.6 DENSITY CALCULATIONS
  4.7 SPECIAL DISTRICTS
  4.8 SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS

 CHAPTER 5 REDEVELOPMENT & INFILL
  5.1 INSTRUCTIONS
  5.2    COMMUNITY UNITS
  5.3 TRANSECT ZONES
  5.4 CIVIC ZONES
  5.5 SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS
  5.6 SPECIAL DISTRICTS

 CHAPTER 6 LOTS & BUILDINGS 
  6.1 INSTRUCTIONS
  6.2 PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS
  6.3 SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS 
  6.4 BUILDING PLACEMENT
  6.5 BUILDING FORM
  6.6 BUILDING FUNCTION
  6.7 PARKING LOCATION
  6.8 PARKING MAXIMUMS
  6.9 LANDSCAPE
  6.10 LIGHT LEVELS
  6.11 SOUND LEVELS
  6.12 SIGNAGE
  6.13 ARCHITECTURE
 TABLE 6A BUILDING PLACEMENT 
 TABLE 6B BUILDING FORM - HEIGHT
 TABLE 6C BUILDING FORM - FRONTAGES
 TABLE 6D SIGNAGE
 TABLE 6E BUILDING FUNCTION
 TABLE 6F SPECIFIC FUNCTION  & USE

 CHAPTER 7 SUMMARY TABLES
 TABLE 7A SMARTCODE SUMMARY
 TABLE 7B SUMMARY OF T3
 TABLE 7C SUMMARY OF T4
 TABLE 7D SUMMARY OF T5
 TABLE 7E SUMMARY OF T6
 TABLE 7F SPECIAL DISTRICTS
  
 CHAPTER 8 DEFINITIONS OF TERMS
  8.1 DEFINITIONS
 TABLE 8A DEFINITIONS ILLUSTRATED

TABLE OF CONTENTS



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC2

1.1  AUTHORITY
1.1.1 The action of Leander, Texas in the adoption of this Code is authorized under the 

City Charter of the City, Chp. 211 of the Local Government Code; Art. II, Sec. 5 of the 
Texas Constitution, and General Laws of the State of Texas.

1.1.2	 This	Unified	Development	Code	(“Code”),	as	land	development	regulation,	provid-
ing both zoning and subdivision standards, is adopted as one of the instruments 
of implementation of the public purposes and objectives of the Comprehensive 
Plan. This Code, the Sector Map, and the Old Town and Station Transect Map are 
declared to be in accord with the Comprehensive Plan and ordinances of the City.

1.1.3 This Code, the Sector Map, and the Old Town and Station Transect Map were 
adopted by vote of the Leander City Council.

1.2  APPLICABILITY
1.2.1 This Code is the mandatory regulation for the area marked on the Sector Map as 

S1, S2, or S3 , with the exception of the S3 Old Town Sector where the Composite 
Zoning Ordinance is an option. If the SmartCode is selected, it shall become the 
sole and mandatory regulation for the property. 

1.2.2	 Provisions	of	this	Code	are	activated	by	“shall”	when	required;	“should”	when	rec-
ommended;	and	“may”	when	optional.		When recommended, compliance shall be 
required,	unless	an	alternative	is	approved	by	the	Planning	Director.

1.2.3	 The	provisions	of	this	Code,	when	in	conflict,	shall	take	precedence	over	those	of	
other codes, ordinances, regulations and standards of the City of Leander. 

1.2.4 The codes and ordinances of the City continue to be applicable to issues not covered 
by this Code except where those would contradict the Intent Section 1.3, in which 
case	the	conflict	would	be	resolved	in	favor	of	this	Code.

1.2.5 Words and terms used in this Code shall have the meaning given in Chapter 8, and 
if	not	defined	in	Chapter	8,	shall	take	their	commonly	accepted	meanings	when	used	
in	urban	planning.	In	the	event	of	conflicts	between	these	definitions	and	those	of	
other codes and ordinances of the City, those of this Code shall take precedence.

1.2.6 The metrics of the text standards and tables are an integral part of this Code. 
However, the diagrams and illustrations that accompany them shall be considered 
guidelines.

1.2.7	 Where	in	conflict,	numerical	metrics	shall	take	precedence	over	graphic	metrics.

1.3  INTENT 
 	The	intent	of	this	Code	is	to	enable,	encourage	and	qualify	the	implementation	of	

the following policies:
1.3.1  the area

 a. That the area should retain its natural infrastructure and visual character
  derived from topography, woodlands, farmlands, and riparian corridors.
	 b.	That	growth	strategies	should	encourage	infill	and	redevelopment	in	parity	with	

new communities.
 c. That development should be structured in the neighborhood pattern and, if con-

tiguous to urban areas, be integrated with the existing urban pattern. 
 d. That the pattern of development should respect historical precedents.
 e. That transportation corridors should be planned and reserved in coordination 

with land use and as directed by the CIP Roads and Major Street Network in the 
Transect Map.  

CHAPTER 1.  GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC3

	 f.	 That	green	corridors	and	flood	plain	should	be	used	to	define	and	connect	the	
neighborhoods within the Transect Map and the surrounding urbanized areas.

 g. That the area should include a framework of transit, pedestrian, and bicycle 
systems that provide alternatives to the automobile.

1.3.2 the Community
 a. That neighborhoods, including downtowns, should be compact, pedestrian-

oriented and mixed use. 
 b. That mixed-use neighborhoods, including downtowns, should be the preferred 

pattern of development, and that districts specializing in a single use should be the 
exception.

 c. That ordinary activities of daily living should occur within walking distance of 
most dwellings, allowing independence to those who do not drive. 

 d. That interconnected networks of thoroughfares should be designed to disperse 
traffic	and	reduce	the	length	of	automobile	trips.

 e. That within each pedestrian shed, a range of housing types and price levels 
should be provided to accommodate diverse ages and incomes.

 f. That appropriate building densities and land uses should be provided within 
walking distance of transit stops.

 g. That civic, institutional, and commercial activity should be embedded in neighbor-
hoods, including downtowns, not isolated in remote single-use complexes. 

 h. That schools should be sized and located to enable children to walk or bicycle to them.
	 i.	 That	a	range	of	open	space	including	parks,	squares,	and	playgrounds	should	

be distributed within neighborhoods, including downtowns. 
1.3.3 the BLoCk and the BuiLding

	 a.	That	buildings	and	 landscaping	should	contribute	to	 the	physical	definition	of	
thoroughfares as civic places.

	 b.	That	development	should	adequately	accommodate	automobiles	while	respecting	
the pedestrian and the spatial form of public areas. 

 c. That the design of streets and buildings should reinforce safe environments and 
preserve accessibility.

 d. That landscape design should grow from local climate and topography, and that 
architecture should grow from local climate, topography, history, and building 
practice.

 e. That buildings should provide their inhabitants with a clear sense of geography 
and	climate	through	energy	efficient	methods.	

 f. That civic buildings and public gathering places should be provided as locations 
that reinforce community identity and support self-government.

 g. That civic buildings should be distinctive and appropriate to a role more important 
than the other buildings that constitute the fabric of the city.

 h. That the preservation and renewal of historic buildings should be facilitated, to 
affirm	the	continuity	and	evolution	of	society.

 i. That the harmonious and orderly evolution of urban areas should be secured by 
the use of this Code

 j. That an occupant should be entitled to all authorized functions delineated in this 
code for the applicable Transect Zone upon the approval of a PUD Plan and a 
Site Plan.

1.3.4 SeCtorS, Community unitS, and the tranSeCt
	 a.	That	Sector	designations	should	 reflect	 topographic	conditions,	existing	 thor-

CHAPTER 1.  GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC4

oughfares and transit, existing development, and proximity to the rail station.
 b. That Community Unit types should vary from each other in composition and urban 

intensity to provide choices in living environments.
 c. That within Community Units, Transect Zones should provide choices in living 

environments as manifested by distinct physical character.
 d. That the Sector, Community Unit, and Transect Zone descriptions on Table 1A, 

Table 1B, and Table 1C shall constitute the Intent of this Code with regard to 
the general character of each of these environments.

 e. That the Transect Zones are intended for mapping within Community Units, with 
the exception of T1 and T2, which may occur inside or outside Community Units. 

 f. That 20 years after the approval of each Transect Map or amendment to the 
Transect Map, the T3 Zone, T4 Zone, and T5 Zone shall be considered in a 
public process for succession to the next higher Transect Zone.

1.4  PROCESS 
1.4.1 generaL to aLL SeCtorS S1, S2, S3, Cd

 a.  A Sector Map and a Transect Map delineating the location of certain Sectors and 
Transect Zones respectively, and the standards for each Sector and Transect 
Zone, have been determined through a process of consultation with stakeholders, 
recommendations of the Planning Commission, and adoption by the Leander City 
Council.	Applications	within	the	Traditional	Sectors	of	the	Sector	Map	that	require	
no Warrants or Exceptions, or only Warrants, shall be processed administratively 
without further recourse to public consultation as is consistent with State law and 
the City Charter. 

 b. All development within the area covered by the Sector Map is zoned as a Planned 
Unit	Development	(“PUD”).	The	Sector	Map,	including	any	approved	Transect	
Zones, and this Code constitute the approved PUD plan.

 c. Amendments to the Sector Map or this Code shall follow the process for a zoning 
ordinance amendment as provided in the Composite Zoning Ordinance.

 d.  The Planning Department shall advise on the use of this Code and aid in the 
design of the communities and buildings based on this Code.  

 e. The Planning Director, or another staff member appointed by the City Manager, 
shall have jurisdiction over any administrative process authorized under this 
Code.

 f. An applicant may appeal a decision of the Planning Director to the City Council.  
The City Manager or his or her designee shall provide a written recommendation 
to the City Council as the appeal is processed.

 g. Should a violation of an approved plan occur during construction, the Planning 
Director	may	require	the	owner	or	developer	to	stop,	remove,	and/or	mitigate	
the	violation,	or	require	the	owner	or	developer	to	secure	an	Exception	to	cover	
the violation.

1.4.2 SpeCifiC to traditionaL deveLopment SeCtorS S1, S2, S3
 a. Owners of parcels regulated by a Traditional Development Sector on the Sec-

tor Map may submit Concept Plans for one or more Community Units, or for a 
Participating Parcel, as prescribed in Chapter 4.

 b. Owners of lots already regulated by a Transect Map may submit Site Plans as 
prescribed	in	Chapter	6	or,	for	larger	areas,	Infill	plans	as	prescribed	in	Chapter	
5.

CHAPTER 1.  GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC5

 c. An amendment to the Transect Map is the recorded result of an approved Com-
munity Plan.  Community Units are comprised of Transect Zones.  If a provision 
of	the	Sector	Map	or	Transect	Map	at	its	boundary	conflicts	with	plans	of	the	City	
applicable	to	an	abutting	area,	the	conflict	will	be	reconciled	by	the	City	Council	
with preference given to the Sector Map or Transect Map and this Code.

	 d.	Approval	of	a	Concept	Plan	for	one	or	more	Community	Units	that	require	Excep-
tions to this Code shall follow the process for a zoning ordinance amendment as 
prescribed in the Composite Zoning Ordinance.

1.4.2 SpeCifiC to the ConventionaL deveLopment SeCtor Cd
 a. Approval of a Concept Plan establishing the land uses and base zoning district(s) 

and development standards for all properties within the Conventional Develop-
ment	Sector	shall	follow	the	process	and	required	information	for	a	PUD	zoning	
ordinance	amendment	as	defined	in	the	Composite	Zoning	Ordinance.

 b. Upon approval of a Concept Plan within the Conventional Development Sector, 
subsequent	 development	 approvals	 shall	 follow	 the	 requirements	of	 the	CD	
Development Standards and the Composite Zoning Ordinance for Site Develop-
ment and the Subdivision Ordinance for Preliminary Plat, Public Improvement 
Construction Plans, and Final Plat.

1.5  VARIANCES 
1.5.1 There	 shall	 be	 two	 levels	 of	 Variance:	Warranted	Variances	 (“Warrants”)	 and	

Exceptional	Variances	(“Exceptions”).	Warrants may be granted administratively 
and Exceptions may be granted upon the approval of an Amended PUD Plan by the 
City Council, after it receives the recommendation of the Planning Commission, or 
by the Board of Adjustment following the procedure for a Variance in the Composite 
Zoning Ordinance. 

1.5.2 A Warrant is a ruling that would permit a practice that is not consistent with a spe-
cific	provision	of	this	Code,	but	is	justified	by	the	provisions	of	Section	1.3	Intent.	
Regulations available for Warrants are listed in this Code. In addition, any metric 
(measurable) regulation is available for a Warrant.

1.5.3 Exceptions permit a practice that is not consistent with a provision nor the Intent of 
this Code (Section 1.3).

1.5.4	 The	request	for	an	Exception	shall	not	subject	the	entire	application	to	public	hear-
ing, but only that portion necessary to rule on the issue under consideration.

1.5.5	 Warrants	and	Exceptions	shall	be	considered	unique	and	shall	not	set	precedent	
for others.

 
1.6   INCENTIVES
1.6.1  To encourage development within the Traditional Development Sectors, the City 

Council authorizes the following incentives for the use of this Code, to the extent 
authorized by City Charter and State law:

	 a.	Any	required	traffic	impact	analysis	shall	be	waived.
 b. Within Old Town, site development on four or fewer lots is exempt from roadway 

improvements	required	by	the	Roadway	Adequacy	ordinance,	but	shall	be	re-
quired	to	comply	with	the	right-of-way	dedication	requirements	of	that	ordinance.

 c. Within Old Town, site development on four or fewer lots adjacent to a public alley 
is	not	required	to	pave	the	alley.

 d. Within Old Town, parking lots for site development on four or fewer lots may use 

CHAPTER 1.  GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC6

crushed granite with a concrete curb in lieu of a paved surface.
 e. Within Old Town, on individual lots that do not have a principal building, temporary 

buildings	that	meet	the	building	material	requirements	of	Chapter	6	are	permitted	
for a period of up to two years.

1.7   ALTERNATIVE AND SAVINGS PROVISIONS  
1.7.1 Should any section or provision of this Code be declared by the Courts to be 

unconstitutional or invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the Code as 
a whole or any part thereof other than the part so declared to be unconstitutional 
or invalid.

CHAPTER 1.  GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC7

Traditional Sectors:

S1:		The	S1	General	Sector	has	relatively	flat	terrain	suitable	for	compact	villages	or	neighborhoods	
connected to each other and Leander Station and/or Old Town by thoroughfares, including paths 
and trails.

S2:		The	S2	Station	Sector	has	relatively	flat	terrain	close	to	the	Leander	Station,	suitable	for	transit-
oriented development.

S3:		The	S3	Old	Town	Sector	is	the	developed	original	center	of	Leander.		The	terrain	is	flat	and	the	
development pattern is a compact small town with a center consisting of numerous civic and com-
mercial buildings, surrounded by houses. The more exclusively residential portion of Old Town lies 
to	the	east	of	US	183	and	the	railway.		The	Old	Town	Sector	is	suitable	for	infill	development,	urban	
succession, urban expansion, and pedestrian and bicycle connections to Leander Station.

Other:
CD: The CD Conventional Development Sector is mostly separated from the transit station and 
Old Town by major thoroughfares. Though it accommodates conventional single-use development, 
compact walkable villages and neighborhoods are also appropriate. 

TABLE 1A.  INTENT - SECTORS

OS OPEN SPACE
 CD CONVENTIONAL

DEVELOPMENT
SECTOR

S1 S1 GENERAL 
SECTOR  S2 S2 TOD 

SECTOR S3 S3 OLD TOWN 
SECTOR

Table 1A:  Intent - Sectors.  This table provides descriptions of the general character of each Sector, as part of the Intent Section 1.3. The Community 
Units described on Table 1B are available for New Community planning within these Sectors, as prescribed in Chapter 2 and Chapter 4.



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC8

 TABLE 1B.  INTENT - COMMUNITY UNITS 

Community unitS Containing tranSeCt ZoneS  

TND: A Traditional Neighborhood Development is a complete village, 
small	town,	or	neighborhood	that	has	its	own	village	center,	town	square,	
central plaza, or Main Street within walking distance of most residences. 
It provides a variety of residential types including single-family houses, 
duplexes, small apartment buildings, and, in the center, mixed-use build-
ings such as live-work units and shops, and civic buildings. It has play-
grounds and other civic spaces scattered throughout the community.  It is 
usually 40 to 160 acres with most of the land developed.

RCD: A Regional Center Development is a very urban town or city center 
with several blocks of Main Street functions within walking distance of 
most residences. Most of the buildings in the center of an RCD are mixed 
use	with	commercial	on	the	ground	floor.	If	one-story	commercial	build-
ings are present, they are relatively high or have Western false fronts to 
help	hold	the	“outdoor	room”	of	the	street	space.	The	RCD	also	provides	
several of the more urban dwelling types, including some houses on 
small lots, duplexes, townhouses, apartment buildings, and, in the center, 
mixed-use buildings such as live-work units and apartments over com-
mercial. It has playgrounds and other civic spaces scattered throughout 
the community. It is oriented toward a train station or other transit, and is 
usually 60 to 640 acres with most of the land developed.

CLD:  A Clustered Land Development, also known as a cluster or conser-
vation	development,	is	a	compact	rural	settlement	with	significant	open	
land incorporated into its design. It is a small village or tiny town consist-
ing of houses and a small center that consists of a general store, meeting 
hall, church, and/or village green.  It is usually 20 to 60 acres with half or 
less of the land developed.

Table 1B:  Intent - Community Units - This table provides descriptions of the general character of each Community Unit, as part of the Intent Section 
1.3. 



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC9

TABLE 1C. INTENT - TRANSECT ZONES 

T1  T1 NATURAL ZONE
 T1 Natural Zone consists of lands 

approximating or reverting to a wilder-
ness condition, including lands unsuit-
able for settlement due to topography, 
hydrology or vegetation.

   General Character: natural landscape with some agricultural use
 Building Placement:  n/a 
 Frontage Types:  n/a 
 Typical Building Height:  n/a  
 Civic Space Types:  parks, greenways
       Thoroughfare Types:     rural roads, highways, parkways, bikeways

T2  T2 RURAL ZONE
 T2 Rural Zone consists of sparsely 

settled lands in open or cultivated states. 
These include woodland, agricultural 
land, grassland, and irrigable desert. 
Typical buildings are farmhouses, 
agricultural buildings, cabins, and villas.

 General Character: primarily agricultural with woodland & wetland and scattered buildings
 Building Placement:  variable setbacks    
 Frontage Types:  n/a 
 Typical Building Height:  1- to 2-story 
 Civic Space Types:  parks, greenways
      Thoroughfare Types:      roads, bikeways

T3  T3 SUB-URBAN ZONE
 T3 Sub-Urban Zone consists of low den-

sity residential areas, adjacent to higher 
zones that have some mixed use. It has 
home occupations and outbuildings. 
Planting is naturalistic and setbacks are 
relatively deep. Blocks tend to be large 
and the roads irregular to accommodate 
natural conditions.

 General Character: landscaped yards surrounding detached houses; pedestrians occa-
sionally; naturalistic tree planting  

 Building Placement:  deep and variable front and side yard setbacks
 Frontage Types:  porches, fences, dooryards  
 Typical Building Height:  1- to 2-story 
 Civic Space Types:  parks, greens, greenways, playgrounds
      Thoroughfare Types:       roads, streets, avenues, bikeways

T4  T4 GENERAL URBAN ZONE
 T4 General Urban Zone consists of a 

mixed use but primarily residential urban 
fabric. It includes a wide range of building 
types: detached, semi-detached, row-
houses, and small apartment buildings. 
Setbacks and landscaping are variable. 
Streets	with	curbs	and	sidewalks	define	
medium-sized blocks.

 General Character: mix of houses, townhouses & small apartment buildings, with scat-
tered commercial activity; balance between landscape and buildings; 
presence of pedestrians 

 Building Placement:  shallow to medium front and side yard setbacks    
 Frontage Types:  porches, fences, dooryards 
 Typical Building Height:  1- to 3-story with a few taller apartment buildings 
 Civic Space Types: 	 squares	and	greens,	pocket	parks,	playgrounds			
      Thoroughfare Types:      streets, avenues, boulevards, bikeways

T5  T5 URBAN CENTER ZONE
 T5 Urban Center Zone consists of 

higher density mixed use development 
that	accommodates	retail,	offices,	row-
houses, and apartments.  It has a tight 
network of streets, with wide sidewalks, 
steady street tree planting, and buildings 
set close to the sidewalks.

     General Character:	 Shops	with	apartments	and	office	above;		townhouses,	larger	apart-
ment houses, live-works, and civic buildings; predominantly attached 
buildings; trees within the public right-of-way; substantial pedestrian 
activity,	frequent	retail	frontages

 Building Placement:		 shallow	setbacks	or	none;	buildings	oriented	to	street	defining	a	street	
wall

 Frontage Types:  stoops, shopfronts, galleries 
 Typical Building Height:  2- to 4-story with some single story 
 Civic Space Types:		 plazas	and	squares,	pocket	parks,	playgrounds
      Thoroughfare Types:      streets, commercial streets, avenues, boulevards, bikeways

T6  T6 URBAN CORE ZONE
 T6 Urban Core Zone consists of the high-

est density and height, with the greatest 
variety of uses, and civic buildings of 
regional importance. It tends to have 
larger blocks; streets have steady street 
tree planting, and buildings are set close 
to wide sidewalks. Typically only large 
towns and cities have an Urban Core 
Zone.

 General Character: medium to high-density mixed use buildings, entertainment, civic and 
cultural uses. Attached buildings forming continuous street wall; trees 
within public right-of-way; highest pedestrian and transit activity

 Building Placement: 	 	shallow	setbacks	or	none;	buildings	oriented	 to	street,	defining	a	
street wall

 Frontage Types:   stoops, forecourts, shopfronts, galleries and arcades
 Typical Building Height:  4-8 story with a few shorter buildings
 Civic Space Types:	 plazas	and	squares,	pocket	parks,	playgrounds
      Thoroughfare Types:       streets, commercial streets, avenues, boulevards, bikeways

Table 1C: Intent - Transect Zones. This table provides descriptions of the general character of each Transect Zone, as part of Intent Section 1.3. Tran-
sect Zones are intended for mapping within Community Units, with the exception of T1 and T2, which may occur inside or outside Community Units.



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC10

2.1  INSTRUCTIONS
2.1.1 This Chapter governs the interpretation of the Sector map for all property in the S1, 

S2, S3, and CD Sectors. 
2.1.2 Sectors are comprised of open space and growth areas. Growth areas are intended 

for the development of Community Units, prescribed in Chapter 4, or Redevelopment 
and	Infill,	prescribed	in	Chapter	5,	which	in	turn	are	comprised	of	Transect	Zones,	
whose elements are prescribed in Chapter 6.

2.1.3 Upon approval of plans prepared according to Chapter 4 or Chapter 5, the Sector 
designation(s) for the plan area shall be replaced by the new Transect Zones. 

2.2  (S1) GENERAL SECTOR
2.2.1 The General Sector is assigned to the areas of Leander that can support mixed 

use because of their adjacency to the Transit Sector or proximity to the Old Town 
Sector, and their proximity to an existing or planned thoroughfare.

2.2.2 Within the General Sector, only communities in the pattern of Traditional Neighbor-
hood Development (TND) shall be permitted by right.

2.3  (S2) TRANSIT SECTOR
2.3.1 The Transit Sector is assigned to the	approximate	area	within	an	average	fifteen-minute	

walk of the Leander rail station.  This area can support substantial mixed use because 
of its proximity to existing regional thoroughfares and transit. 

2.3.2 Within the Transit Sector, only communities in the pattern of Regional Center 
Development (RCD) shall be permitted by right.  

2.4  (S3) OLD TOWN SECTOR
2.4.1 The Old Town Sector is mapped with Transect Zones for the existing urbanized 

center of Leander.  

2.5  (CD) CONVENTIONAL DEVELOPMENT SECTOR
2.5.1 Conventional Development designations are assigned to two types of areas:
 (a) locations adjacent to Highway 183A that are conducive to commercial and mixed 

use auto-oriented development patterns but not currently suitable for walkable pat-
terns.

 (b) edge locations that already have conventional auto-dependent residential devel-
opment	in	or	near	them,	or	have	been	identified	as	more	conducive	to	conventional	
development patterns.

2.5.2  The provisions of the CD Development Standards and the Composite Zoning 
Ordinance as amended shall apply to the CD Sector. 

2.5.3  As an option, developers may use this SmartCode to design communities in the 
pattern of Clustered Land Development (CLD) or Traditional Neighborhood Develop-
ment (TND) as provided in Article 4. If the SmartCode is elected, it shall be applied 
in its entirety for the CLD or TND, and not mixed with another code.

CHAPTER 2.  SECTOR STANDARDS



Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC11

TABLE 2A.  SECTOR, COMMUNITY UNIT & TRANSECT ZONE ALLOCATION

TABLE 2A: Sector, Community Unit & Transect Zone Allocation.		Table	2A	identifies	the	conditions,	including	both	natural	features	and	manmade	
infrastructure,	that	suggest	areas	suitable	for	preservation	and/or	development.		This	table	also	identifies	Community	Unit	types	of	various	intensities	
that	are	appropriate	in	specific	Sectors,	and	allocates	ranges	of	Transect	Zones	within	each	Community	Unit.

ALREADY DEVELOPED AREAS

PROXIMITY TO MAJOR THOROUGHFARES AND TRANSIT

PROXIMITY TO TRANSIT OR OLD TOWN
PROXIMITY TO THOROUGHFARES

PROXIMITY TO HWY 183A
EDGE LOCATIONS

FLOOD PLAIN
LEGACY WOODLAND
LEGACY FARMLAND
LEGACY VIEWSHEDS
CLD RESIDUAL OPEN SPACES
SURFACE WATERBODIES
PROTECTED WETLANDS
PROTECTED HABITAT
RIPARIAN CORRIDORS
PURCHASED OPEN SPACE
CONSERV. EASEMENTS
LAND TRUST
TRANSPORT. CORRIDORS
CLD OPEN SPACES

◄ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ►◄ -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ► ◄ -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ►
(OPEN SPACE) (NEW COMMUNITIES) (EXISTING

COMMUNITY)

SECTORS OS OPEN SPACE
 CD CONVENTIONAL DEVELOPMENT SECTOR S1 S1 GENERAL 

SECTOR  S2 S2 TRANSIT
SECTOR S3 S3 OLD TOWN 

SECTOR

COMMUNITY 
UNITS CLD   OPTION TND   OPTION TND RCD

TR
AN

SE
CT

 Z
ON

E 
AL

LO
CA

TI
ON

 W
IT

HI
N 

EA
CH

 C
OM

MU
NI

TY
 U

NI
T 

T1
50% MIN NO MIN NO MIN

T2
T3 10 - 30% 10 - 30% 10 - 30% VARIABLE

T4 20 - 40% 30 - 60% 30 - 60% 10 - 30% VARIABLE

T5 10 - 30% 10 - 30% 10 - 30% VARIABLE

T6 40 - 80%



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC12

3.1  INSTRUCTIONS
3.1.1 This Chapter applies to thoroughfares and Civic Zones. In both New Communities 

(Chapter	4)	and	Infill	(Chapter	5),	these	are	generally	mapped	after	determining	the	
locations of Transect Zones. 

3.1.2	 Thoroughfares	are	intended	for	use	by	vehicular,	bicycle,	and	pedestrian	traffic	and	
to provide access to lots and Civic Spaces. Thoroughfares shall generally consist 
of Vehicular Lanes and Public Frontages.

3.1.3 Civic Spaces are intended primarily for use by pedestrians and bicyclists. 
3.1.4 Thoroughfares and Civic Spaces shall be designed in context with the physical form 

of their Transect Zones. Thoroughfares shall be designed for the target speed of the 
Transect Zones through which they pass. The Public Frontages of thoroughfares 
that pass from one Transect Zone to another should be adjusted accordingly or, 
alternatively, the Transect Zone may follow the alignment of the thoroughfare to the 
depth of one lot, retaining a single Public Frontage throughout its trajectory. See 
Table 3C.

3.1.5 Within the more urban zones (T3, T4, T5, T6), pedestrian comfort shall be a primary 
consideration	of	the	thoroughfare.	Design	conflict	between	vehicular	and	pedestrian	
movement generally shall be decided in favor of the pedestrian. 

3.1.6 All new thoroughfares shall terminate at other thoroughfares, forming a network. 
Cul-de-sacs, dead-ends, and hammerheads shall be subject to approval by War-
rant	 to	accommodate	specific	site	conditions	only.	Such	conditions	are	 limited	to	
impassable or uncrossable waterways, hillsides, or existing infrastructure blocking 
connection to another vehicular thoroughfare. Vehicular thoroughfares that cannot 
connect by virtue of the aforementioned site conditions  shall be connected to another 
vehicular thoroughfare by a bikeway, path, or trail. Easements shall be provided for 
this purpose.

3.1.7 Each lot shall enfront a vehicular thoroughfare or Civic Space, except that 20% of 
the lots within each Transect Zone may enfront a pedestrian passage. Lots that 
enfront more than one vehicular thoroughfare, Civic Space, or pedestrian passage 
shall comply with the Private Frontage Standards of Table 6C on each frontage. 

3.1.8 On a Preliminary Plat, B-Streets may be designated that are exempted by Warrant 
from	one	or	more	of	the	specified	Public	Frontage	or	Private	Frontage	requirements.	
See	Chapter	4	Special	Requirements.

3.1.9 A bikeway network consisting of Bicycle Trails, Bicycle Routes and Bicycle Lanes 
should be provided throughout the community. The community bicycle network should 
be connected to existing or proposed regional networks wherever possible.

3.1.10 Standards for paths and bikeways shall be approved by Warrant.
3.1.11 Within Special Districts, the standards for thoroughfares and Civic Spaces shall be   

determined by Exception.
3.1.12	 Rear	Alleys	shall	be	required	in	New	Communities	in	T4,	T5,	and	T6.	
3.1.13 Rear Alleys shall be paved from building face to building face, with drainage by 

inverted crown at the center or with roll curbs at the edges.
3.1.14	 Stormwater	drainage	on	thoroughfares	shall	be	accomplished	with	pipes	or	infiltration,	

by retention or detention in vegetated swales or tree trenches in the public frontage 
or median, and/or by channeling with raised curbs, as appropriate to the thoroughfare 
type.

3.1.15 Stormwater management on thoroughfares and lots shall be primarily through under-
ground drainage channeled by raised curbs. There shall be no retention or detention 

CHAPTER 3.  THOROUGHFARES & CIVIC SPACES



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC13

required	on	the	individual	lots	unless	regional	options	are	unavailable.		If	regional	
options	are	unavailable,	temporary	detention	and	retention	may	be	required.	

3.2 THOROUGHFARES - VEHICULAR LANES
3.2.1 generaL to aLL ZoneS t1, t2, t3, t4, t5, t6

a. Thoroughfares may include vehicular lanes in a variety of widths for parked and 
for moving vehicles, including bicycles. The standards for vehicular lanes shall 
be as shown in Table 3A and Table 3B. 

b.	 Retrofit	 of	 existing	 lanes	may	be	 accomplished	 by	 restriping,	 changing	 one-
way thoroughfares to two-way, reducing turning radii, adding on-street parking, 
changing parallel parking to diagonal, and/or removing pavement width by adding 
bioretention areas. 

3.3  THOROUGHFARES - PUBLIC FRONTAGES
3.3.1 generaL to aLL ZoneS t1, t2, t3, t4, t5, t6

a. The Public Frontage contributes to the character of the Transect Zone, and 
includes the types of sidewalks, curbs, planters, bikeways, and street trees. 

b. Public Frontages should be designed as shown in Table 3C and Table 3D and 
allocated	within	Transect	Zones	as	specified	in	Summary	Table	7A.

c. Within the Public Frontages, the prescribed types of Public Planting and Public 
Lighting shall be as shown in Table 4C, Table 4D, Table 4G and Table 4H. The 
spacing	may	be	adjusted	by	Warrant	to	accommodate	specific	site	conditions.

d.		Retrofit	of	existing	thoroughfares	may	be	accomplished	in	the	Public	Frontage	by	
widening sidewalks, adding trees, and/or adding bioretention areas as medians 
or planting strips. See Table 4G Thoroughfare Assemblies.

3.3.2 SpeCifiC to ZoneS t1, t2, t3
a. The Public Frontage shall include trees of various species, naturalistically clus-

tered, as well as understory.  
b.	 The	 introduced	 landscape	 shall	 consist	 primarily	 of	 native	 species	 requiring	

minimal irrigation, fertilization and maintenance, and depressed planting areas 
that	can	provide	rainwater	infiltration	where	useful.

3.3.3 SpeCifiC to Zone t4
a. The Public Frontage shall include trees planted in a regularly-spaced allee pattern 

of single or alternated species with shade canopies of a height that, at maturity, 
clears at least one story.

b.	 Planting	strips	and	medians	should	be	depressed	to	facilitate	rainwater	infiltration.
3.3.4 SpeCifiC to ZoneS t4, t5, t6

a. The introduced landscape shall consist primarily of durable species tolerant of 
soil compaction.

3.3.5 SpeCifiC to ZoneS t5, t6
a. The Public Frontage shall include trees planted in a regularly-spaced allee pattern 

with shade canopies of a height that, at maturity, clears at least one story. At retail 
frontages, the spacing of the trees may be irregular, to avoid visually obscuring 
the shopfronts.

3.4  CIVIC ZONES   

3.4.1 generaL

CHAPTER 3.  THOROUGHFARES & CIVIC SPACES



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC14

a.	 Civic	Zones	dedicated	for	public	use	shall	be	required	for	each	Community	Unit	
and designated on the Transect Map as Civic Space (CS), Civic Building (CB), 
or more generally Civic Zone (CZ).

b. A Civic Zone may be permitted by Warrant if it does not occupy more than 20% 
of a Pedestrian Shed, otherwise it is subject to the creation of a Special District. 
See Section 3.5.

c.	 The	Civic	Space	requirements	of	this	Code	shall	satisfy	the	requirement	for	the	
dedication of parkland pursuant to the Parkland Dedication Ordinance, but park 
improvement	fees	as	required	in	the	Parkland	Dedication	Ordinance	shall	still	
apply.	Right-of-way	for	all	Primary	and	Secondary	Trails	identified		on	the	Trans-
portation	Plan	are	required	to	be	dedicated	as	Civic	Space.

d. Any single Civic Space large enough to fall under a Special District designation, 
and/or wholly or partially within an area already designated as parkland on the 
City Parks, Recreation & Open Space Master Plan, shall be considered in a public 
process per Section 61 of the Parkland Dedication Policy.

3.4.2 CiviC SpaCe (CS) generaL to ZoneS t3, t4, t5, t6 
a. Civic Spaces shall be assigned to at least 5% cumulatively of the area of each 

Community Unit.
b. Any new Civic Spaces shall be designed in context with Transect Zones as gener-

ally described in Table 3F and approved by the Planning Director. 
c. Each Pedestrian Shed shall contain at least one Main Civic Space. The Main 

Civic Space shall be within 800 feet of the geographic center of each Pedestrian 
Shed, unless topographic conditions, pre-existing thoroughfare alignments or 
other circumstances prevent such location. 

d.	 A	Civic	Space	designed	and	equipped	as	a	playground	shall	be	provided	within	
800 feet for at least 75% of the residential units within the Pedestrian Shed.

e. Each Civic Space shall have a minimum of 50% of its perimeter enfronting a 
thoroughfare, except for playgrounds and pocket parks.

f. Any new Civic Spaces smaller than one (1) acre shall not be proportioned nar-
rower than 1:4.

g. Civic Spaces may be permitted within Special Districts by Warrant.

3.5 CIVIC SPACE SPECIAL DISTRICTS (SD) 
3.5.1 Special District designations shall be assigned to Civic Spaces that, by their intrinsic 

size,	function,	or	form,	cannot	conform	to	the	requirements	of	their Transect Zone(s).

CHAPTER 3.  THOROUGHFARES & CIVIC SPACES



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC15

TARGET SPEED TRAVEL LANE WIDTH T1 T2 T3 T4 T5 T6 										▪ BY RIGHT

Below 20 mph 8 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫ 										▫	BY WARRANT
20-25 mph 9 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫ ▫
25-35 mph 10 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
25-35 mph 11 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Above 35 mph 12 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
TARGET SPEED PARKING LANE WIDTH 

20-25 mph (Angle ) 18 feet ▪ ▪
20-25 mph (Parallel) 7 feet ▪
25-35 mph (Parallel) 8 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Above 35 mph (Parallel) 9 feet ▪ ▪
TARGET SPEED EFFECTIVE TURNING RADIUS (SEE TABLE 8A)

Below 20 mph 5-10 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
20-25 mph 10-15 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
25-35 mph 15-20 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Above 35 mph 20-30 feet ▪ ▪ ▫ ▫

TABLE 3A. VEHICULAR LANE DIMENSIONS

Table 3A:  Vehicular Lane Dimensions.  This table assigns lane widths to Transect Zones.  Target speed should be the determinant 
for	pedestrian	and	multi-modal	safety.		The	most	typical	assemblies	are	shown	in	Table	3B.		Specific	requirements	for	truck	and	transit	
bus routes and truck loading shall be decided by Warrant. 



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC16

TABLE 3B. VEHICULAR LANE & PARKING ASSEMBLIES

ONE WAY MOVEMENT TWO WAY MOVEMENT
 a.                  NO

PARKING T1  T2  T3 T1  T2  T3 T1  T2  T3 T1  T2 T1  T2

Design ADT
Pedestrian Crossing

Target Speed

300 VPD
3 Seconds

20 - 30 MPH

600 VPD 
 5 Seconds 

Below 20 MPH

 2,500 VPD 
5 Seconds 
20-25 MPH

22,000 VPD 
9 Seconds 

35 MPH and above

36,000 VPD 
13 Seconds  

35 MPH and above
b.             

YIELD
PARKING

T3  T4 T3  T4

Design ADT
Pedestrian Crossing

Target Speed

 1,000 VPD 
 5 Seconds 

Below 20 MPH

1,000 VPD 
7 Seconds  

Below 20 MPH
c.       PARKING

ONE SIDE
PARALLEL

T3  T4  T3  T4  T5 T4  T5 T4  T5  T6 T5  T6

Design ADT
Pedestrian Crossing

Target Speed

 5,000 VPD 
 5 Seconds 
20-30 MPH

 18,000 VPD 
8 Seconds  
20-30 MPH

16,000 VPD 
8 Seconds  
25-30 MPH

15,000 VPD 
11 Seconds  
25-30 MPH

32,000 VPD 
13 Seconds  

d.       PARK-
ING 

BOTH SIDES
PARALLEL

T4 T4  T5  T6 T4  T5  T6 T5  T6 T5  T6

Design ADT
Pedestrian Crossing

Target Speed

8,000 VPD 
 7 Seconds 

Below 20 MPH

 20,000 VPD 
10 Seconds
25-30 MPH

15,000 VPD 
10 Seconds 
25-30 MPH

22,000 VPD
13 Seconds 
25-30 MPH

32,000 VPD 
15 Seconds  

35 MPH and above
e.       PARKING 

BOTH SIDES
DIAGONAL

T5  T6 T5  T6 T5  T6 T5  T6 T5  T6

Design ADT
Pedestrian Crossing

Target Speed

18,000 VPD 
 15 Seconds  

Below 20 MPH

 20,000 VPD 
17 Seconds  
20-25 MPH

15,000 VPD 
17 Seconds  
20-25 MPH

22,000 VPD 
20 Seconds  
25-30 MPH

31,000 VPD 
23 Seconds  
25-30 MPH

f.   DRIVEWAYS T3  T4  T5  T6  

Pedestrian Crossing
 

 
3 Seconds 

 
6 Seconds 

10’ 24’

Table 3B:  Vehicular Lane/Parking Assemblies.  Projected target speeds determine the dimensions of the vehicular lanes and turning 
radii assembled for thoroughfares.  



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC17

TABLE 3C. PUBLIC FRONTAGES - GENERAL

PLAN
LOT   

PRIVATE FRONTAGE 
►
►

◄
◄

R.O.W.
PUBLIC FRONTAGE

a. Highway (HW): This frontage has open swales drained by percolation, bicycle trails and no parking. The 
landscaping consists of the natural condition or multiple species arrayed in naturalistic clusters. Buildings 
are buffered by distance or berms. 

T1
T2
T3

b. Road (RD): This frontage has open swales drained by percolation and a walking path or bicycle trail along 
one or both sides and yield parking. The landscaping consists of multiple species arrayed in naturalistic 
clusters. 

T1
T2
T3

c. Street (ST): This frontage has raised curbs drained by inlets, and sidewalks separated from the vehicular 
lanes by individual or continuous planters, with parking on one or both sides. The landscaping consists of 
street trees of a single or alternating species aligned in a regularly spaced allee, with the exception that 
streets	with	a	right-of-way	(R.O.W.)	width	of		40	feet	or	less	are	exempt	from	tree	requirements.

T3
T4
T5

d. Drive (DR): This frontage has raised curbs drained by inlets and a wide sidewalk or paved path along one 
side, related to a greenway or waterfront.  It is separated from the vehicular lanes by individual or continuous 
planters.  The landscaping consists of street trees of a single or alternating species aligned in a regularly 
spaced allee.

T3
T4
T5
T6

e. Avenue (AV): This frontage has raised curbs drained by inlets, and wide sidewalks separated from the 
vehicular lanes by a narrow continuous planter with parking on both sides. The landscaping consists of a 
single tree species aligned in a regularly spaced allee. 

T3
T4
T5
T6

f. Commercial Street or Avenue (CS) (AV): This frontage has raised curbs drained by inlets, and very wide 
sidewalks along both sides separated from the vehicular lanes by separate tree wells with grates, and 
parking on both sides. The landscaping consists of a single tree species aligned with regular spacing where 
possible, but clears the shopfront entrances.

T5
T6

g. Boulevard (BV):  This frontage has side drives on both sides. It consists of raised curbs drained by inlets, 
and sidewalks along both sides, separated from the vehicular lanes by planters. The landscaping consists 
of double rows of a single tree species aligned in a regularly spaced allee.

T3
T4
T5
T6

Table 3C:  Public Frontages - General. The Public Frontage is the area between the private lot line and the edge of the vehicular 
lanes. Dimensions are given in Table 3E Thoroughfare Assemblies.



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC18

TRANSECT ZONE
Public Frontage Type

T1  T2  T3
HW & RD

T1  T2  T3
RD & ST

T3  T4
ST-DR-AV

T4  T5
ST-DR-AV-BV

T5  T6
CS-DR-AV-BV

T5  T6
CS-DR-AV-BV

a. Assembly: The principal 
variables are the type 
and dimension of curbs, 
walkways, planters and 
landscape.

Total Width 16-24 feet 12-24 feet 12-18 feet 12-18 feet 18-24 feet 18-30 feet

b. Curb: The detailing of 
the edge of the vehicular 
pavement, incorporating 
drainage.

 Type 
Pavement Radius

 Open Swale
10-30 feet

Open Swale 
10-30 feet

Raised Curb
5-20 feet

Raised Curb
5-20 feet

Raised Curb
5-20 feet

Raised Curb
5-20 feet

c. Walkway: The pavement 
dedicated exclusively to 
pedestrian activity.

 Type
Width

Path Optional 
n/a

Path 
4-8 feet

Sidewalk 
4-8 feet

Sidewalk 
4-8 feet

Sidewalk 
12-20 feet

Sidewalk 
12-30 feet

d. Planter: The layer that 
accommodates street 
trees and other land-
scape.

Arrangement
Species

Planter Type
Planter Width

 Clustered 
Multiple

Continuous Swale
8 feet-16 feet

 Clustered
Multiple

Continuous Swale
8 feet-16 feet

 Regular 
Alternating

Continuous Planter
8 feet-12 feet

 Regular 
Single

Continuous Planter
8 feet-12 feet

Regular 
Single

Continuous Planter
4 feet-6 feet

 Opportunistic
Single

Tree Well
4 feet-6 feet

e. Public Lighting: 
 

 See Table 3G See Table 3G See Table 3G

f. Public Planting:   
   

See Table 3H See Table 3H See Table 3H

TABLE 3D. PUBLIC FRONTAGES - SPECIFIC

Table 3D:  Public Frontages - Specific.  This table assembles prescriptions and dimensions for the Public Frontage elements - curbs, 
walkways	and	planters	–	relative	to	specific	thoroughfare	types	within	Transect	Zones.		Table	3D-a	and	Table	3E	assemble	all	of	the	
elements for the various types. See Table 3G for lighting types and Table 3H for planting types.



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC19

Table 3E:  Thoroughfare Assemblies.		The	first	two	letters	designate	the	thoroughfare	type.		The	second	two	designate	the	Right-Of-
Way	width.		The	final	two	numbers	designate	the	paving	width	from	curb	to	curb	(inside	face).	

KEY          ST-57-20-BL
Thoroughfare Type

Right of Way Width

Pavement Width

Transportation

THOROUGHFARE TYPES
Highway:   HW
Boulevard:  BV
Avenue:   AV
Commercial Street:  CS
Drive:   DR
Street:   ST
Road:   RD
Rear Alley:  RA
Rear Lane:  RL
Bicycle Trail:  BT
Bicycle Lane:  BL
Bicycle Route:  BR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS
Transit Route:  TR

RL-24-12 RA-24-24
Thoroughfare Type Rear Lane Rear Alley

Transect Zone Assignment T3 T4, T5, T6
Right-of-Way Width 24 feet 24 feet 

Pavement Width 12 feet 24 feet

Movement Yield Movement Slow Movement
Design Speed 10 MPH 10 MPH

Pedestrian Crossing Time 3.5 seconds 7 seconds

Traffic	Lanes n/a n/a
Parking Lanes None None

Pavement Radius Taper Taper

Walkway Type None None
Planter Type None None

 Curb Type Inverted Crown Inverted Crown
Landscape Type None None

Transportation Provision None None

TABLE 3E. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC20

KEY          ST-57-20-BL
Thoroughfare Type

Right of Way Width

Pavement Width

Transportation

THOROUGHFARE TYPES
Highway:   HW
Boulevard:  BV
Avenue:   AV
Commercial Street:  CS
Drive:   DR
Street:   ST
Road:   RD
Rear Alley:  RA
Rear Lane:  RL
Bicycle Trail:  BT
Bicycle Lane:  BL
Bicycle Route:  BR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS
Transit Route:  TR

RD-50-14 RD-50-18
Thoroughfare Type Road Road

Transect Zone Assignment T1, T2, T3 T1, T2, T3
Right-of-Way Width 50 feet 50 feet 

Pavement Width 14 feet 18 feet

Movement Yield Movement Slow Movement
Design Speed 15 MPH 15 MPH

Pedestrian Crossing Time 4 seconds 5.1 seconds

Traffic	Lanes 2 lanes 2 lanes
Parking Lanes None None

Pavement Radius 25 feet 25 feet

Walkway Type Path optional Path optional
Planter Type Continuous Swale Continuous Swale

 Curb Type Swale  Swale 
Landscape Type Trees clustered Trees clustered 

Transportation Provision None None

TABLE 3E. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC21

KEY          ST-57-20-BL
Thoroughfare Type

Right of Way Width

Pavement Width

Transportation

THOROUGHFARE TYPES
Highway:   HW
Boulevard:  BV
Avenue:   AV
Commercial Street:  CS
Drive:   DR
Street:   ST
Road:   RD
Rear Alley:  RA
Rear Lane:  RL
Bicycle Trail:  BT
Bicycle Lane:  BL
Bicycle Route:  BR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS
Transit Route:  TR

ST-40-19 ST-50-26
Thoroughfare Type  Street  Street

Transect Zone Assignment T5, T6 T4, T5, T6
Right-of-Way Width 40 feet 50 feet

Pavement Width 19 feet 26 feet

Movement Slow Movement Free Movement
Design Speed 20 MPH 20 MPH

Pedestrian Crossing Time 5.4 seconds  7.4 seconds

Traffic	Lanes 1 lane, one way 2 lanes
Parking Lanes One side @ 7 feet marked One side @ 8 feet marked

Pavement  Radius 15 feet 10 feet

Walkway Type 13/8 foot Sidewalk 5 foot Sidewalk
Planter Type 4x4’' tree well 7 foot continuous Planter

 Curb Type Curb Curb
Landscape Type Trees at 30' o.c. Avg. Trees at 30' o.c. Avg.

Transportation Provision None None

TABLE 3E. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC22

KEY          ST-57-20-BL
Thoroughfare Type

Right of Way Width

Pavement Width

Transportation

THOROUGHFARE TYPES
Highway:   HW
Boulevard:  BV
Avenue:   AV
Commercial Street:  CS
Drive:   DR
Street:   ST
Road:   RD
Rear Alley:  RA
Rear Lane:  RL
Bicycle Trail:  BT
Bicycle Lane:  BL
Bicycle Route:  BR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS
Transit Route:  TR

ST-50-28 ST-50-32
Thoroughfare Type  Street  Street

Transect Zone Assignment T4, T5, T6 T3, T4
Right-of-Way Width 50 feet 50 feet 

Pavement Width 28 feet 32 feet

Movement Yield Movement Slow Movement
Design Speed 20 MPH 20 MPH

Pedestrian Crossing Time  7.6 seconds 8.5 seconds

Traffic	Lanes 2 lane 2 lanes
Parking Lanes Both sides @ 8 feet unmarked Both sides @ 7 feet unmarked

Pavement  Radius 10 feet 10 feet

Walkway Type 5 foot Sidewalk  5 foot Sidewalk
Planter Type 6 foot continuous Planter 5 foot continuous Planter

 Curb Type Curb Curb
Landscape Type Trees at 30' o.c. Avg. Trees at 30' o.c. Avg.

Transportation Provision None None

28' 18'

TABLE 3E. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC23

KEY          ST-57-20-BL
Thoroughfare Type

Right of Way Width

Pavement Width

Transportation

THOROUGHFARE TYPES
Highway:   HW
Boulevard:  BV
Avenue:   AV
Commercial Street:  CS
Drive:   DR
Street:   ST
Road:   RD
Rear Alley:  RA
Rear Lane:  RL
Bicycle Trail:  BT
Bicycle Lane:  BL
Bicycle Route:  BR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS
Transit Route:  TR

ST-60-34 CS-50-22
Thoroughfare Type Street Commercial Street

Transect Zone Assignment T3, T4, T5 T5, T6
Right-of-Way Width 60 feet 50 feet

Pavement Width 34 feet 22 feet

Movement Slow Movement Slow Movement
Design Speed 20 MPH 20 MPH

Pedestrian Crossing Time 9.7 seconds 6.2 seconds

Traffic	Lanes 2 lanes 1 lane, one way
Parking Lanes  Both Sides @ 7 feet marked One side @ 8 feet marked

Pavement Radius 15 feet 15 feet

Walkway Type 6 foot Sidewalk 18/10 foot Sidewalk
Planter Type 7 foot continuous Planter 4x4’' tree well

 Curb Type Curb Curb
Landscape Type Trees at 30' o.c. Avg. Trees at 30' o.c. Avg.

Transportation Provision None None

TABLE 3E. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC24

KEY          ST-57-20-BL
Thoroughfare Type

Right of Way Width

Pavement Width

Transportation

THOROUGHFARE TYPES
Highway:   HW
Boulevard:  BV
Avenue:   AV
Commercial Street:  CS
Drive:   DR
Street:   ST
Road:   RD
Rear Alley:  RA
Rear Lane:  RL
Bicycle Trail:  BT
Bicycle Lane:  BL
Bicycle Route:  BR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS
Transit Route:  TR

CS-55-29 CS-60-34
Thoroughfare Type Commercial Street Commercial Street

Transect Zone Assignment T5, T6 T5, T6
Right-of-Way Width 55 feet 60 feet

Pavement Width 29 feet 34 feet

Movement Slow Movement Slow Movement
Design Speed 20 MPH 20 MPH

Pedestrian Crossing Time 8.2 seconds 9.7 seconds

Traffic	Lanes 1 lane, one way 2 lanes
Parking Lanes Both sides @ 7 feet marked Both sides @ 7 feet marked

Pavement  Radius 15 feet 10 feet

Walkway Type 13 foot Sidewalk 13 foot Sidewalk
Planter Type 4x4’' tree well 4x4’' tree well

 Curb Type Curb Curb
Landscape Type Trees at 30' o.c. Avg. Trees at 30' o.c. Avg.

Transportation Provision None None

TABLE 3E. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC25

KEY          ST-57-20-BL
Thoroughfare Type

Right of Way Width

Pavement Width

Transportation

THOROUGHFARE TYPES
Highway:   HW
Boulevard:  BV
Avenue:   AV
Commercial Street:  CS
Drive:   DR
Street:   ST
Road:   RD
Rear Alley:  RA
Rear Lane:  RL
Bicycle Trail:  BT
Bicycle Lane:  BL
Bicycle Route:  BR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS
Transit Route:  TR

CS-80-54 AV-75-40
Thoroughfare Type Commercial Street Avenue

Transect Zone Assignment T5, T6 T3, T4, T5
Right-of-Way Width 80 feet 75 feet 

Pavement Width 54 feet 40 feet total

Movement Slow Movement Slow Movement
Design Speed 25 MPH 25 MPH

Pedestrian Crossing Time 5.7 seconds at corners  5.7 seconds - 5.7 seconds

Traffic	Lanes 2 lanes 2 lanes
Parking Lanes Both sides angled @ 17 feet marked  Both sides @ 8 feet marked

Pavement  Radius 10 feet 10 feet

Walkway Type 13 foot Sidewalk 6 foot Sidewalk
Planter Type 4X4’ tree well 7 foot continuous Planter

 Curb Type Curb Curb or Swale 
Landscape Type Trees at 30' o.c. Avg. Trees at 30' o.c. Avg.

Transportation Provision None None

TABLE 3E. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC26

KEY          ST-57-20-BL
Thoroughfare Type

Right of Way Width

Pavement Width

Transportation

THOROUGHFARE TYPES
Highway:   HW
Boulevard:  BV
Avenue:   AV
Commercial Street:  CS
Drive:   DR
Street:   ST
Road:   RD
Rear Alley:  RA
Rear Lane:  RL
Bicycle Trail:  BT
Bicycle Lane:  BL
Bicycle Route:  BR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS
Transit Route:  TR

AV-90-56 BV-115-33
Thoroughfare Type Avenue Boulevard

Transect Zone Assignment T3, T4, T5 T5, T6
Right-of-Way Width 90 feet 115 feet

Pavement Width 56 feet total 20 feet - 33 feet - 20 feet

Movement Slow Movement Free Movement (inner lanes)
Design Speed 25 MPH 35 MPH

Pedestrian Crossing Time 5.7 seconds - 5.7 seconds at corners 5.7 seconds - 9.4 seconds - 5.7 seconds

Traffic	Lanes 4 lanes 3 lanes, one turning lane & two one-way slip roads
Parking Lanes  Both sides @ 8 feet marked 8 feet

Pavement  Radius 10 feet 10 feet

Walkway Type 6 foot Sidewalk 6 foot Sidewalk
Planter Type 7 foot continuous Planter 7 foot continuous Planter

 Curb Type Curb or Swale Curb
Landscape Type Trees at 30' o.c. Avg. Trees at 30' o.c. Avg.

Transportation Provision None None

TABLE 3E . THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC27

KEY          ST-57-20-BL
Thoroughfare Type

Right of Way Width

Pavement Width

Transportation

THOROUGHFARE TYPES
Highway:   HW
Boulevard:  BV
Avenue:   AV
Commercial Street:  CS
Drive:   DR
Street:   ST
Road:   RD
Rear Alley:  RA
Rear Lane:  RL
Bicycle Trail:  BT
Bicycle Lane:  BL
Bicycle Route:  BR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS
Transit Route:  TR

BV-125-43 BV-135-33
Thoroughfare Type Boulevard Boulevard

Transect Zone Assignment T5, T6 T5, T6
Right-of-Way Width 125 feet 135 feet

Pavement Width 20 feet - 43 feet - 20 feet 30 feet - 33 feet - 30 feet

Movement Free Movement (inner lanes) Free Movement
Design Speed 35 MPH 35 MPH

Pedestrian Crossing Time 5.7 seconds - 12.2  seconds - 5.7 seconds 8.5 seconds - 9.4 seconds - 8.5 seconds

Traffic	Lanes 4 lanes & two one-way slip roads 3 lanes, one turning lane & two one-way slip roads
Parking Lanes 8 feet 8 feet

Pavement  Radius 10 feet 10 feet

Walkway Type 6 foot Sidewalk 6 foot Sidewalk
Planter Type 7 foot continuous Planter 7 foot continuous Planter

 Curb Type Curb Curb
Landscape Type Trees at 30' o.c. Avg. Trees at 30' o.c. Avg.

Transportation Provision None None

TABLE 3E .THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC28
v

KEY          ST-57-20-BL
Thoroughfare Type

Right of Way Width

Pavement Width

Transportation

THOROUGHFARE TYPES
Highway:   HW
Road:   RD
Street:   ST
Drive:   DR
Avenue:   AV
Commercial Street:  CS
Boulevard:  BV
Rear Alley:  RA
Rear Lane:  RL
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS
BIKEWAY TYPES
Bicycle Trail (Shared Use): BT
Bicycle Path (Shared Use):  BP
Bicycle Lane:  BL
   Conventional                     BLC 
   Buffered  BLB
   Buffered - Two-Way BLB2
   Physically Separated BLP
   Shoulder  BLS
   With Bicycle Box BLX
Shared Vehicular Lane: SL
Bicycle Boulevard: BB
TRANSITWAY TYPES  See TOD Module

ASSEMBLY DESIGNATION AV-84-56-BLX CS-104-76-BLB
Thoroughfare Type Avenue with Bicycle Lane with Bicycle Box Commercial Street with Buffered Bicycle Lanes
Right-of-Way Width 84 feet 104 feet

Pavement Width 56 feet 76 feet
Transect Zone Assignment (retrofit)	T3,	T4,	T5 (retrofit)	T5,	T6

PUBLIC FRONTAGE

Drainage Type  4" raised Curb 4" raised Curb
Turning Radius 10 feet. 10 feet
Walkway Type 14 foot Sidewalk both sides 14 foot Sidewalk both sides

Planter Type 6 foot tree wells 6 foot tree wells
Landscape Type trees at 30' o.c. avg. tree wells 30' o.c. avg.

Median Width 10 feet. n/a

VEHICULAR LANES

Traffic	Lane	Width 10 feet, turn lane10 feet 10 feet
Parking Lane Width both sides @ 8 feet marked both sides @ 7 feet marked

Target Speed 35 mph above 35 mph
Pedestrian Crossing Time 16 seconds 24 seconds

BIKEWAY TYPE BLX - Bicycle Lane with Bicycle Box BLB - Buffered Bicycle Lane

 Riding Surface Width 5 feet with 14' deep box 5 feet with 4' striped buffer and 2' Shy Zone
Movement with	traffic with	traffic

Intersection Treatment signalized, Bicycle Box signalized, Peg-a-Track, colored, Bicycle Box, Bicycle Inductor Loops

Bicycle Parking rack, Bicycle Shelter, Bicycle Locker, Bicycle Station rack, Bicycle Shelter, Bicycle Locker, Bicycle Station

TRANSITWAY TYPE None None

TABLE 3E. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC29
© mi k e Ly d o n a n d ZaCh a ry ad eL So n 2010 

KEY          ST-57-20-BL
Thoroughfare Type

Right of Way Width

Pavement Width

Transportation

THOROUGHFARE TYPES
Highway:   HW
Road:   RD
Street:   ST
Drive:   DR
Avenue:   AV
Commercial Street:  CS
Boulevard:  BV
Rear Alley:  RA
Rear Lane:  RL
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS
BIKEWAY TYPES
Bicycle Trail (Shared Use): BT
Bicycle Path (Shared Use):  BP
Bicycle Lane:  BL
   Conventional                     BLC 
   Buffered  BLB
   Buffered - Two-Way BLB2
   Physically Separated BLP
   Shoulder  BLS
   With Bicycle Box BLX
Shared Vehicular Lane: SL
Bicycle Boulevard: BB
TRANSITWAY TYPES  See TOD Module

ASSEMBLY DESIGNATION CS-98-70-BLP DR-68-40-BLB2
Thoroughfare Type Commercial Street with Physically-Sep. Bicycle Lane Drive with 2-Way Buffered Bicycle Lane
Right-of-Way Width 98 feet 68 feet

Pavement Width 70 feet 40 feet
Transect Zone Assignment (retrofit)	T5,	T6 (retrofit)	T4,	T5,	T6

PUBLIC FRONTAGE

Drainage Type  4" raised Curb 4" raised Curb
Turning Radius 10 feet. 10 feet
Walkway Type 14 foot Sidewalk both sides 14 foot Sidewalk both sides

Planter Type 6 foot tree wells 6 foot tree wells
Landscape Type trees at 30' o.c. avg. tree wells 30' o.c. avg

Median Width n/a n/a

VEHICULAR LANES

Traffic	Lane	Width 10 feet 10 feet
Parking Lane Width both sides @ 7 feet marked one side @ 7 feet marked

Target Speed 35 mph 30 mph
Pedestrian Crossing Time 20 seconds 12 seconds

BIKEWAY TYPE BLP - Physically-Separated Bicycle Lane (Cycle Track) BLB2 - Two-Way Buffered Bicycle Lane

 Riding Surface Width 6 feet with 2 ft barrier 5 feet each way with 3 ft striped buffer
Movement with	traffic dual direction

Intersection Treatment signalized, Peg-a-Track, colored signalized, Peg-a-Track, colored,Bicycle Box, Bicycle Inductor Loops

Bicycle Parking rack, Bicycle Shelter, Bicycle Locker, Bicycle Station rack, Bicycle Shelter, Bicycle Locker, Bicycle Station

TRANSITWAY TYPE None None

TABLE 3E. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC30

a. Park:  A natural preserve available for unstructured recreation. A park may 
be independent of surrounding building frontages. Its landscape shall consist 
of paths and trails, meadows, waterbodies, woodland and open shelters, 
all naturalistically disposed. Parks may be lineal greenways, following the 
trajectories of natural corridors. The minimum size shall be 8 acres. Larger 
parks may be considered as Special Districts by Warrant in all zones.

b. Green:  An open space available for unstructured recreation. A green may be 
spatially	defined	by	landscaping	rather	than	building	frontages.	Its	landscape	
shall consist of lawn and trees, naturalistically disposed. The minimum size 
shall be 1/2 acre and the maximum shall be 8 acres. 

c. Square:  An open space available for unstructured recreation and civic 
purposes.	A	square	is	spatially	defined	by	building	frontages.	Its	landscape	
shall	consist	of	paths,	lawns	and	trees,	formally	disposed.	Squares	should	
be located at the intersection of important thoroughfares. The minimum size 
shall be 1/2 acre and the maximum shall be 5 acres. 

d. Plaza:  An open space available for civic purposes and commercial activities. 
A	plaza	shall	be	spatially	defined	by	building	frontages.	Its	landscape	shall	
consist primarily of pavement. Trees are optional. Plazas should be located 
at the intersection of important streets. The minimum size shall be 1/2 acre 
and the maximum shall be 2 acres. 

e. Playground: 	An	open	space	designed	and	equipped	for	the	recreation	of	children.		A	
playground should be fenced and may include an open shelter. Playgrounds shall be 
interspersed within residential areas and may be placed within a block. Playgrounds 
may be included within parks and greens. There shall be no minimum or maximum size.

f. Pocket Park: A small open space suitable for socializing, eating and resting. Pocket 
parks	shall	be	equipped	with	benches	and	plantings,	with	tables	and	public	art	optional.	
They may be placed alongside thoroughfares or as intimate spaces within blocks, but 
should be visible from a thoroughfare. The maximum size shall be one half (1/2) acre.

T1
T2
T3

T3
T4
T5

T5
T6

T4
T5
T6

T1
T2
T3
T4
T5
T6

TABLE 3F. CIVIC SPACE 

Table 3F:  Civic Space.  This table indicates the general character of public open space appropriate for each Transect Zone and pro-
vides some basic standards. 



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC31

T1 T2 T3 T4 T5 T6 SD Specifications

Cobra Head

▪ ▪

Pipe

▪ ▪ ▪

Post

▪ ▪ ▪

Column

▪ ▪ ▪

Double Column

▪ ▪

Table 3G: Public Lighting. 	Lighting	varies	in	brightness	and	also	in	the	character	of	the	fixture	according	to	the	Transect.	The	table	
shows	five	common	types.	A	set	of	streetlights	corresponding	to	these	types	is	listed	on	this	page.		All	street	and	parking	lot	lighting	
shall	be	incandescent,	fluorescent,	halogen,	natural	gas	elements,	metal	halide,	or	LED.		Fixtures	shall	be	cut-off	fixtures,	directing	light	
downwards.  High-pressure sodium is permitted only in temporary parking lots. 

TABLE 3G. PUBLIC LIGHTING



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC32

T1  T2  T3 T3  T4  T5  T6 T5  T6 Common Name/ Botanical Name

Thoroughfare
Type HW-RD ST-DR-AV-BV ST-DR-AV-BV CS

Columnar

▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Oval

▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Rounded

▪ ▪ ▪

Conical

▪ ▪

Spreading

▪ ▪

Vase

▪ ▪

Table 3H: Public Planting. This table provides tree shapes appropriate to thoroughfare types and Transect Zones. Specific	trees	and	
shrubs appropriate for the bioregion should be selected from the City of Austin Native and Adapted Landscape Plants handbook. 

TABLE 3H. PUBLIC PLANTING



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC33



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC34

4.1  INSTRUCTIONS
4.1.1 Chapter 4 is available by right for New Communities in the S1 General Sector, S2 

Transit Sector, and S3 Old Town Sector as listed in Chapter 2. It shall be used in 
conjunction with Chapter 3 Thoroughfares and Civic Spaces.

4.1.2 New Community applications submitted in accordance with the provisions of this 
Code,	for	the	appropriate	Sector	and	requiring	no	Exceptions,	shall	be	processed	
administratively. 

4.1.3 Concept Plans shall include graphic representations of the following elements:
 a. boundaries of the Community Unit(s) and the Pedestrian Shed(s) 
 b. the location and type of existing and proposed major thoroughfares
 c. the general location of the Transect Zones (and subzones if any), 
 d. the acreage of each Transect Zone and the percent of each Transect Zone rela-

tive to the total 
	 e.	the	Civic	Space	requirements	of	Section	3.4.

4.1.4 Concept Plans may overlap Sectors, but such plans shall follow the Community 
Unit standards of the Sector containing the greater land area.

4.1.5 Preliminary Plats may be prepared after approval of a Concept Plan and shall include 
one or more maps showing the following for each Community Unit in the plan area, 
in compliance with the Thoroughfare and Civic Space standards of Chapter 3 and 
the New Community standards of Chapter 4:

	 a.	Specific	boundaries	of	Transect	Zones	(and	subzones,	if	any)
 b. Civic Zones including Parks and Open Spaces
 c. Thoroughfare network with block lengths and Thoroughfare Assemblies assigned
 d. Waste, Wastewater, and Drainage utilities
 e. Lot lines
 f. Special Districts, if any
	 g.	Special	Requirements,	if	any,	and
 h. Warrants or Exceptions, if any.

4.2  SEQUENCE OF COMMUNITY DESIGN 
4.2.1 The site shall be structured using one or several Pedestrian Sheds, which should 

be	located	according	to	existing	conditions,	such	as	traffic	intersections,	adjacent	
developments, and natural features. The site or any Community Unit within it may be 
smaller or larger than its Pedestrian Shed, except for CLD, which shall be smaller. 

4.2.2 Pedestrian Shed boundaries are not included on an adopted Transect Map and are 
not themselves regulatory.

4.2.3 The Community Unit boundaries may be adjusted to include land falling between or 
outside the Pedestrian Sheds, but the extent of each shall not exceed the acreage 
limit	specified	in	Section	4.3	for	the	applicable	Community	Unit	type.	

4.2.4 Areas of Transect Zones shall be allocated within the boundaries of each Community 
Unit according to the percentage ranges for each type provided on Table 2A and 
Summary Table 7A. Previously approved Participating Parcels shall be included, 
as provided in Section 4.4. 

4.2.5 Civic Zones shall be assigned according to Section 3.4.
4.2.6 Special Districts, if any, shall be assigned according to Section 4.7.
4.2.7 The Thoroughfare network shall be laid out according to Section 3.2 and Section 

3.3.
4.2.8 Density shall be calculated according to Section 4.6.

CHAPTER 4.  NEW COMMUNITIES



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC35

4.2.9 Remnants of the site outside the Community Units shall be assigned to Transect 
Zones or Civic Space by Warrant, or considered for Special District by Exception.

4.2.10	 		 Detail	the	plan	using	the	Special	Requirements	described	in	Section	4.8,	if	applicable.	
4.2.11   Incorporate the incentives available according to Section 1.6, if applicable.
 
4.3  COMMUNITY UNITS  
4.3.1   CLuStered Land deveLopment (CLd)

 a. A CLD shall be permitted within the CD Sector as an option.
 b. A CLD shall fall within a Standard Pedestrian Shed and shall consist of no fewer 

than 20 acres and no more than 60 acres.
 c. A CLD shall include Transect Zones as allocated on Table 2A and Summary Table 

7A. A minimum of 30% of the Community Unit shall be permanently allocated to 
the T1 Natural Zone and/or the T2 Rural Zone.

 d. Larger sites shall be designed and developed as multiple Community Units, each 
subject	to	the	individual	Transect	Zone	requirements	for	its	type	as	allocated	on	
Table 2A and Summary Table 7A. The simultaneous planning of adjacent parcels 
is encouraged.

4.3.2 traditionaL neighBorhood deveLopment (tnd) 
 a. A TND shall be the only form of development permitted within the S1 General 

Sector, and shall be permitted within the CD Sector as an option.
 b. A TND shall be structured by one Standard Pedestrian Shed or one Linear 

Pedestrian Shed and shall consist of no fewer than 40 acres and no more than 
160 acres. 

 c.  A TND shall include Transect Zones as allocated on Table 2A and Summary 
Table 7A.

 d. Larger sites shall be designed and developed as multiple Community Units, each 
subject	to	the	individual	Transect	Zone	requirements	for	its	type	as	allocated	on	
Table 2A and Summary Table 7A. The simultaneous planning of adjacent parcels 
is encouraged.

4.3.3 regionaL Center deveLopment (rCd) 
 a.  An RCD shall be the only form of development permitted within the S2 Transit 

Sector.
 b.  An RCD shall be structured by one Standard Pedestrian Shed, one Linear Pe-

destrian Shed, or one Long Pedestrian Shed and shall consist of no fewer than 
60 acres and no more than 640 acres. 

 c. An RCD shall include Transect Zones as allocated on Table 2A and Summary 
Table 7A.

 d. For larger sites that cross into the S1 General Sector, an RCD may be adjoined 
without buffer by one or more TNDs, each subject to the individual Transect 
Zone	requirements	for	TND	as	allocated	on	Table	2A	and	Summary	Table	7A.	
The simultaneous planning of adjacent parcels is encouraged.

  
4.4   PARTICIPATING PARCELS  
4.4.1	 The	owner	of	a	parcel	smaller	than	the	minimum	acreage	required	for	a	Community	

Unit within the S1 Sector or S2 Sector may submit a Concept Plan for a Community 
Unit	for	the	Pedestrian	Shed	containing	the	parcel,	and	may	request	the	allocation	
of one or more Transect Zones for the Participating Parcel based on (1) the loca-
tion	of	the	parcel	and	(2)	the	permitted	allocation	percentages	within	the	requested	

CHAPTER 4.  NEW COMMUNITIES



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC36

Community Unit.
4.4.2 If a landowner owns multiple parcels within a Community Unit, all of the parcels 

shall be included in the Concept Plan.
4.4.3 Participating Parcel Concept Plans shall follow the process for a zoning ordinance 

amendment	as	defined	in	the	Composite	Zoning	Ordinance.	
4.4.4  Upon approval by the City Council, the assigned Transect Zone(s) for the Partici-

pating Parcel (only) shall be recorded on the Transect Map, replacing the Sector 
designation for that parcel. For future Participating Parcel or New Community 
applications	within	the	Concept	Plan	area,	at	the	discretion	of	the	Planning	Office,	
the boundaries may be adjusted up to 20% by land area relative to the original size, 
and/or, after boundary adjustment, the location of the center of the full Community 
Unit may be moved up to 20% relative to the new boundaries, provided that the 
Community Unit is still compliant with Section 4.2.

4.4.5 Within the established Pedestrian Shed of a previously approved Participating 
Parcel, further Participating Parcel applications shall complement, in their allocation 
calculations, the Transect Zones of the other Participating Parcels, i.e., the portions 
of the Transect Map that already occupy their plan area.

  
4.5  TRANSECT ZONES
4.5.1 Transect Zones shall be composed of the urban design elements generally described 

in Table 1C, prescribed throughout this Code, and summarized on Summary Table 
7A.

4.5.2 Lot and Building standards for the individual Transect Zones T3, T4, T5, and T6 are 
summarized on Table 7B, Table 7C, Table 7D, and Table 7E respectively.

4.5.3 Subzones of Transect Zones (e.g., T3.1, T3.2) shall be permitted for creating 
distinctions within Transect Zones, as long as their minimum and maximum metric 
standards and permitted types do not exceed the standards of the main Transect 
Zone. Subzones are counted along with the main Transect Zone for allocation 
percentages. Subzones shall support the Intent of this Code.

4.5.4 An assignment of a Transect Zone to allow a different Function level (e.g., from 
Restricted to Limited) than that provided on Table 6E shall be subject to review by 
Exception. 

  
4.6   DENSITY CALCULATIONS 
4.6.1 The permitted Residential Density of each Transect Zone shall be calculated in 

terms	of	housing	units	(not	 including	accessory	units)	as	specified	by	Summary	
Table 7A. For purposes of density calculation, the Transect Zone areas include the 
private lots and thoroughfares but not land assigned to Civic Zones. 

4.7   SPECIAL DISTRICTS
4.7.1 Special District designations shall be assigned to areas that, by their intrinsic size, 

function,	or	form,	cannot	conform	to	the	requirements	of	any Transect Zone or com-
bination of zones. Development standards for Special Districts shall be prepared in 
compliance	with	the	requirements	of	the	Composite	Zoning	Ordinance	for	a	PUD	
and shall follow the process for approval of a PUD zoning ordinance amendment.

 
4.8  SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS  
4.8.1	 A	Transect	Map	may	designate	any	of	the	following	Special	Requirements:	 

CHAPTER 4.  NEW COMMUNITIES



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC37

 a.  A differentiation of the thoroughfares as A-Streets or B-Streets. Lots along an 
A-Street shall be held to the highest standard of this Code in support of pedes-
trian activity. Lots along a B-Street may be considered for the following Warrants 
allowing automobile-oriented standards: driveways, drive-thru services, and/or 
one double-loaded row of head-in parking in the Private Frontage (80 ft.maximum 
setback).The frontages assigned to B-Streets shall not exceed 30% of the total 
length of frontages within a Pedestrian Shed. 

	 b.	Retail	Frontage,	requiring	that	a	building	provide	a	Shopfront	at	sidewalk	level	
along the entire length of its Private Frontage. The Shopfront shall be no less 
than 50% clear glass between 2 and 12 feet above the sidewalk, and may be 
shaded by an awning overlapping the sidewalk as generally illustrated in Table 
6C	and	specified	in	Chapter	6.	

	 c.	Gallery	Frontage,	requiring	that	a	building	provide	a	permanent	cover	over	the	
sidewalk, either cantilevered or supported by columns. The Gallery Frontage 
designation may be combined with a Retail Frontage designation.

	 d.	Arcade	Frontage,	requiring	that	a	building	overlap	the	sidewalk	such	that	the	first	
floor	facade	is	an	arcade	or	colonnade.	The	Arcade	Frontage	designation	may	
be combined with a Retail Frontage designation.     

	 e.	Coordinated	Frontage,	requiring	that	the	Public	Frontage	(Table	3C)	and	Private	
Frontage (Table 6C) be coordinated as a single, coherent landscape and paving 
design. 

	 f.	 Terminated	Vista	location,	requiring	that	the	building	be	provided	with	architectural	
articulation of a type and character that responds visually to its axial location, as 
approved by the Planning Director. 

	 g.	View	Corridor,	requiring	that	an	existing	view	be	maintained	from	the	point(s)	
marked on the map, as approved by the Planning Director.

	 h.	Cross	Block	Passage,	requiring	that	a	minimum	8-foot-wide	pedestrian	access	
be reserved between buildings.

 

CHAPTER 4.  NEW COMMUNITIES



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC38

5. 1  INSTRUCTIONS
5.1.1 This chapter guides the planning of parcels larger than 10 acres that are suitable 

for	redevelopment	and	infill	in	areas	already	regulated	by	a	Transect	Map	within	
the Traditional Sectors S1, S2, or S3.  

5.1.2	 The	Planning	Office	 shall	 determine	 a	Community	Unit	 type	 based	on	existing	
conditions and intended evolution in the plan area. Community Units in already 
urbanized areas are not subject to the Transect Zone allocation percentage ranges 
of New Communities.

5.1.3	 Concept	Plans	and	Preliminary	Plats	 for	 Infill	&	Redevelopment	shall	 follow	 the	
application procedures for New Communities as set forth in Section 4.1, with the 
added	 requirement	 that	 all	 the	existing	Transect	Zones	be	 shown	on	 the	map,	
whether inside or outside the applicant parcel.

5.1.4	 Infill	 &	Redevelopment	 applications	 shall	 follow	 the	 process	 for	 a	PUD	zoning	
ordinance	amendment	as	defined	in	the	Composite	Zoning	Ordinance.

5.1.5	 Within	Old	Town,	for	any	area	subject	to	an	approved	Infill	&	Redevelopment	Plan,	
this Code becomes the exclusive and mandatory regulation and the Composite 
Zoning Ordinance is no longer available.

5.2    COMMUNITY UNITS
5.2.1	 Infill	&	Redevelopment	plans	shall	encompass	or	complete	one	or	more	of	the	fol-

lowing Community Unit types. The edges of the Community Unit should blend into 
adjacent neighborhoods without buffers, and new Transect Zones should complement  
and support existing Transect Zones in the same Pedestrian Shed.

5.2.2 An area smaller than the applicable Pedestrian Shed for the Community Unit may 
be regulated under this Code.  

5.2.3 No Pedestrian Shed shall assign more than 50% of its area to the T3 zone.
5.2.4 infiLL CLd (CLuStered Land deveLopment)
	 a.	An	Infill	CLD	consists	of	the	T3	zone	and	the	T4	zone,	or	the	T4	zone	alone.	Infill	

CLDs	are	predominantly	residential	with	small	mixed-use	centers.		An	Infill	CLD	shall	
be planned as part of a Standard Pedestrian Shed that includes one or more higher 
Transect Zones. The T1 zone and T2 zone are optional. 

5.2.5 infiLL tnd (traditionaL neighBorhood deveLopment)
 a.	An	Infill	TND	consists	of	the	T3	zone,	T4	zone,	and	T5	zone	or	just	the	T4	zone	

and	T5	zone.	Infill	TND	should	be	assigned	to	neighborhoods	that	are	predominantly	
residential	with	one	or	more	mixed	use	corridors	or	centers.		An	Infill	TND	shall	be	
planned as all or part of a Standard or Linear Pedestrian Shed oriented around one 
or more important mixed use corridors or centers. The T1 zone and T2 zone are 
optional. 

5.2.6 infiLL rCd (regionaL Center deveLopment)
	 a.	An	Infill	RCD	consists	of	the	T4	zone,	T5	zone,	and	T6	zone	or	just	the	T5	zone	

and	T6	zone.	Infill	RCD	should	be	assigned	to	downtown	neighborhoods	that	include	
significant	office	and	retail	uses	as	well	as	government	and	other	civic	institutions	
of	regional	importance.	An	Infill	RCD	shall	be	planned	as	all	or	part	of	a	Long	or	
Linear Pedestrian Shed oriented around one or more important mixed use corridors 
or centers.

CHAPTER 5.  INFILL & REDEVELOPMENT 



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC39

5.3 TRANSECT ZONES
5.3.1	 Transect	Zone	standards	for	Infill	&	Redevelopment	are	the	same	as	those	for	New	

Communities under this Code.  See Section 4.5. 
 
5.4 CIVIC ZONES  
5.4.1  generaL

 a.  An	Infill	&	Redevelopment	plan	shall designate Civic Zones as either Civic Space 
(CS), Civic Buildings (CB), or both (CZ).

 b. Civic Zones may be considered by Warrant so long as they do not occupy more 
than	a	total	of	20%	of	the	area	of	each	Pedestrian	Shed.	A	Civic	Zone	requir-
ing more than 20% of the Pedestrian Shed shall be subject to the creation of a 
Special District with its own standards, to be recorded on Table 7F.

 c. Parking maximums and locations for Civic Zones shall be determined by Warrant.
5.4.2 CiviC SpaCe (CS) 

 a. Civic Spaces shall be generally designed as described in Table 3F.
5.4.3 CiviC BuiLdingS (CB)

	 a.	Civic	Buildings	shall	not	be	subject	to	the	requirements	of	Chapter	6.	The	par-
ticulars of their placement and form shall be determined by Exception.

 b. Existing Civic Buildings in the plan area shall be inventoried and mapped as part 
of the Preliminary Plat. If there is no meeting hall in proximity to the Main Civic 
Space of each Pedestrian Shed, a Civic Zone for it should be reserved. 

 c. Civic Building sites should not occupy more than 20% of the area of each Pe-
destrian Shed.

 d. Civic Building sites should be located within or adjacent to a Civic Space, or at 
the	axial	termination	of	a	significant	Thoroughfare.

5.5  SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS  
5.5.1	 An	Infill	&	Redevelopment	plan	may	designate	any	of	the	Special	Requirements	

listed in Section 4.8. 

5.6     SPECIAL DISTRICTS
5.6.1 Special District designations shall be assigned to areas that, by their intrinsic size, 

function,	or	form,	cannot	conform	to	the	requirements	of	any Transect Zone or com-
bination of zones. Development standards for Special Districts shall be prepared in 
compliance	with	the	requirements	of	the	Composite	Zoning	Ordinance	for	a	PUD	
and shall follow the process for approval of a PUD zoning ordinance amendment.

CHAPTER 5. INFILL



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC40

6.1  INSTRUCTIONS
6.1.1 Lots and buildings located within a Transect Map governed by this Code and previ-

ously	approved	by	the	City	shall	be	subject	to	the	requirements	of	this	Chapter,	with	
the exception of the S3 Old Town Sector, where this Code and the Conventional 
Zoning Ordinance are both available for selection. Their standards shall not be 
mixed on the same lot except by Warrant. If this Code is selected, it becomes the 
sole and mandatory code for the lot. 

6.1.2	 Civic	Buildings	shall	not	be	subject	to	the	requirements	of	Chapter	6.	The	particulars	
of their placement and design shall be determined in a public process. The Plan-
ning	Office	shall	determine	what	constitutes	a	Civic	Building,	as	a	civic	use	may	
also occur in a building that is typical of its Transect Zone, and shall thereby be 
regulated by this Chapter.  

6.1.3 Temporary buildings and temporary lot improvements of up to 180 days in duration 
shall be subject to review by the Planning Director, providing they do not violate 
the standards or Intent of this Code.

6.1.4 The applicant, a landowner, or a developer may have Site Development plans 
prepared on his or her behalf.

6.1.5 Site Development plans shall be required	before	the	issuance	of	a	Building	Permit.	
Site Development plans shall be reviewed by the Planning Director and other review-
ing departments as determined by the City Manager. The building codes adopted 
by	the	City	e.g.,	plumbing,	electrical,	housing,	fire,	etc.,	governing	construction	of	
buildings shall remain in effect within the areas included in the Transect Map. 

6.1.6	 The	requirements	described	in	this	Chapter	shall	control	the	placement,	form,	and	
function of buildings, as well as their architectural, landscape, parking, signage, 
sound,	and	noise	standards,	and	any	Special	Requirements	on	the	Final	Plat.

6.1.7 Site Development plan submittals shall show the following, in compliance with the 
standards described in Chapter 6:

 • Building Placement
• Building Form
• Building Function
• Parking Location
• Parking Maximums
• Landscape
• Light Levels
• Sound Levels
• Signage
• Architecture
• CD Sector Standards, if applicable

	 The	Planning	Office	may	require	additional	information	consistent	with	this	Code	
as part of the application for Site Development plans.

6.2  PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS
6.2.1 Existing buildings and appurtenances that do not conform to the provisions of this 

Code	may	continue	in	use	as	they	are	until	a	Substantial	Modification	is	requested,	
at which time the Planning Director shall determine the provisions of this section 
that shall apply.

6.2.2 Existing buildings that when renovated less than 50% have at any time received a 

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC41

certificate	of	occupancy	shall	not	require	upgrade	to	the	current	Building	Code	and	
may meet the standards of the code under which they were originally permitted. 

6.2.3	 The	modification	of	existing	buildings	is	permitted	by	right	if	such	changes	result	in	
greater	conformance	with	the	specifications	of	this	Chapter.	

6.2.4 Where buildings exist on adjacent lots, the Planning	Office	may	require	that	a	pro-
posed building match one or the other of the adjacent setbacks and heights rather 
than the provisions of this Chapter.

6.2.5	 Addition	or	modification	of	a	building	of	actual	or	potential	historic	value	shall	be	
approved by Exception. The architectural harmony (similar materials, window 
proportions, color range, mass/void ratio, roof type and pitch) of the addition or 
modification	to	the	original	structure	shall	be	a	condition	of	approval.

6.2.6	 The	restoration	or	rehabilitation	of	an	existing	building	shall	not	require	the	provision	
of parking nor on-site stormwater retention/detention in addition to that existing.

6.3  SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS  
6.3.1 To the extent that a Transect Map or Sector Map designates any of the following 

Special	Requirements,	standards	shall	be	applied	as	follows:	
 a. A-Streets and B-Streets: Lots and buildings along A-Streets shall be held to the 

highest standard of this Code in support of pedestrian activity. Lots and buildings 
along B-Streets may follow the standards of this Code exclusively, or may use 
the automobile-oriented standards in Section 6.7.5, with the exception that corner 
lots on B-Streets that intersect with A-Streets shall be subject to the A-Street 
standards of this Code.

 b. Retail Frontage: The building shall provide a shopfront at sidewalk level along 
the entire length of its Private Frontage. The shopfront shall be no less than 
50% clear glass between 2 feet and 12 feet above the sidewalk, and may be 
shaded by an awning overlapping the sidewalk as generally illustrated in Table 
6C.  Awnings, if present, shall be minimum 3 feet in depth and shall clear the 
sidewalk by 8 feet.

 c. Gallery Frontage: The building shall provide a permanent cover over the sidewalk, 
either cantilevered or supported by columns, as generally illustrated in Table 6C. 
A Gallery Frontage may be combined with a Retail Frontage.

	 d.	Arcade	Frontage:	The	building	shall	overlap	the	sidewalk	such	that	the	first	floor	
facade is an arcade or colonnade (as generally illustrated in Table 6B and Table 
6C). An Arcade Frontage may be combined with a Retail Frontage.     

 e. Coordinated Streetscape Frontage: The Public Frontage and Private Frontage 
shall be coordinated as a single, coherent landscape and paving design.

 f. Terminated Vista: The building shall be provided with architectural articulation 
of a type and character that responds visually to its axial location, as approved 
by	the	Planning	Office.

 g. View Corridor: The existing view shall be maintained from the point(s) marked 
on	the	map,	as	approved	by	the	Planning	Office.

 h. Cross Block Passage: A minimum 8-foot-wide pedestrian access shall be reserved 
between buildings.

 
6.4  BUILDING PLACEMENT
6.4.1 SpeCifiC to Zone t2 

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC42

 a. Building Placement shall be determined by Warrant.
6.4.2 SpeCifiC to ZoneS t3, t4, t5, t6

 a. Newly platted lots shall be dimensioned according to Summary Table 7A.
 b.  Building Placement types shall be as shown in Table 6A and Summary Table 

7A.
 c. Buildings shall be disposed in relation to the boundaries of their lots according     

to Summary Table 7A and Table 8A. 
 d. One Principal Building at the frontage, and one outbuilding to the rear of the 

Principal  Building, may be built on each lot as shown in Table 8A. 
 e. Lot coverage by building footprint shall not exceed that recorded in Summary Table 

7A.
 f.  Facades shall be built parallel to a rectilinear Principal Frontage Line or to the 

tangent of a curved Principal Frontage Line, and along a minimum percentage 
of	the	frontage	width	within	the	front	setback	range,	as	specified	as	Frontage	
Buildout on Summary Table 7A.

 g. Setbacks for Principal Buildings shall be as shown in Summary Table 7A. In 
the	case	of	a	single	infill	lot,	setbacks	shall	match	one	of	the	existing	adjacent	
setbacks if it conforms to the range provided for its Transect Zone.  Setbacks 
may otherwise be adjusted by Warrant. 

 h. Rear setbacks for outbuildings shall be a minimum of 12 feet measured from the 
centerline of the rear alley or rear lane easement. In the absence of rear alley or 
rear lane, the rear setback shall be as shown in Summary Table 7A.

 i. To	accommodate	slopes	over	ten	percent,	relief	from	front	setback	requirements	
is available by Warrant.

 j. For lots having two frontages, the one along the more urban frontage of the two 
shall be the Principal Frontage unless otherwise determined by Warrant. 

 k. Outdoor storage and trash receptacles shall be located in the third lot layer and, 
if necessary, screened from view from any frontage.

6.4.3 SpeCifiC to ZoneS t5, t6
 a. The Principal Entrance shall be on a frontage line.  

6.5  BUILDING FORM  
6.5.1 generaL to aLL ZoneS t2, t3, t4, t5, t6

 a. The Private Frontage of buildings shall conform to and be allocated in accordance 
with Table 6C and Summary Table 7A.

 b. Buildings on corner lots and through-lots shall have two Private Frontages as 
shown in Table 8A. Prescriptions for the second and third layers pertain only to 
the	Principal	Frontage.	Prescriptions	for	the	first	layer	pertain	to	both	frontages.

 c. Residential buildings shall have a habitable room and two openings facing each 
frontage, either a door and window, two windows, or two doors.

 d. Building heights, stepbacks, and extension lines shall conform to Table 6B.
	 e.		Stories	may	not	exceed	14	feet	in	height	from	finished	floor	to	finished	ceiling,	

except	for	a	first	floor	commercial	function,	which	shall	be	a	minimum	of	11	feet	
with	a	maximum	of	25	feet.	A	single	floor	level	exceeding	14	feet,	or	25	feet	at	
ground level, shall be counted as two (2) stories. Mezzanines extending beyond 
33%	of	the	floor	area	shall	be	counted	as	an	additional	story.

 f. In a parking structure or garage, each above-ground level counts as a single 
story regardless of its relationship to habitable stories.

CHAPTER 6. LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC43

 g. Height limits do not apply to attics or raised basements, masts, belfries, clock 
towers,	chimney	flues,	water	tanks,	or	elevator	bulkheads.	Attics	shall	not	exceed	
14 feet in height.

 h. The provision of one zero-step entrance to each building from an accessible path 
at the front, side, or rear of each building is encouraged.

	 i.	 It	 is	 encouraged	 that	all	 the	 first	 floor	 interior	doors	 serving	habitable	 rooms	
(including bathrooms) should provide 32 inches of clear passage.

 j. There	should	be	a	half	or	full	bathroom	provided	on	the	first	story	of	each	building.
6.5.2 SpeCifiC to ZoneS t2, t3, t4, t5

 a. The habitable area of an Accessory Unit within a Principal Building or an Out-
building	shall	not	exceed	900	square	feet,	or	40%	of	the	square	footage	of	the	
Principal Building, whichever is greater, excluding a garage.

6.5.3 SpeCifiC to ZoneS t4, t5, t6
 a.  Loading docks and service areas shall be permitted on frontages only by Warrant.
 b. In the absence of a building facade along any part of a frontage line, a hedge, 

fence, or wall shall be built co-planar with the facade.
 c. Hedges, fences and walls on a frontage line shall be between 3.5 and 8 feet in 

height and shall have openings no larger than necessary to allow automobile 
and pedestrian access. 

	 d.	A	first	level	residential	or	lodging	function	may	be	raised	from	average	sidewalk	
grade if fully accessible from another entrance. If at grade, the building should 
be set back at least 6 feet from the sidewalk for privacy.

6.5.4 enCroaChmentS SpeCifiC to Zone t3
 a. No portion of the Private Frontage may encroach the sidewalk.
	 b.	Open	porches	may	encroach	the	first	layer	50%	of	its	depth.
	 c.		Balconies	and	bay	windows	may	encroach	the	first	layer	25%	of	its	depth,	except	

that balconies on porch roofs may encroach as does the porch.
6.5.5 enCroaChmentS SpeCifiC to Zone t4

	 a.	Balconies,	open	porches,	and	bay	windows	may	encroach	the	first	layer	50%	of	
its depth, except that balconies on porch roofs may encroach as does the porch.

 b. Awnings on corner stores may encroach the Public Frontage to within 2 feet of 
the curb. They shall be 3 feet minimum depth and shall clear the sidewalk verti-
cally by at least 8 feet, or 7 feet by Warrant.

6.5.6 enCroaChmentS SpeCifiC to Zone t4, t5, t6
 a. Stoops, balconies, bay windows, terraces, and lightwells may encroach 100% 

of	the	depth	of	the	first	layer.
 b. Stoops, balconies, and bay windows may encroach the Public Frontage by War-

rant.
6.5.7 enCroaChmentS SpeCifiC to ZoneS t5, t6

 a. Awnings, arcades, and galleries may encroach the Public Frontage to within two 
feet of the curb. They shall be 3 feet minimum depth and shall clear the sidewalk 
vertically by at least 8 feet. Awnings may clear at least 7 feet by Warrant.

  
6.6  BUILDING FUNCTION 
6.6.1 SpeCifiC to ZoneS t2, t3, t4, t5, t6

 a.  Buildings in each Transect Zone may be dedicated to functions and uses de-
scribed for that zone in Table 6E and Table 6F. Uses not shown but that are 
substantially similar to permitted uses may be approved by Warrant.  Uses that 

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC44

are	not	substantially	similar	to	permitted	uses	shall	require	a	zoning	amendment.		
6.6.2 SpeCifiC to ZoneS t2, t3

	 a.		Accessory	functions	of	Restricted	Lodging	or	Restricted	Office	shall	be	permitted	
within an Accessory Building. See Table 6E.

6.6.3 SpeCifiC to ZoneS t4, t5
	 a.	Accessory	functions	of	Limited	Lodging	or	Limited	Office	shall	be	permitted	within	

an Accessory Building. See Table 6E.
6.6.4   SpeCifiC to ZoneS t5, t6

	 a.	First	story	retail	and	office	functions	shall	be	permitted.
 b. Light manufacturing may be permitted by Warrant.
  

6.7  PARKING LOCATION 
6.7.1 generaL to ZoneS t3, t4, t5, t6   

 a.  Parking shall be accessed by Rear Alleys or Rear Lanes, when they are avail- 
able on the plan.

 b. Open parking areas shall be masked from the frontage by a building or hedge, 
fence, or wall.

6.7.2 SpeCifiC to Zone t3 
 a. Open parking areas shall be located at the second and third lot layers, except 

that	driveways	may	be	located	at	the	first	lot	layer.	
 b. Garages shall be located at the third lot layer as shown on Table 8A.

6.7.3 SpeCifiC to ZoneS t3, t4
 a. Driveways at frontages shall be no wider than 12 feet in the first layer, ex-

cepting a 15-foot-wide apron no more than three feet deep.
6.7.4   SpeCifiC to ZoneS t4, t5, t6

 a.  All parking lots, garages, and parking structures shall be located at the third layer. 
 b.  Two-way vehicular entrances to parking lots, garages, and parking structures 

shall be no wider than 24 feet at the frontage line and 30 feet at the apron. One-
way entrances shall be no wider than 12 feet at the frontage line and 15 feet at 
the apron. 

 c.  Pedestrian exits from all parking lots, garages, and parking structures shall be 
directly to a frontage line (i.e., not directly into a building) except underground 
levels which may be exited by pedestrians directly into a building.

	 d.	Parking	structures	on	the	A-Streets	shall	have	liner	buildings	lining	the	first	and	
second stories. 

 e.  A minimum of one bicycle rack place shall be provided within the Public Frontage 
or Private Frontage for every ten vehicular parking spaces.

6.7.5   SpeCifiC to B-StreetS in Zone t5
 a.  On designated B-Streets, surface parking consisting of one drive aisle and one 

or two rows of head-in parking spaces shall be permitted by Warrant within 70 
feet of the Frontage Line.  A hedge, fence, or wall 3-4 feet in height shall be 
maintained just inside the Frontage Line to screen the view of the parking from 
the adjacent ROW.

	 b.	A	drive	aisle	 in	 the	first	 layer	shall	be	designed	and	conveyed	 to	connect	 to	
existing or future drive aisles on adjacent properties.

	 c.	A	parking	lot	in	the	first	layer	shall	connect	to	side	streets	at	all	Secondary	Front-
ages.

 d.  A	parking	lot	in	the	first	layer	shall	have	at	least	one	connection	to	a	ROW	every	

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC45

300 feet.
	 e.	A	parking	lot	in	the	first	layer	shall	have	no	easements	other	than	as	necessary	

for parking lot drainage, parking lot lighting, and ingress and egress through 
the parking lot. The ingress/egress easement shall include a provision that the 
easement is revoked upon approval by the City of Leander to allow a building to 
be built over that easement.

 f. There shall be a sidewalk 12-20 feet wide between the building facade and the 
parking lot, with trees in grates or planter boxes 

 g. Drive-throughs for permitted uses may be considered by Warrant. Access shall 
be from a rear alley or service lane, or from a B-street.

6.8  PARKING MAXIMUMS
6.8.1  generaL to ZoneS t3, t4, t5, t6

 a. Parking Maximums may be established by the Planning Director.

6.9  LANDSCAPE    
6.9.1  generaL to ZoneS t3, t4, t5, t6

 a. Stormwater management on thoroughfares and lots shall be primarily through 
underground drainage channeled by raised curbs. There shall be no retention or 
detention	required	on	the	individual	lots	unless	regional	or	community	options	are	
unavailable.  If such options are unavailable, temporary detention and retention 
may	be	required.

 b. Where front setbacks are 24 feet or deeper, a minimum of one tree shall be 
planted	within	the	first	layer	for	each	30	feet of Frontage Line or portion thereof.  

	 c.	Specific	plantings	allowed	shall	be	guided	by	the	City	of	Austin	Native and Adapted 
Landscape Plants handbook.

6.9.3    SpeCifiC to Zone t3
	 a.	A	minimum	of	two	trees	shall	be	planted	within	the	first	or	second	layer	for	each	

30 feet of Frontage Line or portion thereof.  
 b. Turfgrass shall be permitted only by Warrant.

6.9.2  SpeCifiC to ZoneS t3, t4
	 a.	The	first	layer	may	not	be	paved,	with	the	exception	of	driveways	as	specified	

in Section 5.7. 
 

6.10  LIGHT LEVELS
6.10.1 SpeCifiC to ZoneS t2, t3, t4 
 a. No lighting level measured at the building Frontage Line shall exceed 1.0 fc.
6.10.2 SpeCifiC to Zone t5 
 a. No lighting level measured at the building Frontage Line shall exceed 2.0 fc.
6.10.3 SpeCifiC to Zone t6 
 a. No lighting level measured at the building Frontage Line shall exceed 5.0 fc.

6.11  SOUND LEVELS
6.11.1 SpeCifiC to ZoneS t2, t3, t4
 a.  Sound levels measured at the building Frontage Line shall not exceed 65 decibels 

from sunrise to midnight and 55 decibels from midnight to sunrise.
6.11.2 SpeCifiC to ZoneS t5, t6
 a.  Sound levels measured at the building Frontage Line shall not exceed 70 decibels 

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC46

from sunrise to midnight and 60 decibels from midnight to sunrise. 
 

6.12  SIGNAGE 
6.12.1 generaL intent
 The intent of regulating signs that are visible from the Public Frontage is to ensure 

proper dimensioning and placement with respect to existing or planned architectural 
features, to maintain or improve public safety, to maintain or improve the aesthetic 
character of the context in which they are located, and to provide legible information 
for pedestrians, not just drivers. See Table 6D for general form.

6.12.2 addreSS SignS
 a.	Address	sign	numerals	applied	to	retail,	office,	residential,	institutional,	or	industrial	

buildings shall be between 4 and 6 inches tall. Address sign numerals applied 
to individual dwelling units in Apartment buildings shall be at least 2 inches tall.

 b. Address signs shall be easily visible by using colors or materials that contrast 
with their background.

 c. Address signs shall be constructed of durable materials.
 d. The address sign shall be attached to the front of the building in proximity to the 

Principal Entrance or at a mailbox.  
6.12.3 awning SignS

 a. The following variations of awnings, with or without Signbands, are permitted:
  i.   Fixed or retractable awnings 
  ii.  Shed awnings
  iii. dome awnings 
 b. Other awning types may be permitted by Warrant.
 c. Signage shall be limited to the valance of the awning or the vertical portion of a 

dome awning.
 d. No portion of an awning shall be lower than 8 feet clearance, or 7 feet by War-

rant.
 e.  Awnings shall be a minimum of 4 feet in depth. Awnings approved by Warrant 

for 7 feet clearance may be a minimum of 3 feet in depth.
 f. Awnings shall not extend beyond the width of the building or tenant space, nor 

encroach above the roof line or the story above.
 g. The height of the valance shall not exceed 12 inches.
 h. Awning signs shall contain only the business name, logo, and/or street address. 
 i. Letters, numbers, and graphics shall cover no more than 70% of the valance 

area.
 j. Awning signs shall not be internally illuminated or backlit.  

6.12.4 Band SignS
 a. All	businesses	are	permitted	one	Band	Sign	on	each	first	story	facade.
 b. Band Signs shall include only letters, background, lighting, and an optional logo. 

Information shall consist only of the name and/or logo of the business. Band 
Signs shall not list products, sales, or other promotional messages, or contact 
information.

 c. The following Band Sign construction types are permitted:
i. Cut-out letters. Letters shall be individually attached to the wall or on a separate 

background panel, and shall be externally illuminated.
ii. Flat panel. Letters shall be printed or etched on same surface as the back-

ground,	which	is	then	affixed	to	the	wall	and	externally	illuminated.	

CHAPTER 6. LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC47

iii. Channel letters by Warrant. Each letter shall have its own internal lighting 
element, individually attached to the wall or onto a separate background 
panel. The letter shall be translucent, or solid to create a backlit halo effect.

 d. Height and width shall be measured using smallest rectangle that fully encom-
passes the entire extent of letters, logo and background.

 e. Band Signs shall not be wider than 90% of the width of the building facade or tenant 
space.

 f. Band Signs shall not project vertically above the roof line.
 g. Band Signs may be illuminated from dusk to dawn or during hours permitted by 

the lighting ordinance. External lights shall be shielded from direct view to reduce 
glare.

 h. Neon may be permitted on Band Signs by Warrant. No other internal lighting 
shall be permitted. 

 i. Electrical raceways, conduits and wiring shall not be exposed. Internal lighting 
elements shall be contained completely within the sign assembly or inside the 
wall.

 j. Band Signs should be placed where the architectural features suggest the best 
placement for signage. They should be vertically aligned with the center of an 
architectural feature such as a storefront window, entry portal, or width of a bay or 
overall retail space. They shall not interrupt or obscure these features or cause 
visual disharmony.

 k. Where multiple Band Signs are present on a single building (i.e. for retail tenants 
in a shopping center), signage shall be coordinated in terms of scale, placement, 
colors and materials.

6.12.5 BLade SignS
 a. Blade Signs may be double-sided. 
 b. Blade Signs shall be permitted only for businesses that have a Principal Entrance 

on	the	first	story.
 c. Businesses shall be permitted one Blade Sign where its Principal Frontage 

Line is no more than 5 feet from the facade. Businesses that have a Secondary 
Frontage Line that is no more than 2 feet from the facade shall be permitted one 
additional Blade Sign on that facade.

 d. Blade Signs may encroach into the Public Frontage up to 4 feet and shall clear 
the sidewalk by at least 8 feet.

 e. Blade Signs shall not encroach above the roof line nor above the bottom of the 
second story window.

 f. Text and graphics on the Blade Sign shall be limited to the name and/or logo 
of the business. Slogans, address labels, web addresses, operating hours and 
contact information shall not be permitted.

 g. Mounting hardware, such as supports and brackets, may be simple and unob-
trusive or highly decorative, but shall complement the design of the sign, the 
building, or both.

 h. For buildings with multiple signs, mounting hardware or sign shapes, sizes and 
colors shall be coordinated.

6.12.6 marqueeS
	 a.	Marquees	shall	be	located	only	above	the	Principal	Entrance	of	a	building.
	 b.	No	Marquee	shall	be	wider	than	the	entrance	it	serves,	plus	2	feet	on	each	side	

thereof.

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC48

	 c.	No	portion	of	a	Marquee	shall	be	lower	than	10	feet	clearance.
	 d.	No	Marquee	shall	extend	closer	to	the	curb	than	3	feet.
	 e.	Columns	or	posts	may	be	used	as	supports	for	Marquees	8	feet deep or deeper 

by Warrant.
	 f.	 All	Marquees,	 including	anchors,	bolts,	supporting	 rods	and	braces,	shall	be	

constructed of non-combustible materials and shall be designed by a structural 
engineer and approved by the Building Inspector.

	 g.	Marquee	components	and	materials	may	vary.	Anchors,	bolts,	and	supporting	
rods	should	be	limited	to	the	interior	of	the	Marquee.

	 h.	Message	Boards	shall	be	permitted	as	part	of	Marquees.
	 i.	 A	Band	Sign	shall	be	permitted	above	a	Marquee.	

6.12.7 namepLateS
 a. Nameplates shall consist of either a panel or individual letters applied to a build-

ing wall within 10 feet of an entrance to the building.
 b. One Nameplate shall be permitted per address. 
 c. Nameplates shall not exceed 3	square	feet.
 d. Nameplates shall be constructed of durable materials.   

6.12.8 outdoor diSpLay CaSeS
	 a.	Each	outdoor	display	case	shall	not	exceed	6	square	feet.
 b. Outdoor display cases may be externally or internally illuminated.
 c. Theaters may be permitted larger outdoor display cases by Warrant.
 d. Outdoor display cases shall not be attached to shopfront windows.

6.12.9 ShingLe SignS
 a. Shingle Signs shall comport with the standards for Blade Signs except 6.14.4d 

and 6.14.4f.
 b. A building may have both the prescribed number of Blade Signs and the same  

number of Shingle Signs.
 c. Shingle Signs may encroach into the Public Frontage up to 2 feet and shall clear 

the Sidewalk by at least 7 feet.
 d. Text and graphics on the Shingle Sign shall be limited to the name, logo, and 

suite number of the business. Slogans, full street address labels, web addresses, 
operating hours and contact information are not permitted.   

6.12.10 SidewaLk SignS
 a. Sidewalk Signs shall consist of freestanding, double-sided temporary signs placed 

at the entrance to a business in a primarily pedestrian environment. 
 b. Sidewalk Signs shall be removed at the close of business each day.
 c. One Sidewalk Sign shall be permitted for each business. 
 d. Sidewalk Signs shall not exceed 42 inches in height or 26 inches in width.
 e. Sidewalk Signs shall be moved inside during high winds or other weather condi-

tions that might pose a hazard to public safety.
6.12.11 window SignS

 a. Only the following Window Sign types shall be permitted:
i. Vinyl	applique	letters	applied	to	the	window.	Appliques	shall	consist	of	indi-

vidual letters or graphics with no visible background. 
ii. Letters painted directly on the window.
iii. Hanging signs that hang from the ceiling behind the window. 
iv. Neon signs.
v. Door signs applied to or hanging inside the glass portion of an entrance 

CHAPTER 6. LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC49

doorway. 
 b. Window signs shall not interfere with the primary function of windows, which is 

to enable passersby and public safety personnel to see through windows into 
premises and view product displays.

 c. Window signs shall be no larger than 25% of the total area of the window onto 
which they are applied.  Sign area shall be measured using smallest rectangle 
that fully encompasses the entire extent of letters, logo and background.

 d. Window signs may list services and/or products sold on the premises, or provide 
phone numbers, web addresses, operating hours or other messages, provided 
that the total aggregate area of these messages not exceed the limit provided 
above.

 e. Letters on window signs shall be no taller than 8 inches.
6.12.12 yard SignS

 a. One single- or double-post yard sign for each business may be permitted by 
Warrant, provided it is set back at least 6 feet from the Frontage Line, does not 
exceed	6	square	feet	excluding	posts,	and	does	not	exceed	6	feet	high	including	
posts, measured from the yard at the post location.

6.12.13 temporary SignS and BannerS
 a. Temporary signs of all types may be approved by Warrant for a 30-day period 

only.  Permitted materials shall be determined by Warrant. 

6.13 ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS
 generaL to ZoneS t3, t4, t5, t6, unLeSS noted otherwiSe

 Note:  red text indicates opportunities to lower the standard
6.13.1 BuiLding waLLS & maSSing - materiaLS

	 a.	Building	walls	shall	be	native	stone	(or	synthetic	equivalent),	brick,	stucco,	split-
faced block (foundations only), or siding.

 b. Textured brick and variegated brick is prohibited.
 c. Stucco shall be cement or synthetic and shall be integral color or painted.
	 d.	Siding	shall	be	wood,	fiber	cement	or	fly	ash.		Vinyl	siding,	aluminum	siding,	and 

faux wood grain textures are prohibited.  Further compromise:  allow vinyl siding 
but still prohibit aluminum siding.*

 e. Lintels in masonry walls at frontages shall be masonry or concrete.
	 f.	 Trim	shall	be	painted	or	stained	with	an	opaque	stain	and	shall	be	indistinguish-

able from wood.  Faux wood grain textures are prohibited. Further compromise: 
delete entire paragraph.

6.13.2 BuiLding waLLS & maSSing - ConfigurationS
 a. Simplicity of massing:  Buildings shall be a single simple volume, or a combination 

of a few simple volumes (i.e., principal building + backbuilding + outbuilding).
 b. Building walls shall show no more than two materials on any exterior wall, not 

counting the foundation.  The visually heavier material shall be below the lighter 
one.  Vertical joints between materials shall only occur at inside corners where 
principal building, backbuilding and/or outbuilding meet.  Wall designs and ma-
terials on the same building shall be consistent on all facades facing frontages.

 c. Facade and elevation material change: Where one material is used on the 
facade(s), that material shall continue along the elevations a minimum of 16 
inches in depth measured from the face of the facade.*

 d. Brick shall be detailed and laid to resemble load-bearing construction.  Brick 

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC50

shall course exactly to the top, bottom and sides of all wall openings.
 e. Stone shall be detailed and laid to resemble structural stone walls.
	 f.	 Stucco	finish	shall	be	smooth	or	sand-finish;	heavy	lace	is	prohibited.		EIFS is 

prohibited within three feet of the ground.
 g. Lintels in masonry walls at frontages shall be detailed to appear structural.  Run-

ning bond and soldier courses over steel angles are prohibited.
 h. Siding over masonry alignment:  Siding shall overlap a masonry wall below it by 

the thickness of the siding.  Horizontal ledges between wood frame wall and a 
masonry base are prohibited.  Compromise:  permit this detail at the foundation 
line only and not at upper stories.  Further compromise: delete this paragraph 
completely.

 i. Trim shall be sized appropriately to its location.
 j. Masonry arches and piers shall be no smaller than 12 inches by 12 inches, when 

viewed in plan.
 k. Color shall be selected according to building style and Central Texas precedent.

6.13.3 fenCeS - materiaLS
	 a.	Frontage	Fences.		Frontage	fences	shall	be	wood	(painted	or	with	an	opaque	

stain) or metal in a cast-iron style.  They may have masonry or stucco piers and 
base.  Chain link is prohibited on frontages.

6.13.4 fenCeS - ConfigurationS
 a. The	finished	side	of	fences	shall	face	outward	along	all	lot	lines.
 b. Fences shall be 4 feet maximum in height.  Posts may be up to 8 inches taller.

6.13.5 doorS and windowS - materiaLS
 a. Exterior doors shall be wood or clad wood for residential use.  Exterior doors 

shall be wood, clad wood, steel or extruded aluminum for commercial use.  
Compromise:		require	this	only	at	frontages.

 b. Garage doors shall be wood, clad wood, metal, or composite.  Garage doors 
visible from frontages shall be painted or stained a dark color to reduce visual 
impact.		Compromise:		require	this	only	at	frontages.

 c. Windows shall be wood, vinyl-clad, aluminum-clad wood, or solid PVC, but all 
must be indiscernible from wood at arm’s length.  Commercial windows may 
also be extruded aluminum or hollow steel frame.  All windows shall have clear 
glass.		Reflective	glass,	tinted	glass,	and	glass	block	are	prohibited.		Compromise:  
require	this	only	at	frontages.

 d. Storefronts shall be wood, custom metalwork, extruded aluminum, or hollow steel 
frame.  Natural and bronze aluminum storefronts are prohibited.

 e. Bay windows shall be trimmed with a single vertical jamb casing that extends 
from the window sash to the corner of the bay.

	 f.	 Shutters	shall	be	wood,	fiber-cement,	or	solid	PVC,	and	shall	be	indiscernible	
from wood at arm’s length.

6.13.6 doorS and windowS - ConfigurationS
 a. Doors shall be side-hinged except garage doors, which may be sectional.  Sliders 

shall not be visible from frontages.  The style of the front door shall match the 
building style.  Doors, except garage doors, shall be, or appear to be, constructed 
of	planks	or	raised	panels	(not	flush	with	applied	trim).		Sliders	are	prohibited	at	
frontages.

 b. Garage doors facing frontages and those facing alleys on corner lots shall be a 
maximum of 9 feet in width.*

CHAPTER 6. LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC51

 c. Ratio of openings to wall:  Openings shall not exceed 50% of the façade area of 
each	floor	except	at	shopfronts.		Each	floor	of	each	façade	shall	be	calculated	
independently.*

	 d.	Windows	shall	 be	 single-hung,	 double-hung,	 triple-hung,	 casement,	 or	 fixed.		
The style of the windows shall match the building style.  Window openings and 
panes	shall	be	vertically	proportioned	or	square.		Flush	mounted	windows	are	
prohibited.  Sliders are prohibited at frontages.

 e. Windows in masonry and stucco walls shall be inset a minimum of 3 inches 
(measures from the exterior face of the wall to the exterior face of the top sash).

 f. Shopfronts shall be single panes of glass not larger than 6 feet high by 5 feet 
wide.  Glazing of shopfronts shall be a minimum 50% of the area between 2 feet 
and 12 feet above the sidewalk. Muntins (but not mullions) may be counted as 
glass area.

 g. Bay windows shall extend to the ground or be supported by visible brackets.
 h. Shutters shall be exactly one-half the width of, and the same height as, the as-

sociated opening.*
 i. Casing shall be minimum 3-½ inches wide except on masonry walls.  Mullion 

casing shall be minimum three and a half inches  wide.  Brick shall not be visible 
between	a	door	or	window	and	its	casing.		Head	casing	shall	be	equal	to	or	taller	
than the jamb casing, and shall not be less than 1/6 the opening width.

 j. Principal entry surrounds should be substantial.
	 k.	 The	bottom	edge	of	the	face	of	a	lintel	shall	be	flush	with	the	wall.		Sills	shall	

project from the wall a minimum of 1 inch.
6.13.7 roofS and eaveS - materiaLS

 a. Roofs shall be metal, slate, wood shakes, tile (clay, concrete or metal), asphalt, 
or	equivalent	synthetic	or	better.	 	Asphalt shingles are prohibited on roofs of 
stoops and one-story porches.

	 b.	Flat	roofs	shall	be	permitted	in	T5	and	T6	only	and	shall	be	commercial	quality	
roofing.	

 c. Eaves shall be wood, bead board of cement or synthetic stucco, or EIFS.  Vinyl 
and sheet aluminum is prohibited.  The eave return cap shall be built of continu-
ous,	un-seamed	metal	flashing.

 d. Gutters and downspouts shall be copper (not copper-coated), galvanized steel, 
or aluminum.

 e. Dormer jamb material should be a solid casing assembly from the window to 
the corner of the dormer wall.  Siding as jamb material on dormers is prohibited.  
Brick shall only be used for a dormer face when it forms a parapet at the top of 
the dormer.

6.13.8 roofS and eaveS - ConfigurationS
	 a.	Metal	roofing	shall	be	flat	between	the	primary	ribs	with	no	striations	or	pencil	

ribs.
	 b.	Ridge	caps	shall	be	appropriate	to	the	type	of	roofing.		Bulbed	ridge	caps	shall	

be	used	with	5V	metal	roofing,	and	standing	seam	ridge	caps	shall	be	of	the	
lowest	profile	possible.

 c. Roofs of Principal Buildings, where sloped, shall be a symmetrical gable or hip 
with a slope of 4:12 to 7.5:12.

 d. Flat roofs are permitted in T5 and T6 only and shall be surrounded by a horizontal 
parapet wall no less than 30 inches higher than the highest point of the roof deck.

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC52

	 e.	Ancillary	roofs	where	sloped	shall	be	between	1/3	and	1⁄2	the	principal	roof	slope.
 f. Gables shall not overlap except when the smaller gable is part of a balcony, 

porch, or entrance.
 g. Bay roofs shall be distinct from the primary roof, typically under the eave, and 

return on themselves at each end.
 h. Eaves shall be 16 inches minimum on gables and hipped roofs.  Eave lines shall 

be simple and continuous, both horizontally and vertically.The trim immediately 
below the cornice shall be a bed mold or similar shape, not a crown mold.  Eaves 
shall	return	around	the	corner	and	die	into	the	wall	without	the	common	“pork	
chop”	return.		Brackets	shall	extend	to	the	back	side	of	the	fascia.		A	frieze	board	
shall occur below the eave.  The depth of the eave overhang should match the 
style of the building.  Formal styles may have closed eaves if appropriate to the 
style of the building, but vernacular buildings should have open eaves.  Exposed 
rafter tails shall not exceed 6 inches in height.

	 i.	 Cornices	are	required	on	buildings	with	flat	roofs.		The	cornice	shall	include	a	
projection beyond the building face.

 j. Gutters shall be half-round or ogee shaped. Downspouts shall be round.
 k. Dormers shall be placed a minimum of 3 feet from side building walls.  Dormers 

shall have roof trim beginning at the window head and shall be composed of a 
head	casing,	soffit,	and	fascia	at	a	minimum.		Siding	shall	not	be	used	above	a	
window head except in the triangular space enclosed by the pediment of a gable-
front dormer. The body of a single-window dormer shall be vertically proportioned 
or	square.	The	total	width	of	the	dormer	roof	shall	be	25%	to	40%	larger	than	the	
width of the dormer body. Dormer windows shall be slightly shorter than typical 
windows	in	the	floor	below.

	 l.	 Skylights	shall	be	flat.	at frontages.
 m. Roof penetrations, except stucco or brick chimneys, shall be placed so as not 

to be visible from frontages and painted to match the color of the roof, except 
those of metal which may be left unpainted.

6.13.9 attaChmentS - materiaLS
	 a.	Columns	and	posts	shall	be	made	of	wood,	CPVC,	fly	ash,	composite	metal,	

native	stone	(or	synthetic	equivalent).		Extruded	aluminum	is	prohibited.
	 b.	Porch	beams	shall	be	wood,	fiber-cement,	fly	ash,	stone,	concrete,	stucco	or	

EIFS.  The grain or texture shall be horizontal.
	 c.	Porch	ceilings	shall	be	wood,	fiber-cement,	fly	ash	or	stucco.
	 d.	Balconies	&	railings	shall	be	wood,	fiber-cement,	fly	ash	or	metal.		The railing 

material shall not be more durable in appearance than the material of the balcony.
 e. Chimneys shall be clad in brick, stone, or stucco at frontages.
 f. Flues shall be clay tile, or galvanized metal left natural or painted black.
 g. Sign and awning materials are subject to Section 6.14 Signs.

6.13.10 attaChmentS - ConfigurationS
 a. Columns shall have entasis.  Where classical columns are used, the Orders 

shall	be	Tuscan,	Doric,	Ionic,	or	Corinthian	with	correct	proportions	and	profiles	
according to the American Vignola.*

	 b.	Column	bases	shall	not	protrude	beyond	the	edge	of	the	porch	flooring.		The	
outer edge of the base should align with the face of the pier or foundation below. 

 c. Column to Beam Alignment: The face of the beam shall align with the neck of 
the column or post.  Capitals shall protrude.

CHAPTER 6. LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC53

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS

 d. Intercolumniation:  Spaces between columns shall be vertically proportioned.
 e. Posts shall be no smaller than 6 inches by 6 inches when viewed in plan.
 f. Porches and stoops must be a minimum of 12 inches above the adjacent sidewalk 

elevation.  Porches shall be a minimum of 8 feet deep.
 g. Porch beams shall be visible from both the inside and the outside of the porch.  

Seams between beam face and bottom of built-up beams shall occur on the 
bottom of  the beam, not its face.*

 h. Balconies shall project no more than 3 feet from the face of the building and shall 
be visually supported by brackets.

 i. Railings shall have horizontally proportioned top rails and vertically proportioned 
bottom	rails,	with	the	bottom	rails	clearing	the	floor.		Balusters	shall	be	centered	
on the rails and spaced no farther apart than permitted by code. 

 j. Openings between supports at galleries and arcades shall be vertically propor-
tioned.

 k. Screens are prohibited on stoops and porches at frontages.
 l. Chimneys at frontages shall extend to the ground and have a projecting cap.  

Wood clad chimneys are prohibited.
	 m.	Sign	and	awning	configuration	is	subject	to	Section	6.12	Signs.

6.13.11 meChaniCaL and utiLity equipment
	 a.	HVAC	equipment,	utility	meters,	satellite	dishes,	permanent	grills,	window	air	

conditioning	units	and	other	mechanical	equipment	shall	not	be	located	at	front-
ages.		Mechanical	equipment	shall	not	vent	to	frontages.

 b. Site utility structures, such as transformers, shall not be located at frontages.  
Utility structures shall be screened using landscaping or fences, hedges or walls.  
Utility boxes and conduits on exterior walls facing frontages shall be painted to 
match the wall or their visibility otherwise minimized.



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC54

TABLE 6A. BUILDING PLACEMENT

a.  Detached  (center of yard):  A building that occupies the center of its lot 
with setbacks on all sides. This is the least urban of types as the front yard 
sets	it	back	from	the	frontage,	while	the	side	yards	weaken	the	spatial	defini-
tion of the public thoroughfare space. The front yard or garden is intended 
to be visually continuous with the yards of adjacent buildings. The rear yard 
can be secured for privacy by fences and a well-placed backbuilding and/
or outbuilding. Specific	types	-	single	family	house,	cottage,	bungalow,	ranch	
house, estate house, cabin, farmhouse.

T2
T3
T4

b. Detached (sideyard): A building that occupies one side of the lot with the 
setback	 to	 the	other	 side.	 	A	shallow	 front	 setback	defines	a	more	urban	
condition, often with a wall or fence along the frontage line, while a deeper 
setback is less urban. If the adjacent building is similar with a blank side wall, 
the	yard	can	be	quite	private.	This	type	permits	systematic	climatic	orientation	
in	response	to	the	sun	or	the	breeze.	Specific	types	-	Charleston	single	house,	
zero	lot	line	house.	Must	comply	with	the	building	separation	requirements	
of the local building code. This may be accomplished by a rated wall on the 
lot line, and/or a non-construction easement recorded on the adjacent lot.   

T4
T5

c. Semi-Detached: a building that abuts a neighboring sideyard buidling. 
Construction costs, energy costs, and sometimes noise may be reduced by 
sharing	a	party	wall.	Specific	types	-	double	house,	twin,	duplex.	

T4
T5

d. Attached: A building attached to another and occupying the full width of 
the frontage, usually with the entire yard in the rear.This is a very urban type 
as	the	continuous	facade	steadily	defines	the	public	thoroughfare.	The	rear	
elevations may be articulated for functional purposes. In its residential form, 
this type is the rowhouse or townhouse. In its commercial form, the rear yard 
can	accommodate	substantial	parking.	Specific	types	-	townhouse,	rowhouse,	
live-work	unit,	loft	building,	apartment	house,	mixed	use	block,	flex	building,	
perimeter block, rearyard building. 

T4
T5
T6

e. Courtyard: A building that occupies the boundaries of its lot while internally 
defining	one	or	more	private	patios.	This	is	the	most	urban	of	types,	as	it	is	
able	to	shield	the	private	realm	from	all	sides	while	strongly	defining	the	public	
thoroughfare. Because of its ability to accommodate incompatible activities, it 
is	recommended	for	workshops,	lodging	and	schools.	Specific	types	-	courtyard	
house, courtyard apartment building, patio house. 

T4
T5

Table 6A:  Building Placement.  This table approximates the location of the structure relative to the boundaries of each individual lot, 
establishing suitable basic building types for each Transect Zone. The following are general descriptions only.

T6



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC55

T6 T6

T2 T4 T5 T6

 

2

1

3

2

1

N

4

3

2

1

Max. height

Max. height

Max. height

R.O.W.Lot
R.O.W.Lot

R.O.W.Lot

Max. height

8

7

6

5

4 

3 

2 

1 

8

7

6

5

4 

3 

2 

1 

Max. height

R.O.W.Lot

Max. height

R.O.W.Lot

6

5

4 

3 

2 

1 

R.O.W.Lot

Arcade max.

Min. height. Min. Height.

Min. Height.

Arcade max.

TABLE 6B. BUILDING FORM - HEIGHT

WITH ARCADE FRONTAGE WITH ARCADE FRONTAGE

T3

Table 6B: Building Form - Height. 	This	table	provides	the	configurations	for	different	building	heights	for	each	Transect	Zone.	The	
front setbacks are illlustrative only. The vertical extent of a building shall be measured by number of stories, not including a raised base-
ment or an inhabited attic. Building height shall be measured from the average grade of the frontage line to the eave of a pitched roof or 
the	surface	of	a	flat	roof.	The	minimum	height	for	all	office,	retail	and	mixed-use	buildings	shall	be	18	feet.	Height	limits	shall	not	apply	
to	towers	with	a	footprint	of	less	of	400	square	feet.



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC56

TABLE 6C. BUILDING FORM - PRIVATE FRONTAGES 

            SECTION                  PLAN
LOT   

PRIVATE 
FRONTAGE 

►
►

◄
◄

R.O.W.
PUBLIC
FRONTAGE

LOT   
PRIVATE 

FRONTAGE 

►
►

◄
◄

R.O.W.
PUBLIC 
FRONTAGE

a. Common Yard: a planted frontage wherein the facade is set back 
substantially from the Frontage Line.  The front yard created remains 
unfenced and is visually continuous with adjacent yards, supporting 
a common landscape. The deep setback provides a buffer from the 
higher speed thoroughfares.

T2

b. Porch & Fence: a planted frontage wherein the facade is set back 
from the Frontage Line with an attached porch permitted to encroach. 
A	 fence	at	 the	Frontage	Line	maintains	 street	 spatial	 definition.	
Porches shall be no less than 8 feet deep. Variant: Dooryard: has 
a fence but no porch, suitable for zero-step entry.*

T3
T4

c. Terrace or Lightwell: a frontage wherein the facade is set back 
from the Frontage Line by an elevated terrace or a sunken lightwell. 
This type buffers residential use from urban sidewalks and removes 
the private yard from public encroachment. Terraces are suitable 
for conversion to outdoor cafes. 

T4
T5

d. Forecourt: a frontage wherein a portion of the facade is close to 
the Frontage Line and the central portion is set back.  The fore-
court created is suitable for vehicular drop-offs. This type should 
be allocated in conjunction with other frontage types. Large trees 
within the forecourts may overhang the sidewalks. 

T4
T5
T6

e. Stoop: a frontage wherein the facade is aligned close to the Front-
age	Line	with	the	first	story	elevated	from	the	sidewalk	sufficiently	
to secure privacy for the windows. The entrance is usually an 
exterior stair and landing. This type is recommended for ground-
floor	residential	use.	

T4
T5
T6

f. Shopfront: a frontage wherein the facade is aligned close to the 
Frontage Line with the building entrance at sidewalk grade.  This 
type is conventional for retail use. It has a substantial glazing on 
the sidewalk level and may have an awning. Syn: Retail Frontage.

T4
T5
T6

g. Gallery: a frontage wherein the facade is aligned close to the 
Frontage Line with an attached cantilevered shed or a lightweight 
colonnade overlapping the sidewalk. This type is conventional for 
retail use. 

T4
T5
T6

h. Arcade: a colonnade supporting habitable space that overlaps the 
sidewalk, while the facade at sidewalk level remains at or behind 
the Frontage Line.  This type is conventional for retail use. See 
Table 6B.

T5
T6

T3

Table 6C: Private Frontages.  The Private Frontage is the area between the building facade and the front lot line, and the facade itself. 
Corner properties have two Private Frontages.



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC57

▪ By Right
▫	By Warrant

T1 T2 T3 T4 T5 T6 SD SPECIFICATIONS

Address Sign

n/a n/a ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫

a. Quantity (max)
b. Area
c. Width
d. Height
e. Depth / Projection
f. Clearance
g. Apex
h. Letter Height

1 per address
max 2 sf

max 24 in
max 12 in
max 3 in
min 4.5 ft

n/a
max 6"

Awning and Signband

▪ ▪ ▪ ▫

a. Quantity (max)
b. Area
c. Width
d. Height
e. Depth / Projection
f. Clearance
g. Apex
h. Letter Height
 i. Valance Height
 j. Distance from Curb

1 per window
n/a

max equals width of Facade
n/a

min 4 ft, see Sec 5.12.7e
min 8 ft, 7 ft by Warrant

n/a
min 5 in, max 10 in

max 12 in
min. 2 ft.

Band Sign

▫ ▪ ▪ ▫

a. Quantity (max)
b. Area (max)
c. Width
d. Height
e. Depth / Projection
f. Clearance
g. Apex
h. Letter Height

1 (2 for corner buildings)
1.5 sf per linear ft Facade
max 90% width of Facade

max 3 ft
max 7 in
min 7 ft

n/a
max 18 in

Blade Sign

▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

a. Quantity
b. Area (max)
c. Width
d. Height
f.  Depth / Projection
g. Clearance
h. Apex
i.  Letter Height

1 per Facade, 2 max
4 sf T2,T3,T4; 6 sf T5,T6

max 4 ft
max 4 ft
max 4 ft
min 8 ft

n/a
max 8 in

Marquee	and	Sign

▪ ▪ ▫

a. Quantity (max)
b. Area
c. Width (max)
d. Height
e. Depth / Projection
f. Clearance
g. Apex
h. Letter Height
i. Distance from Curb

1 per business
n/a

entrance plus 2' each side
max 50% Story height

min 4 ft, max 10 ft
min 10 ft

n/a
n/a

min 3 ft.

TABLE 6D. SIGNAGE



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC58

T1 T2 T3 T4 T5 T6 SD Specifications

Nameplate Sign

n/a ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

a. Quantity (max)
b. Area
c. Width
d. Height
e. Depth / Projection
f. Clearance
g. Apex
h. Letter Height

1
max 3 sf

max 18 in
max 2 ft
max 3 in
min 4 ft
max 7 ft

n/a

Outdoor Display Case

n/a n/a ▫ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫

a. Quantity
b. Area
c. Width
d. Height
f.  Depth / Projection
g. Clearance
h. Apex
i.  Letter Height

1
max 6 sf

max 3.5 ft
max 3.5 ft
max 5 in
min 4 ft

n/a
n/a

Shingle Sign

▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

a. Quantity
b. Area
c. Width
d. Height
f.  Depth / Projection
g. Clearance
h. Apex
i.  Letter Height

1 per facade, 2 max
4 sf

max 2 ft
max 3 ft
max 2 ft
min 7 ft

n/a
max 8 in

Sidewalk Sign

▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

a. Quantity
b. Area
c. Width
d. Height
f.  Depth / Projection
g. Clearance
h. Apex
i.  Letter Height

1 per business
max 8 sf

max 26 in
max 42 in

n/a
n/a

max 42 in
n/a

Window Sign

▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

a. Quantity
b. Area
c. Width
d. Height
f.  Depth / Projection
g. Clearance
h. Apex
i.  Letter Height

1 per window
max 25% of glass

varies
varies

n/a
4 ft
n/a

max 8 in

▪ By Right
▫	By Warrant

TABLE 6D. SIGNAGE (CONT.)



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC59

T1 T2 T3 T4 T5 T6 SD Specifications

Yard Sign

▫ ▪

a. Quantity
b. Area
c. Width
d. Height
e. Depth / Projection
f. Clearance
g. Apex
h. Letter Height

1 max per Lot
max 6 sf 

max 3 ft (not counting post)
max 2 ft (not counting post)

n/a
min 3 ft to sign edge

max 6 ft to top of post
max 8 in

▪ By Right
▫	By Warrant

TABLE 6D. SIGNAGE (CONT.)



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC60

TABLE 6E. BUILDING FUNCTION

T3  T4 T5  T6
a. RESIDENTIAL  Restricted Residential: The number of 

dwellings on each lot is restricted to one 
within a Principal Building and one within an 
Accessory Building. Both dwellings shall be 
under single ownership. The habitable area 
of the Accessory Building shall not exceed 
900	sf	or	40%	of	the	square	footage	of	the	
Principal Building.

 Open Residential:The number of dwellings 
on each lot is unlimited except by the form 
regulations of Chapter 6.

 Open Residential:The number of dwellings 
on each lot is unlimited except by the form 
regulations of Chapter 6.

b. LODGING  Restricted Lodging: The number of 
bedrooms available on each lot for lodging 
is	 restricted	 to	five.	Food	service	may	be	
provided in the a.m. The maximum length 
of stay shall not exceed ten days.

 Limited Lodging: The number of bedrooms 
available on each lot for lodging is limited 
to twelve. Food service may be provided in 
the a.m. The maximum length of stay shall 
not exceed ten days. 

 Open Lodging: The number of bedrooms 
available on each lot for lodging is unlimited. 
Food service may be provided at all times. 
The maximum length of stay shall not exceed 
ten days.

c. OFFICE  Restricted Office: The building area avail-
able	for	office	use	by	the	resident	of	each	lot,	
and one non-resident employee,  is restricted 
to	the	first	floor	of	the	Principal	Building	or	
any part of an Accessory Building. Home 
Occupations are permitted anywhere. 

 Limited Office: The building area available 
for	office	use	by	 the	 resident	of	each	 lot,	
and up to three non-resident employees,  
is	restricted	to	the	first	floor	of	the	Principal	
Building or any part of an Accessory Building. 
Home Occupations are permitted anywhere.

 

 Open Office:  The building area available 
for	office	use	on	each	lot	is	unlimited.

d. RETAIL  Restricted Retail: The building area avail-
able for retail use is restricted to one block 
corner	 location	 at	 the	 first	 story	 for	 each	
300	dwelling	units.	This	specific	use	shall	
be further restricted to neighborhood store, 
or food service seating no more than 20.

 Limited Retail:The building area available 
for retail use with regular hours is limited to 
the	first	story	of	buildings	at	corner	locations.	
The	specific	use	shall	be	further	limited	to	
neighborhood store, or food service seating 
no more than 40. Cottage Industry with up 
to three employees shall be permitted at all 
locations, with retail sales by appointment 
only.

 Open Retail:  The building area available 
for retail use is unlimited.

e.  CIVIC  See Table 6F  See Table 6F  See Table 6F

f.  OTHER  See Table 6F  See Table 6F  See Table 6F

Table 6E:  Building Function.		This	table	categorizes	Building	Functions	within	Transect	Zones.	For	Specific	Function	and	Use,	see	
Table 6F.  



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC61

a. RESIDENTIAL T1 T2 T3 T4 T5 T6
Single Family ▪ ▪ ▪

Two-family (Duplex) ▪ ▪
Multi-family ▪ ▪ ▪

Live/Work Unit ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫ ▫
Group Home ▫ ▪

Accessory Unit ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
Manufactured House ▫ ▫

Temporary Tent ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫

b. LODGING
Hotel (no room limit) ▪ ▪ ▫
Inn (up to 12 rooms) ▫ ▪ ▪ ▪

Inn  (up to 5 rooms) ▫ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
S.R.O. hostel ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫

School Dormitory ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
c. OFFICE

Office Building ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫
Live-Work Unit ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫

d. RETAIL
Open-Market Building ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Retail Building ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫
Display Gallery ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫

Cafe / Restaurant ▫ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫
Kiosk ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫

Push Cart ▫ ▫ ▫
Liquor Selling Establishment ▫ ▫ ▫

Adult Entertainment ▫ ▫
e. CIVIC

Bus Shelter ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
Convention Center ▫ ▪
Conference Center ▫ ▪ ▪

Exhibition Center ▫ ▪
Fountain or Public Art ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Library ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
Live Theater ▪ ▪ ▪

Movie Theater ▪ ▪ ▪
Museum ▫ ▫ ▪ ▪

Outdoor Auditorium ▫ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
Parking Structure ▫ ▪ ▪ ▪

Passenger Terminal ▫ ▫ ▪
Playground ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Sports Stadium ▫ ▪
Surface Parking Lot ▫ ▫ ▫ ▪
Religious Assembly ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

f. OTHER: AGRICULTURE T1 T2 T3 T4 T5 T6 SD
Grain Storage ▪ ▪ ▫
Livestock Pen ▫ ▫ ▫

Greenhouse ▪ ▪ ▫ ▫
Stable ▪ ▪ ▫ ▫

Kennel ▪ ▪ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫
g. OTHER: AUTOMOTIVE

Gasoline* ▫ ▫ ▫ ▪
Automobile Service ▪

Automobile Sales ▫ ▫ ▫
Truck Maintenance ▪

Drive -Through Facility ▫ ▫ ▪
Rest Stop ▪ ▪ ▫

Roadside Stand ▪ ▪ ▫
Billboard ▫ ▫

Shopping Center / Mall ▫
h. OTHER: CIVIL SUPPORT

Fire Station ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
Police Station ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Cemetery ▪ ▫ ▫ ▪
Funeral Home ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Hospital ▫ ▫ ▪
Medical Clinic ▫ ▪ ▪ ▪

i. OTHER: EDUCATION
College ▫ ▫ ▪

High School ▫ ▫ ▫ ▪
Trade School ▫ ▫ ▪

Elementary School ▫ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
Childcare Center ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫

j. OTHER: INDUSTRIAL
Heavy Industrial Facility ▪
Light Industrial Facility ▫ ▪

Truck Depot ▪
Laboratory Facility ▫ ▪

Water Supply Facility ▪
Sewer and Waste Facility ▪

Electric Substation ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▪
Wireless Transmitter ▫ ▫ ▪

Cremation Facility ▪
Warehouse ▫ ▪

Produce Storage ▪
Mini-Storage ▪

▪  BY RIGHT
▫  BY WARRANT

 

TABLE 6F. SPECIFIC FUNCTION & USE

SD

Table 6F:  Specific Function & Use.		This	table	expands	the	categories	of	Table	6E	to	delegate	specific	functions	and	uses	within	
Transect Zones. 



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC62

TABLE 7A. SMARTCODE SUMMARY

T1
  

NATURAL 
ZONE T2 

  

RURAL
ZONE T3

  

SUB-URBAN
ZONE T4

     

GENERAL URBAN
ZONE T5

 

URBAN CENTER
ZONE T6

 

URBAN CORE 
 ZONE
          

SD
  

SPECIAL 
DISTRICT

a. ALLOCATION OF ZONES (by land area, per Community Unit)  See Table 2A
CLD requires 50% minimum of T1 or T2 or combination 10-30% 20-40%
TND requires no minimum no minimum 10-30% 30-60% 10-30%
RCD requires no minimum 10-30% 10-30% 40-80%
b.  BASE RESIDENTIAL DENSITY 
By Right 1 unit / 20 ac avg 4 units / ac gross 12 units / ac gross 20 units / ac gross no maximum*  
Other Functions Permitted* 10 - 20% 20 - 30% 30 - 50% 50 - 70% 

c. BLOCK SIZE 
Block Perimeter no maximum no maximum 4000’ max, b/f 1200 max 3600’ max, b/f 1200 max 2000’ max, b/f 600 max 2000’ max,b/f 600max*
d. THOROUGHFARES  * 3000 ft max with parking structures

Highway & RR permitted permitted permitted
Boulevard permitted permitted permitted permitted
SR permitted permitted
Residential Street permitted
SS & Avenue permitted permitted permitted
Commercial Street permitted permitted
Rear Lane permitted permitted permitted
Rear Alley permitted required required required
Path permitted permitted permitted permitted
Passage permitted permitted permitted permitted
Bicycle Trail permitted permitted permitted permitted *    
Bicycle Lane permitted permitted permitted permitted
Bicycle Route permitted permitted permitted permitted permitted permitted
e. CIVIC SPACES  See Table 3F * permitted only within Civic Spaces

Park permitted permitted permitted
Green permitted permitted permitted
Square permitted permitted permitted
Plaza permitted permitted
Playground / Pocket Park permitted permitted permitted permitted permitted permitted
f. LOT OCCUPATION  
Lot Width by Warrant 40 ft min 120 ft max 16 ft min 96 max no min, 180 ft max 18 ft min 700 ft max

PL
AC

EM
EN

T

Lot Coverage 60% max 70% max 80% max 100% max
g. SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BUILDING  See Table 8A
Front Setback (Principal) Outbuilding shall be behind Principal Building
Front Setback (Secondary) 48 ft min 12 ft min 6 ft min 20 ft max 0 ft min 12 ft max 0 ft min 12 ft max
Side Setback 100 ft min 12 ft min 0 ft min 0 ft min 24 ft max 0 ft min 24 ft max
Rear Setback 100 ft min 12 ft min 3 ft min    * 3 ft min    * 0 ft. min
Frontage Buildout n/a 40% min 60% min 80% min 80% min
h. SETBACKS - OUTBUILDING  See Table 8A
Front Setback* n/a 20 ft min + bldg setback 20 ft min + bldg setback 20 ft min + bldg setback 40 ft max from rear lot line
Side Setback n/a 5 ft min 5 ft min 5 ft min or attached 5 ft min or attached
Rear Setback n/a 5 ft min 5 ft min 5 ft min 5 ft min
i. BUILDING PLACEMENT  See Table 6A
Detached permitted permitted permitted
Semi-Detached permitted permitted
Attached permitted permitted permitted
Courtyard permitted permitted
j. PRIVATE FRONTAGES  See Table 6C
Common Yard permitted permitted permitted

FO
RM

Porch & Fence permitted permitted
Terrace or LC permitted permitted
Forecourt permitted permitted permitted
Stoop permitted permitted permitted
Shopfront permitted permitted permitted
Gallery permitted permitted permitted
Arcade permitted permitted permitted
k. BUILDING FORM  See Table 6B
Principal Building 2 Stories max 2 Stories max 3 Stories max 4 Stories max 8 Stories max, 2 min.
Outbuilding 2 Stories max 2 Stories max 2 Stories max 2 Stories max
l. BUILDING FUNCTION  See Table 6E & Table 6F
Residential restricted use restricted use limited use open use open use

FU
NC

TI
ON

Lodging restricted use restricted use limited use open use open use
Office restricted use limited use open use open use
Retail restricted use limited use open use open use

Chapter 6
Chapter 3, 4, 5 



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC63

T3

(see Table 1B)

BUILDING FUNCTION (see Table 6E & Table 6F)
Residential restricted use
Lodging restricted use
Office restricted use
Retail restricted use

BUILDING CONFIGURATION (see Table 6B) 
Principal Building 2 stories max.
Outbuilding 2 stories max.
LOT OCCUPATION  
Lot Width 40 ft min 120 ft max
Lot Coverage 60% max

BUILDING PLACEMENT (see Table 6A)
Detached permitted
Semi-Detached
Attached  
Courtyard    

SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BUILDING
(g.1) Front Setback Principal 24 ft. min
(g.2) Front Setback Secondary 12 ft min.
(g.3) Side Setback 12 ft min.
(g.4) Rear Setback 12 ft min.*
Frontage Buildout 40% min at setback

SETBACKS - OUTBUILDING
(h.1) Front Setback 20 ft. min. + bldg setback
(h.2) Side Setback 3 ft. or 6 ft at corner
(h.3) Rear Setback 3 ft. min

PRIVATE FRONTAGES
Common Lawn permitted
Porch & Fence  or Dooryard permitted

Terrace or Lightwell  
Forecourt   
Stoop   
Shopfront   
Gallery   
Arcade   

PARKING MINIMUMS
See Table 6E & Chapter 6

 *or 15 ft. from center line of alley

BUILDING HEIGHT

1. Building height shall be 
measured in number of 
stories, excluding attics and 
raised basements.

2. Stories may not exceed 14 
feet	in	height	from	finished	
floor to finished ceiling, 
except	for	a	first	floor	com-
mercial function which shall 
be a minumum of 11 ft with a 
maximum of 25 feet.

3. Height shall be measured 
to the eave or roof deck.

SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BLDG

1. The facades and elevations 
of Principal Buildings shall 
be distanced from the lot 
lines as shown. 

2. Facades shall be built out 
along the Principal Frontage 
to	 the	 minimum	 specified	
width in the table.

SETBACKS -  OUTBUILDING

1. The elevations of the Out-
building shall be distanced 
from the lot lines as shown.

PARKING PLACEMENT

1. Uncovered parking spaces 
may be provided within the 
second and third layer as 
shown in the diagram.

2. Covered parking shall be 
provided within the third 
layer as shown in the dia-
gram. Side- or rear-entry 
garages may be permitted 
in	the	first	or	second	layer	
by Warrant.

TABLE 7B. SUMMARY OF T3

N

1 

Max. height

1 

2  

(g.1)

(g.2)

(g.3)

(h.2)

(h.1)

(h.2)

(g.1)

(h.1)

Secondary Frontage

Pr
inc

ipa
l F

ro
nta

ge

2nd 
Layer

1st
Layer

3rd 
Layer

20 ft

Max. height

(g.4) Corner Lot
Condition

Mid-Block
Condition

(h.3)

(g.4)

(h.3)

Corner Lot
Condition

Mid-Block
Condition



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC64

T4

(see Table 1B)

BUILDING FUNCTION (see Table 6E & Table 6F)
Residential limited use
Lodging limited use
Office limited use
Retail limited use

BUILDING HEIGHT (see Table 6B) 
Principal Building 3 stories max
Outbuilding 2 stories max.
LOT OCCUPATION  
Lot Width 18 ft min 96 ft max
Lot Coverage 70% max

BUILDING PLACEMENT (see Table 6A)
Detached permitted
Semi-Detached permitted
Attached permitted
Courtyard   

SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BUILDING
(g.1) Front Setback Principal 6 ft. min. 20 ft. max.
(g.2) Front Setback Secondary 6 ft. min. 20 ft. max
(g.3) Side Setback 0 ft. min.
(g.4) Rear Setback 3 ft. min.*
Frontage Buildout 60% min at setback

SETBACKS - OUTBUILDING
(h.1) Front Setback 20 ft. min. + bldg. setback
(h.2) Side Setback 3 ft. min. or 6 ft at corner
(h.3) Rear Setback 3 ft. min

PRIVATE FRONTAGES (see Table 6C)
Common Lawn permitted
Porch & Fence  or Dooryard permitted
Terrace or Lightwell permitted
Forecourt permitted
Stoop permitted
Shopfront permitted
Gallery permitted
Arcade   

PARKING MINIMUMS
See Table 6E & Chapter 6

 *or 15 ft. from center line of alley
 

TABLE 7C.  SUMMARY OF T4

BUILDING HEIGHT

1. Building height shall be 
measured in number of 
stories, excluding attics and 
raised basements.

2. Stories may not exceed 14 
feet	in	height	from	finished	
floor to finished ceiling, 
except	for	a	first	floor	com-
mercial function which shall 
be a minumum of 11 ft with a 
maximum of 25 feet.

3. Height shall be measured 
to the eave or roof deck.

SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BLDG

1. The facades and elevations 
of Principal Buildings shall 
be distanced from the lot 
lines as shown. 

2. Facades shall be built out 
along the Principal Frontage 
to	 the	 minimum	 specified	
width in the table.

SETBACKS -  OUTBUILDING

1. The elevations of the Out-
building shall be distanced 
from the lot lines as shown.

PARKING PLACEMENT

1. Uncovered parking spaces 
may be provided within the 
second and third layer as 
shown in the diagram.

2. Covered parking shall be 
provided within the third 
layer as shown in the 
diagram. 

2 

1 

N 

2nd 
Layer

1st
Layer

3rd 
Layer

Secondary Frontage

Pr
inc

ipa
l F

ro
nta

ge

Max. height

(g.1)

(g.1)

(g.2)

(g.3)

(h.2)

(h.1)

(h.2)

(h.1)

20 ft

1 

2

(g.4)

(g.4)

Corner Lot
Condition

Mid-Block
Condition

Corner Lot
Condition

Mid-Block
Condition

Max. height



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC65

T5

(see Table 1B)

BUILDING FUNCTION (see Table 6E & Table 6F)
Residential open use
Lodging open use
Office open use
Retail open use

BUILDING HEIGHT (see Table 6B) 
Principal Building 4 stories max.
Outbuilding 2 stories max.
LOT OCCUPATION  
Lot Width no min, 180 ft max
Lot Coverage 80% max

BUILDING PLACEMENT (see Table 6A)
Detached   
Semi-Detached permitted
Attached permitted
Courtyard permitted

SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BUILDING
(g.1) Front Setback Principal 0 ft. min. 12 ft. max.
(g.2) Front Setback Secondary 0 ft. min. 12 ft. max.
(g.3) Side Setback 0 ft. min. 24 ft. max.
(g.4) Rear Setback 3 ft. min.*
Frontage Buildout 80% min at setback

SETBACKS - OUTBUILDING
(h.1) Front Setback 40 ft. max. from rear lot line

(h.2) Side Setback 3 ft. min. or 6 ft at corner
(h.3) Rear Setback 3 ft. min.

PRIVATE FRONTAGES (see Table 6C)
Common Lawn    
Porch & Fence or Dooryard    
Terrace or Lightwell permitted
Forecourt permitted
Stoop permitted
Shopfront permitted
Gallery permitted
Arcade permitted

PARKING MINIMUMS
See Table 6E & Chapter 6

 *or 15 ft. from center line of alley
 

TABLE 7D.  SUMMARY OF T5

BUILDING CONFIGURATION
1. Building height shall be 

measured in number of 
stories, excluding attics and 
raised basements.

2. Stories may not exceed 14 
feet	in	height	from	finished	
floor to finished ceiling, 
except	for	a	first	floor	Com-
mercial function which must 
be a minumum of 11 ft with 
a maximum of 25 ft.

3. Height shall be measured 
to the eave or roof deck as 
specified	on	Table	6B.

4. Expression Lines shall be as 
shown on Table 6B.

SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BLDG

1. The facades and elevations 
of Principal Buildings shall 
be distanced from the lot 
lines as shown. 

2. Facades shall be built out 
along the Principal Frontage 
to	 the	 minimum	 specified	
width in the table.

SETBACKS - OUTBUILDING

1. The elevations of the Out-
building shall be distanced 
from the lot lines as shown.

PARKING PLACEMENT

1. Uncovered parking spaces 
may be provided within the 
third layer as shown in the 
diagram. 

2. Covered parking shall be 
provided within the third 
layer as shown in the 
diagram.

1 

2 
2

1 

3 

40 ft. max. 

4

Pr
inc

ipa
l F

ro
nta

ge

Secondary Frontage

Max. height

Max. height

2nd 
Layer

1st
Layer

3rd 
Layer

20 ft

(g.1)

(g.1)

(g.2)

(g.3)

(g.4)

(h.1)

(h.2)

(g.4)

(h.1)

(h.3)

Corner Lot
Condition

Mid-Block
Condition

Corner Lot
Condition

Mid-Block
Condition



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC66

T6

(see Table 1B)

BUILDING FUNCTION (see Table 6E & Table 6F)
Residential open use
Lodging open use
Office open use
Retail open use

BUILDING HEIGHT (see Table 6B) 
Principal Building 8 stories max., 2 stories min
Outbuilding
LOT OCCUPATION  

Lot Area no min
Lot Coverage 100% max

BUILDING PLACEMENT (see Table 6A)
Detached  
Semi-Detached  
Attached permitted
Courtyard permitted

SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BUILDING
(g.1) Front Setback Principal 0 ft. min. 12 ft. max.
(g.2) Front Setback Secondary 0 ft. min. 12 ft. max.
(g.3) Side Setback 0 ft. min. 24 ft. max.
(g.4) Rear Setback 0 ft. min.
Frontage Buildout 80% min. at setback

SETBACKS - OUTBUILDING
Front Setback 
Side Setback 
Rear Setback 

PRIVATE FRONTAGES (see Table 6C)
Common Lawn  
Porch & Fence or Dooryard  
Terrace or Lightwell  
Forecourt permitted
Stoop permitted
Shopfront permitted
Gallery permitted
Arcade permitted

PARKING PROVISIONS
See Table 6E & Chapter 6

 *or 15 ft. from center line of alley
 

TABLE 7E.  SUMMARY OF T6

BUILDING CONFIGURATION
1. Building height shall be 

measured in number of 
stories, excluding attics and 
raised basements.

2. Stories may not exceed 
14 feet in height from 
finished	 floor	 to	 finished	
ceiling,	 except	 for	 a	 first	
floor	Commercial	Function	
which must be a minumum 
of 11 ft with with a maximum 
of 25 ft.

3. Height shall be measured 
to the eave or roof deck.

4. Stepbacks, Recess Lines, 
and Extension Lines shall 
be as shown on Table 6B.

SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BLDG

1. The facades and elevations 
of Principal Buildings shall 
be distanced from the lot 
lines as shown. 

2. Facades shall be built out 
along the Principal Frontage 
to	 the	 minimum	 specified	
width in the table.

PARKING PLACEMENT

1. Uncovered parking spaces 
may be provided within the 
third layer as shown in the 
diagram .

2. Covered parking shall be 
provided within the third 
layer as shown in the 
diagram.

Max. 
height

1 

N 

5 

4 

3 

2 min. 

2nd 
Layer

3rd 
Layer

1st 
Layer

Pr
inc

ipa
l F

ro
nta

ge

SecondaryFrontage

(g.1)

(g.1)

(g.2)

(g.3)

Corner Lot
Condition

Mid-Block
Condition

Corner Lot
Condition

Mid-Block
Condition

20 ft

** What is SD 1?  keep?



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC67

The	metrics	for	each	column	of	this	table	(SD1,	SD2,	etc.)	are	to	be	filled	in	for	each	Special	District	as	they	currently	exist,	or	as	they	are	permitted.
More pages can be added. Special Districts that do not have provisions within this Code shall be governed by the standards of the pre-existing zoning. 

a.   ALLOCATION OF ZONES  
CLD 
TND
RCD

b.   BASE RESIDENTIAL DENSITY 
By Right
By TDR
Other Functions

c. BLOCK SIZE
Block Perimeter

d. THOROUGHFARES   
HW  & RR  
BV
SR
RS  
SS & AV
CS

Rear Lane
Rear Alley
Path  
Passage
Bicycle Trail  
Bicycle Lane
Bicycle Route

e. CIVIC SPACES   
Park
Green
Square
Plaza
Playground

f. LOT OCCUPATION
Lot Area

PL
AC

EM
EN

T

Lot Coverage

g. SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BUILDING 
Front Setback
Side Setback
Rear Setback

h. BUILDING PLACEMENT (see Table 6A)
Detached
Semi-Detached
Attached

i. PRIVATE FRONTAGES  (see Table 6C)
Common Yard

FO
RM

Porch & Fence
Terrace, Dooryard
Forecourt
Stoop
Shopfront  permitted
Gallery
Arcade
Parking Lot

j. BUILDING HEIGHT (see Table 6B)
Principal Building
Outbuilding

k. BUILDING FUNCTION (see Table 6E and Table 6F)
Residential

FU
NC

TI
ON

Lodging
Office
Retail

SD1  SD2  SD3 SD4 SD5 SD6 SD7

TABLE 7F. SPECIAL DISTRICT SUMMARY

** What is SD 1?  keep?



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC68

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

8.1   DEFINITIONS 
This	 Chapter	 provides	 definitions	 for	 terms	 in	 this	 Code	 that	 are	 technical	 in	 nature	 or	
that	otherwise	may	not	reflect	a	common	usage	of	the	term.	If	a	term	is	not	defined	in	this	
Chapter, then the Planning Director	shall	determine	the	correct	definition.	Terms	that	are	
capitalized	within	Definitions	are	also	defined	in	this	Chapter.
 
Accessory Building: an Outbuilding with an Accessory Unit. 
Accessory Unit: an Apartment sharing ownership and utility connections with a Principal 
Building, either within an Outbuilding or within the Principal Building. See Table 6F and 
Table 8A. 
Address Sign: a sign, generally applied to a building wall, that displays a building’s address. 
Allee: a regularly spaced and aligned row of trees usually planted along a Thoroughfare 
or Path.
American Vignola: The American Vignola	by	William	Ware,	first	published	in	1903.
Ancillary Roof: a roof secondary to the roof of the Principal Building.
Apartment: a Residential unit sharing a building and a Lot with other units and/or uses; may 
be for rent, or for sale as a condominium.
Apex: the highest point of a sign as measured from the point on the ground where its 
structure is located, or, if no sign structure is present, from the point on the ground directly 
below the sign itself. 
Arcade: a Private Frontage conventional for Retail use wherein the Facade is a colonnade 
supporting habitable space that overlaps the Sidewalk, while the Facade at Sidewalk level 
remains at the Frontage Line.
A-Street: a designation for a Thoroughfare that is walkable, in comparison with a B-Street 
or a C-Street.
Attached: characterizing a building that occupies the full Frontage Line and is attached to 
another of the same type, usually leaving the rear of the Lot as the principal yard. See Table 6A. 
Attic: the interior part of a building contained within a pitched roof structure.
Avenue (AV): a Thoroughfare of high vehicular capacity and low to moderate  speed, 
acting	as	a	short	distance	connector	between	urban	centers,	and	usually	equipped	with	a	
landscaped median. 
Awning Sign: lettering applied directly on the Valance or other vertical portion of an awning.
Backbuilding: a single-Story structure connecting a Principal Building to an Outbuilding. 
See Table 8A.
Band Sign: a	sign	that	is	attached	flat	on	the	exterior	front,	rear	or	side	wall	of	any	building	
or other structure. 
Bed and Breakfast: an owner-occupied Lodging type, serving breakfast in the mornings 
to guests. 
Bicycle Box: a section of pavement designed to give bicyclists using a Bicycle Lane a head 
start at signalized intersections. A Bicycle Box is often colored and includes a standard white 
bicycle pavement marking. It improves visibility between motorists turning right and cyclists 
traveling through the intersection.  



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC69

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS

Bicycle Lane (BL): a dedicated lane for cycling within a moderate-speed vehicular Thor-
oughfare, demarcated by striping. 
Bicycle Locker: an enclosed and secured locker that provides bicycle parking for long 
term use. 
Bicycle Route (BR): a Thoroughfare suitable for the shared use of bicycles and automobiles 
moving at low speeds. 
Bicycle Shelter: a roofed shelter that provides multiple bicycle racks for public use. 
Bicycle Station: a building that provides self-service, attended indoor valet, or automated 
bicycle parking services, often accompanied by showers, lockers, bicycle repair and rental 
facilities. 
Bicycle Trail (BT): a Bikeway running independently of a vehicular Thoroughfare. 
Bikeway: any designated Thoroughfare or part of a Thoroughfare for bicycling.  
See Bicycle Lane, Bicycle Route, and Bicycle Trail. 
Blade Sign: a sign mounted on the building Facade, projecting at a 90-degree angle. 
Block: the aggregate of private Lots, Passages, Rear Alleys and Rear Lanes, circumscribed 
by Thoroughfares.
Block Face: the aggregate of all the building Facades on one side of a Block.
Boulevard:  a Thoroughfare designed for high vehicular capacity and moderate speed, 
traversing	an	Urbanized	area.	Boulevards	are	usually	equipped	with	access	lanes	buffering	
Sidewalks and buildings. 
B-Street: a designation for a Thoroughfare that has some automobile-oriented frontages 
but is still generally walkable in comparison with a C-Street.
Buffered Bicycle Lane: a Bicycle Lane separated from vehicular travel and/or parking lanes 
by striped pavement markings which function as a buffer. 
Bungalow: a Detached building type, one or one and a half stories.
By Right: characterizing a proposal or component of a proposal for a plan that complies 
with this code and is processed and permitted administratively, without public hearing. See 
Exception, Variance, and Warrant. 
C-Street: a designation for a Thoroughfare that has automobile-oriented frontages, and is 
not walkable in comparison with an A-Street or a B-Street.
Channel Letters: removable	letters	that	fit	into	channels	on	a	sign	or	Marquee.
Civic:	pertaining	to	not-for-profit	organizations	dedicated	to	arts,	culture,	education,	religion,	
recreation, government, transit, or municipal parking.
Civic Building: a building occupying a special physical place in the community and oper-
ated	by	not-for-profit	organizations	dedicated	to	arts,	culture,	education,	religion,	recreation,	
government, or transit, or for use approved by the legislative body. 
Civic Parking Reserve:	parking	structure	or	parking	 lot	within	a	quarter-mile	of	 the	site	
that it serves. 
Civic Space: an outdoor area dedicated for public use. See Table 3F.
Civic Zone: designation for public sites dedicated for Civic Buildings and Civic Space. 
CLD: Clustered Land Development.



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC70

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

Clearance: the	height	above	the	walkway,	or	other	surface	if	specified,	of	the	bottom	edge	
of an element. 
Clustered Land Development: one of the Community Units regulated in this Code, a small 
settlement usually standing free in the countryside.
Commercial:	the	term	collectively	defining	Office,	Retail,	and	Lodging		Functions.	
Common Yard: a planted Private Frontage wherein the Facade is set back from the Front-
age line. It is visually continuous with adjacent yards. See Table 6C.
Community Unit:  a regulatory category for the physical form, density, and extent of a 
settlement. The three Community Unit types addressed in this Code are CLD, TND, and 
RCD.	Variants	for	redevelopment	and	Infill	are	called	Infill	CLD,	Infill	TND,	and	Infill	RCD.
Concept Plan:	the	first	plan	required	for	a	New	Community,	Infill,	or	Participating	Parcel	
proposal. 
Conventional Development Sector:  the aggregate of the land areas on the Leander Sector 
Map that permit the option to develop in the form of CLD or TND Community Units, but are 
otherwise regulated by the Composite Zoning Ordinance.
Cornice:	a	horizontal	or	sloped	decorative	molding	that	edges	or	crowns	a	roofline,	door,	
window, portico, etc. In addition to its ornamental function, it can help throw rainwater away 
from the building.
Corridor: a lineal geographic system incorporating transportation and/or Greenway trajec-
tories. 
Cottage: a Detached Building type. A single-family dwelling, on a regular Lot, often shared 
with an Accessory Building in the back yard.
Cottage Industry: artisan activities in the Principal Building, Outbuilding, or back yard. See 
Table 6E and Table 6F.
Courtyard Building:	a	building	that	occupies	the	boundaries	of	its	Lot	while	internally	defin-
ing one or more private patios. See Table 6A. 
Curb:	the	edge	of	the	vehicular	pavement	that	may	be	raised	or	flush	to	a	Swale.	It	usually	
incorporates the drainage system. See Table 3C and Table 3D.
CVPC: Chlorinated polyvinyl chloride.
Detached: characterizing a building that occupies the center of its Lot with Setbacks on all 
sides. See Table 6A.
Dooryard: a Private Frontage type with a shallow Setback and front garden or patio, usually with 
a low wall at the Frontage Line. See Table 6C. 
Dormer: a window set vertically in a structure that protrudes from a sloped roof, or the roofed 
structure containing such a window. 
Drive: a Thoroughfare along the boundary between an Urbanized and a natural condition, 
usually along a waterfront, Park, or promontory. One side has the urban character of a 
Thoroughfare,	with	Sidewalk	and	building,	while	the	other	has	the	qualities	of	a	Road	or	
parkway, with naturalistic planting and rural details. 
Driveway: a vehicular lane within a Lot, often leading to a garage. See Section 4.7 and 
Table 3B-F.
Effective Turning Radius: the measurement of the inside Turning Radius taking parked 



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC71

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

cars into account. See Table 8A.
EIFS: Exterior Insulation Finishing System.
Elevation: an exterior wall of a building not along a Frontage Line. See: Facade. See Table 8A. 
Encroach: to break the plane of a vertical or horizontal regulatory limit with a structural 
element, so that it extends into a Setback, into the Public Frontage, or above a height limit.
Encroachment: any structural element that breaks the plane of a vertical or horizontal 
regulatory limit, extending into a Setback, into the Public Frontage, or above a height limit.
Enfront:	placed	along	or	parallel	to	a	Frontage,	as	in	“porches	enfront	the	street.”
Entasis: The diminution of a column beginning at a point 1/3 up the shaft and ending at the 
neck, which is 5/6 the diameter of the column at its base. See also The American Vignola.
Exception:		a	ruling	that	would	permit	a	practice	that	is	not	consistent	with	a	specific	provi-
sion of this Code nor its Intent (Section 1.3). See Variance. 
Facade: the exterior wall of a building that is set along or parallel to a Frontage Line. See Elevation.
Fascia: a horizontal band forming the vertical face of a cornice under a roof edge.
Fly Ash:	one	of	the	residues	generated	in	combustion	that	comprises	the	fine	particles	rising	
with	the	flue	gases.
Forecourt: a Private Frontage wherein a portion of the Facade is close to the Frontage Line 
and the central portion is set back. See Table 6C.
Frontage: the area between a building Facade and the vehicular lanes, inclusive of its built 
and planted components. Frontage is divided into Private Frontage and Public Frontage.  
See Table 3C and Table 6C.
Frontage Buildout: the percentage of Lot width occupied by the width of the building Facade.
Frontage Line: a Lot line bordering a Public Frontage. Facades facing Frontage Lines 
define	the	public	realm	and	are	therefore	more	regulated	than	the	Elevations	facing	other	
Lot lines. See Table 8A.
Function: the use or uses accommodated by a building and its Lot, categorized as Restricted, 
Limited, or Open, according to the intensity of the use. See Table 6E and Table 6F.
Gallery: a Private Frontage conventional for Retail use wherein the Facade is aligned close 
to the Frontage Line with an attached cantilevered shed or lightweight colonnade overlapping 
the Sidewalk. See Table 6C.
General Sector: the S-1 Sector on the Leander Sector Map.
Green:	 a	Civic	Space	 type	 for	unstructured	 recreation,	 spatially	defined	by	 landscaping	
rather than building Frontages. See Table 3F.
Hammerhead: a type of dead-end thoroughfare with one or two short extensions.
Head Casing: the trim over the horizontal structural member spanning an opening.
Home Occupation: non-Retail workplace enterprises. See Table 6E.
House: a Detached Building type, usually a single-family dwelling on a large Lot, often shared 
with an Accessory Building in the back yard. 
Infill:  noun - new development on land that had been previously developed, including 
smaller	greyfield	and	brownfield	sites	and	cleared	land	within	Urbanized	areas.	verb - to 



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC72

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

develop such areas. 
Inn:  a Lodging type, owner-occupied, offering 6 to 12 bedrooms, permitted to serve breakfast 
in the mornings to guests. See Table 6E.
Layer: a range of depth of a Lot within which certain elements are permitted. See Table 8A.
Lightwell:  A Private Frontage type that is a below-grade entrance or recess designed to 
allow light into basements. See Table 6C. 
Linear Pedestrian Shed: an elongated Pedestrian Shed that is used for planning along an 
important Mixed Use Corridor such as a main street. It extends approximately 1/4 mile from 
each side of the Corridor for up to a mile in length, in a lozenge shape. See Pedestrian Shed.
Liner Building:	a	building	specifically	designed	to	mask	a	parking	lot	or	a	Parking	Structure	
from a Frontage. 
Live-Work: a Mixed Use unit consisting of a Commercial and Residential Function.The Com-
mercial Function may be anywhere in the unit. It is intended to be occupied by a business 
operator who lives in the same structure that contains the Commercial activity or industry. 
See Work-Live. 
Lodging: premises available for daily and weekly renting of bedrooms. See Table 6E and 
Table 6F.
Long Pedestrian Shed: a Pedestrian Shed that is 1/2 mile radius, used for planning when 
a transit station is present or proposed as a walking destination of approximately 10-15 
minutes. See Pedestrian Shed.
Lot:	a	parcel	of	land	accommodating	a	building	or	buildings	of	unified	design.	
Lot Line: the boundary that legally and geometrically demarcates a Lot.
Lot Width: the measurement of the Principal Frontage Line of a Lot.
Main Civic Space: the primary outdoor gathering place for a community. 
Manufacturing: premises available for the creation, assemblage and/or repair of artifacts, 
using	table-mounted	electrical	machinery	or	artisanal	equipment,	and	including	their	Retail	
sale.
Marquee: a structural feature of a building that provides shelter and sign space. 
Massing: the general size and shape of a building.
Meeting Hall: a building available for gatherings, including conferences. 
Message Board: a sign with changeable text. Non-electronic Message Boards typically 
consist of letters attached to a surface within a transparent display case. Electronic Message 
Boards	typically	have	a	fixed	or	changing	message	composed	of	a	series	of	lights.
Mixed Use: multiple	Functions	within	the	same	building	on	different	floors	or	by	adjacency,	
or in multiple buildings by adjacency or proximity.
Mullion: a structural member joining windows and/or doors in a single structural opening.
Muntin: a structural member supporting individual panes of glass in a single sash or window.
Nameplate: a sign consisting of either a panel or individual letters applied to a building, 
listing the names of businesses or building tenants.
New Community: a Walkable settlement intended for a land area that was previously 
undeveloped, or that has been cleared for new development.



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC73

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

Office: premises available for the transaction of general business but excluding Retail, 
artisanal and Manufacturing uses. See Table 6E.
Old Town Sector: the S-3 Sector on the Leander Sector Map, delineating the traditional 
urbanized area of Old Town.
Open Space: land intended to remain undeveloped or adapted as Civic Space.
Outbuilding: an Accessory Building, usually located toward the rear of the same Lot as a 
Principal Building, and sometimes connected to the Principal Building by a Backbuilding. 
See Table 8A.
Outdoor Display Case: a sign consisting of a lockable metal or wood framed cabinet with 
a transparent window or windows, mounted onto a building wall or freestanding support. It 
allows the contents, such as menus or maps, to be maintained and kept current. 
Park: a Civic Space type that is a natural preserve available for unstructured recreation. 
See Table 3F. 
Parking Structure: a building containing one or more Stories of parking above grade. 
Passage: a pedestrian connector, open or roofed, that passes between buildings to provide 
shortcuts through long Blocks and connect rear parking areas to Frontages. 
Participating Parcel:	a	land	area	smaller	than	the	minimum	required	for	a	Community	Unit	
in its Sector, which can nevertheless contribute to a Concept Plan. See Section 1.4.1. and 
Section 4.4.
Path: a pedestrian way traversing a Park or rural area, or alongside a Road, ideally connect-
ing directly with the urban Sidewalk network. 
Pedestrian Shed: a land area that is centered on a common destination such as a Main 
Civic Space or a transit station. Its size is related to the average walking distance for the 
applicable	Community	Unit	type.	Pedestrian	Sheds	are	used	to	plan	communities.	See	specific	
types Linear Pedestrian Shed, Long Pedestrian Shed, and Standard Pedestrian Shed. 
Peg-a-Track: parallel dashed pavement markings that continue a Bicycle Lane through an 
intersection. 
Physically-Separated Bicycle Lane:  a uni- or bi-directional Bicycle Lane separated from the 
motor vehicle travel lanes by Curbs, railings, plantings, parked cars, and/or grade separation. 
Planter: the element of the Public Frontage which accommodates street trees, whether 
continuous or individual.
Plaza: a Civic Space type designed for Civic purposes and Commercial activities in the 
more	urban	Transect	Zones,	generally	paved	and	spatially	defined	by	building	Frontages.	
Pork Chop Return: triangular piece of trim at the bottom of a sloped fascia or cornice.
Principal Building: the main building on a Lot, usually located toward the Frontage. See 
Table 8A.
Principal Entrance: the main point of access for pedestrians into a building.
Principal Frontage: On corner Lots, the Private Frontage designated to bear the address 
and Principal Entrance to the building, and the measure of Lot Width. Prescriptions for the 
parking	Layers	pertain	only	to	the	Principal	Frontage.	Prescriptions	for	the	first	Layer	pertain	
to both Frontages of a corner Lot. See Frontage. 
Private Frontage: the privately held Layer between the Frontage Line and the Principal 



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC74

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

Building Facade. See Table 6C and Table 8A.
Public Frontage: the area between the outer edge of the Vehicular Lanes and the Frontage 
Line. See Table 3C and Table 3D.
RCD: Regional Center Development.
Rear Alley: a more urban vehicular way located to the rear of Lots providing access to service 
areas, parking, and Outbuildings, and containing utility easements.
Rear Lane: a more rural vehicular way located to the rear of Lots providing access to service 
areas, parking, and Outbuildings, and containing utility easements.
Regional Center Development: one of the Community Units regulated in this Code, con-
stituting a high-density town or downtown with rail transit. 
Residential: characterizing premises available for long-term human dwelling. 
Retail: characterizing premises available for the sale of merchandise and food service. See 
Table 6E and Table 6F.
Retail Frontage:	Frontage	designated	on	a	Transect	Map	that	requires	or	recommends	the	
provision of a Shopfront, encouraging the ground level to be available for Retail use. See 
Section 3.3.
Road: a Thoroughfare of rural character and low-to-moderate vehicular speed and capacity.  
See Table 3C.
Secondary Frontage: on corner Lots, the Private Frontage that is not the Principal Frontage. 
As	it	affects	the	public	realm,	its	first	Layer	is	regulated.	See Table 8A.
Semi-Detached: characterizing a building that occupies one side of the Lot with a Setback 
on the other side, attached to another of the same type on the adjacent Lot. See Table 6A. 
Setback: the area of a Lot measured from the Lot line to a building Facade or Elevation that 
is maintained clear of permanent structures, with the exception of Encroachments listed in 
Section 5.7. See Table 8A.
Shed Awning: an awning with two short sides in addition to the main canopy. 
Shingle Sign:	a	small	Blade	Sign	usually	mounted	on	the	ground	floor	level,	displaying	a	
building’s professional tenant directory.
Shopfront:  a Private Frontage conventional for Retail use, with substantial glazing and an 
awning, wherein the Facade is aligned close to the Frontage Line with the building entrance 
at Sidewalk grade. See Table 6C.
Sidewalk: the paved section of the Public Frontage dedicated exclusively to pedestrian activity. 
Sidewalk Sign: a movable freestanding sign that is typically double-sided, placed at the 
entrance to a business to attract pedestrians. 
Sideyard Building: a building that occupies one side of the Lot with a setback on the other 
side. This type can be Detached or Semi-Detached depending on whether it abuts the neigh-
boring house. See Table 6A.
Signband: the	horizontal	signage	area	on	a	Valance	or	Marquee.	
Soffit: the underside of an overhanging roof eave.
Square: a Civic Space type designed for unstructured recreation and Civic purposes, spatially 
defined	by	building	Frontages	and	consisting	of	Paths,	lawns	and	trees,	formally	disposed.	



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC75

See Table 3F.
Standard Pedestrian Shed: a Pedestrian Shed that is an average 1/4 mile radius, about the 
distance of a 5-7 minute walk at a leisurely pace. See Pedestrian Shed.
Stoop: a Private Frontage wherein the Facade is aligned close to the Frontage Line with 
the	first	Story	elevated	from	the	Sidewalk	for	privacy,	with	an	exterior	stair	and	landing	at	the	
entrance. See Table 6C.
Story: a habitable level within a building, excluding an Attic or raised basement. See Table 6B. 
Street: a local Thoroughfare of urban character and low speed and capacity. See Table 3C 
and Table 3D.
Substantial Modification: alteration to a building that is valued at more than 50% of the 
replacement cost of the entire building, if new.
Subzone: a subordinate zoning category created for a new Community Plan that creates one 
or more distinctions within a Transect Zone. See Section 4.5. 
Swale: a low or slightly depressed natural area for drainage.
Target Speed: the velocity at which a Thoroughfare tends to be driven without the constraints 
of signage or enforcement. See Table 3A. 
Terminated Vista: a location at the axial conclusion of a Thoroughfare. 
Thoroughfare:	a	way	for	use	by	vehicular,	bicycle,	and/or	pedestrian	traffic	and	to	provide	
access to Lots and Open Spaces, consisting of Vehicular Lanes and the Public Frontage. See 
Chapter 3 and Table 8A.
TND: Traditional Neighborhood Development.
Traditional Neighborhood Development:  one of the Community Units regulated in this 
Code, constituting a village standing free in the countryside, or a contiguous neighborhood,  
with its own mixed use neighborhood center.
Traditional Development Sector: the S1 Sector, the S2 Sector, or the S3 Sector, reserved 
for present and future traditional walkable development patterns.
Transect: a cross-section of or path through the environment showing a range of different 
habitats. The rural-urban Transect of the human environment used in this code is divided into 
six Transect Zones. These zones describe the physical form and character of a place, accord-
ing to the density and intensity of its land use and Urbanism. 
Transect Zone: One of several areas on a zoning map regulated by this code. Transect 
Zones are administratively similar to the land use zones in conventional codes, except that 
in	addition	to	the	usual	building	use,	height,	and	Setback	requirements,	other	elements	of	
the intended habitat are integrated, including those of the private Lot and building and Public 
Frontage. See Table 1C.
Transect Map:		the	official	map	or	maps	that	are	part	of	the	zoning	ordinance	and	that	delin-
eates	the	Transect	Zones,	Civic	Zones,	Special	Districts	if	any,	and	Special	Requirements	if	
any, of areas subject to, or potentially subject to, regulation by this Code.
Transit Sector: the S-2 Sector  on the Leander Sector Map, the land area within the approxi-
mate walking distance of the Leander rail station. 
Turning Radius: the curved edge of a Thoroughfare at an intersection, measured at the inside 
edge of the vehicular tracking. The smaller the Turning Radius, the smaller the pedestrian 

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS



DRAFT LEANDER SMARTCODE

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r L i e n /  Sm a rt C o d e LoC aL & miC h a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u St r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5SC76

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

crossing distance and the more slowly the vehicle is forced to make the turn. See Table 3B 
and Table 8A.
Urbanism: collective term for the condition of a compact, Mixed Use settlement, including 
the physical form of its development and its environmental, functional, economic, social, 
and cultural aspects.
Urbanized: developed at T3 (Sub-Urban) intensity or higher.
Valance: the portion of an awning that hangs perpendicular to the Sidewalk. 
Variance: a ruling that would permit a practice that is not consistent with a provision of this 
Code.	A	Warranted	Variance	(“Warrant”)	permits	a	practice	that	is	consistent	with	the	Intent	
section (Section 1.3),	whereas	an	Exceptional	Variance	(“Exception”)	permits	a	practice	that	
is not. See Exception and Warrant. See Section 1.5.
Vehicular Lanes:	lanes	intended	for	vehicular	traffic	and	bicycles,	whether	traveling	or	parked.	
View Corridor: a opening along a thoroughfare or between buildings to maintain a scenic view.
Walkable: an urban planning term characterizing a place, such as a street, that is safe and 
pleasant for walking, or an area, such as a neighborhood, that contains residences and 
useful destinations within walking distance of each other.
Warrant:	a	ruling	that	would	permit	a	practice	that	is	not	consistent	with	a	specific	provision	
of	this	Code,	but	that	is	justified	by	Intent	(Section 1.3). See Variance.
Window Sign: a sign placed or painted on the interior of a Shopfront window or the window 
of a business door.
Yard Sign: a permanent freestanding sign in the Private Frontage, including a supporting 
post or posts. 
Yield:	characterizing	a	Thoroughfare	that	has	two-way	traffic	but	only	one	effective	travel	
lane because of parked cars, necessitating slow movement and driver negotiation. Also, 
characterizing parking on such a Thoroughfare.



LEANDER SMARTCODE DRAFT

Le a nd e r Sm a rtCo d e v2.0 a d a p t e d b y Sa n d y So r Li e n /  Sm a rt Co d e LoCaL & miCh a eL Wat k i n S ar C hi t e C t.  iL L u S t r at i o nS b y dpZ & Co. f ro m Sm a rtCo d e v9.5 SC77

   

Thoroughfare (R.O.W.)

a. THOROUGHFARE & FRONTAGES

1-Pavement Radius at the Curb
2-Effective Pavement Radius 
(+8 ft)

b. TURNING RADIUS

1 - Frontage Line 
2 - Lot Line 
3 - Facades 
4 - Elevations 

d. FRONTAGE & LOT LINES 

1st layer

2nd layer

3rd layer

20
 fe

et

e. LOT LAYERS

1 - Principal Building
2 - Backbuilding
3 - Outbuilding

f. BUILDING PLACEMENT

BuildingPrivate 
Frontage

Public 
Frontage

Vehicular 
Lanes

Public 
Frontage

Private 
Frontage

Building

Private LotPrivate Lot

Pa
rki

ng
 La

ne

Mo
vin

g L
an

e

1

2

1

1

2

33

2
4

3

3

4 4

1

1

3

1

4 4

g. SETBACK DESIGNATIONS

1

1

1-Front Setback
2-Side Setback
3-Rear Setback

3 3

1

2

2

c. PEDESTRIAN SHED (STANDARD AND NETWORK)

1s
t la

ye
r

2n
d &

 3r
d

 la
ye

r

Principal Frontage

Se
co

nd
ar

y F
ro

nta
ge

TABLE 8A. DEFINITIONS ILLUSTRATED



DRAFT 4-29-14 
PROPOSED STANDARDS FOR THE CONVENTIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
SECTOR (CD) - (IN ADDITION TO THE STANDARDS IN THE COMPOSITE 
ZONING ORDINANCE) 
 
1.     INSTRUCTIONS 
 
1.1 The following standards apply to the land areas marked Conventional 

Development Sector (“CD Sector”) on the Leander Sector Map. The provisions of 
the Composite Zoning Ordinance and these CD Sector Standards shall apply to the 
CD Sector. When in conflict, the CD Sector Standards shall prevail. 

 
1.2 The Conventional Development Sector allows conventional single-use and mixed-use 

development with some basic design standards to provide a transition to adjacent 
neighborhoods and pedestrian-oriented communities, and for the possibility of future 
retrofit of the area to a more pedestrian-oriented pattern. 

 
1.3  As an option to replace the Composite Zoning Ordinance in the CD Sector, developers 

may use the Leander SmartCode to design communities in the pattern of Clustered 
Land Development (CLD) or Traditional Neighborhood Development (TND) as 
provided in Article 4 of the SmartCode. If the SmartCode is elected, it shall be 
applied in its entirety for the CLD or TND, and not mixed with another code. 

 
2.     STREETS 
 
2.1 STREET TYPES 
 Streets in the CD Sector are designated as A-Streets, B-Streets or C-Streets. A-Streets 

provide the highest level of pedestrian amenities and are intended to provide a 
walkable connection between commercial and residential uses.  B-Streets are more 
automobile-oriented, but still provide pedestrian amenities and limit the amount of 
surface parking between buildings and the street.  C-Streets are the most automobile-
oriented and provide for significant amounts of surface parking between buildings and 
the public right-of-way.  

 
2.2 ALLOCATION OF A-STREET, B-STREETS AND C-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL ZONING 

DISTRICTS 
Each quadrant of Town Center, Community Center or Neighborhood Center nodes as 
designated in the Comprehensive Plan shall include at least one A-Street which shall 
provide a pedestrian-oriented streetscape and shall be designed to provide 
connectivity through the entire quadrant and connect to adjacent residential 
neighborhoods.  Commercial and multi-family projects within each quadrant of Town 



Center, Community Center and Neighborhood Center nodes shall have frontage on or 
connect to the A-Street.  All other Arterial and Collector Streets identified on the 
Transportation Plan within the CD Sector and not designated as an A-Street are 
designated B-Streets.  The frontage roads of 183A Toll Road are designated C-Streets. 

 
2.3 SPECIFIC TO A-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICTS 

 a.  Parking is not allowed between the building and the right-of-way. 
 b. Parallel or head-in, on-street parking spaces shall be provided. 
 c. Sidewalks at least 12 feet wide shall be provided adjacent to all building frontages. 
 d. Street trees are required every 30 feet. 

 
2.4 SPECIFIC TO B-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICTS 

 a. Surface parking consisting of no more than one drive aisle with head-in parking 
spaces on each side of the drive aisle are permitted between the building and the 
right-of-way. A landscape screen or wall no taller than 4 feet in height shall be 
constructed and maintained to screen the view of the parking from the adjacent 
ROW. 

b. All drive aisles shall be designed and easements conveyed to connect to existing or 
future drive aisles on adjacent properties. 

c. Sidewalks and street trees in compliance with the Composite Zoning Ordinance 
shall be required between the parking lot and the right-of-way. 

d. Sidewalks at least 12 feet wide shall be provided between the building facade and 
the parking lot, with trees in grates or planter boxes every 30 feet. 

 
2.5 SPECIFIC TO C-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICTS 

 a.  Surface parking lots between buildings and the right-of-way shall be no deeper 
than 300 feet nor wider than 600 feet.    

 b. Surface parking lots between buildings and the right-of-way shall be designed as a 
pattern of internal streets and parking blocks. The parking blocks may have 
standard parking spaces and aisles. The internal streets shall have travel lanes, curbs, 
street trees, sidewalks and utility easements and may have parallel parking. The 
parking blocks shall be left free of easements with the exception of those for 
drainage and parking lot lighting in order to accommodate future construction of 
buildings. 

  
3.  LOTS & BUILDINGS 
 
3.1 Lots and buildings are subject to the following standards in addition to the standards 

of the Composite Zoning Ordinance. 
 



3.2 SPECIFIC TO LOTS & BUILDINGS ON A- AND B-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL ZONING 
DISTRICTS 

 a.  Buildings fronting on A- and B-Streets shall meet the Type A Architectural 
Component of the Composite Zoning Ordinance. 

b. Buildings fronting on A- and B-Streets shall provide a primary entrance facing the 
street accessing the required sidewalk. 

 
3.3 SPECIFIC TO LOTS & BUILDINGS ON C-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL ZONING 

DISTRICTS 
 a.  Buildings fronting on C-Streets shall meet the Type A or Type B Architectural 

Component of the Composite Zoning Ordinance. 
  

3.4 SPECIFIC TO LOTS AND BUILDINGS IN RESIDENTIAL ZONING DISTRICTS 
 a.  All residential buildings shall meet the Type A Architectural Component of the 

Composite Zoning Ordinance. 
 b. A minimum overall density of 4 units per acre shall be required. 

 c. Any residential lot narrower than 50 feet shall not have driveway access from the 
front of the lot and must provide parking access from a rear alley.  



RFHDAH LP
85.69 Ac.
R449731

ZANZI JAMES M T (+ 4)
118.92 Ac.
R031235

WATERSTONE MICHELLE LP
144.92 Ac.
R031699

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
150.63 Ac.
R485834

ZANZI JAMES M T (+ 4)
82.41 Ac.
R031236

AUSTIN COMMUNITY COLLEGE
100 Ac.

R505808

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
90.52 Ac.
R032213

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
79.33 Ac.
R032103

MARTI LEIGH LIMITED PARTN
70.37 Ac.
R031728

H E BUTT GROCERY CO
53.17 Ac.
R448044

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
47.62 Ac.
R031604

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
71.64 Ac.
R032196

HOUSE, FRANKLIN R
39.21 Ac.
R031325

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
61.05 Ac.
R457677

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
55.03 Ac.
R485832

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
51.99 Ac.
R433110

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
37.27 Ac.
R461858

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
51.64 Ac.
R485833

LEANDER DEVELOPERS 4 LTD
46.51 Ac.
R403524

JEAN BAPTISTE LTD
29.6 Ac.
R032239

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE LP
42.47 Ac.
R031694

MARTI LEIGH LIMITED PTNRS
40.69 Ac.
R321825

WADE, AGNES STEVENS
30.72 Ac.
R051592

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
40.17 Ac.
R032104

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE LP
36.85 Ac.
R395875

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
22.25 Ac.
R032233

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
26.44 Ac.
R031600

LEANDER CITY OF
16.84 Ac.
R108637

MJAG PARTNERSHIP LTD
20.39 Ac.
R032221

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
17.96 Ac.
R505807

JEAN BAPTISTE LTD
15.4 Ac.
R462742

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
22.44 Ac.
R510026

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
21.01 Ac.
R481339

HILL COUNTRY BIBLE CHURCH
19 Ac.

R522995

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
18.55 Ac.
R031324

LEANDER I S D TRUSTEE
13.63 Ac.
R489452

OSBAHR, GUNTER J
10 Ac.

R031722

CAPITAL METROPOLITAN TRAN
13.66 Ac.
R457676

WYLIE, JOHN RICHARD
10 Ac.

R032206

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
13.63 Ac.
R458187

OSBAHR MARCIA FAMILY TRST
10 Ac.

R031721

FABCON PRODUCTS.COM INC
22.92 Ac.
R031253

LEANDER I S D TRUSTEE
12.5 Ac.
R485950

WYLIE, JOHN RICHARD
10.38 Ac.
R032194

WEST TEX TRADING RETIRE L
12.01 Ac.
R032234

CR 270

381 S
U

RM 2243

183A TO
LL R

D
 FR

 N
B

183A TO
LL R

D
 FR

 SB

HERO WAY

183A TO
LL R

D
 SB

183A TO
LL R

D
 N

B

381 S
U S

W SOUTH ST

US
 1

83
 S

B

381 S
U 

N

R
D T

SE
W S

US
 1

83
 N

B

OLD 2243 WEST

EVA SI
HTA

M LE
M

D
R E

V
O

R
G 

K
A

O

67
2 

R
C

E SAN GABRIEL PKWY

H
A

LS
EY

 D
R

962 
R

C

W SAN GABRIEL PKWY

LION DR

W BROADE ST

RIVA RIDGE DR

H
O

R
IZO

N
 PA

R
K

 B
LVD

HERITAGE GROVE RD

CR
 2

66

LEE DR

SONNY DR

MUNICIPAL DR

PVR 918

RANCHERO RD

EAGLES WAY

PVR
 949

CR 26
7

S BAG
DAD RD

W
H

IT
LE

Y 
D

R
SIGNAL HILL DR

C
A

R
O

L 
AV

E

ORCHARD DR

R
D A

SE
M

R
EM

IN
G

TO
N

 D
R

BAKER LN

SOUTH BROOK DR

SOUTH GABRIEL DR

HORSESHOE DR

MASON ST

CHRISTOPHER LN

TS Y
HS

U
R

B S

AMANDAS WAY

C
LA

YT
O

N
 D

R

B
U

R
G

E
SS

 D
R

BROADE W
AY

L
RT 

N
RE

HT
R

O
N

R
D 

RE
D

N
AEL

MICA LN

K
IN

G
 LN

NORTH CREEK BLVD

TOPAZ LN

MATHESON DR

HAZELWOOD ST

R
ET 

WEIVY
KS

K
ATH

E
R

IN
E W

AY

DEXTER DR

EVA 
RE

N
N

A
B

TS Y
HS

U
R

B 
N

R
D 

D
O

O
W T

NE
B

D
R YEL

D
O

O
W

W WILLIS ST

TABERNASH DR

TS LEI
R

B
A

G 
N

W METRO DR

SHERRY DR

OVERLOOK BND

PO
W

EL
L 

D
R

LEN BAR LN

R
A

N
C

H
O

 V
IE

JO
 L

N

R
D TSE

W 
N

TER
R

A
C

E D
R

L
RT ES

O
R 

A
M

ME

G
LE

N 
O

AK
 L

N

CINDY LN

E SONNY DR

JO
PP

A 
RD

H
EN

SL
EY

 D
R

LOS ROBLES RD

SCENIC PATH

CAMINO ALTO DR

B
A

G
D

A
D

 S
T

E SOUTH ST

PA
M

PA
S 

R
IC

A
S 

D
REN

C
A

N
TO

 D
R

SA
W

YE
R 

TR
L

JESS MAYNARD TRL

ES
TA

N
C

IA
 W

AY

SA
N

 V
IC

E
N

TE
 D

R

ATKIN ST

NORWOOD DR

C
O

Y
O

TE LN

METRO DR

C
O

U
LE

E 
D

R

ESC
O

N
D

ID
O

 D
R

R
D 

G
N

OS E
V

O
D

E EVANS ST

LA
C

Y 
D

R

BA
R 

RY
DE

R 
TR

L

ORCHARD C
V

NORTH
 H

IL
L C

IR

RUBLES CT

L
RT LISS

OF

R
D L

AE
R 

O
NI

M
A

C

JENNIFER LN

RI
C LLI

M
D

NI
W

M
O

O
N

 G
LO

W
 D

R

JOE BATES DR

B
LU

EB
O

N
N

ET TR
L

E BROADE ST

WASHBURN DR

R
D SS

AL
G

TEAL LN

GENTRY DR

HIGH GABRIEL EAST
YA

W EI Z
NE

K
C

A
M

PARKHURST DR

FLANAGAN DR

TS TS
AE 

N

HIGH GABRIEL  EAST

CABALLERO RD

AIKEN DR

M
O

R
G

A
N

 D
R

FRIENDSHIP CV

H
IG

H
 G

A
B

R
IE

L 
D

R

LEN
 B

A
R

 C
T

R
D S

A
NI

B
AS

S 
TR

EA
SU

R
E 

O
A

K
S 

D
R

PECAN GROVE DR

C
A

SITA
S C

T

DEW DROP LN

RI
C 

K
C

O
REL

B
AT

O
A

K
LA

N
D

 C
V

MIDDLE BROOK DR

RED BUD CV

L
RT 

N
RE

HT
R

O
N

MUNICIPAL DR

MIDDLE BROOK DR S1

S1

S2

S2

S1
S3

CD

CDOS

OS

CD

CD

CD

CD

Hero Way

Hero Way

San Gabriel Pkwy.

C
o.

 R
d.

 2
69

H
or

iz
on

 P
ar

k 
B

lv
d.

U.S.
 1

83

183A Toll R
oad

Heritage Grove Rd.

Broade St.

B
ru

sh
y 

St
.

U
.S

. 1
83

M
el

 M
at

hi
s A

ve
.

San Gabriel Pkwy.

RM 2243
South St.

Sector Map1/9
Option A

Sectors
S1  General Sector
S2 Transit Sector
S3 Old Town Sector
CD Conventional Sector
OS Open Space

Sector Planning Boundary

Sector Planning Area
City of Leander, Texas

Sandy Sorlien / Smartcode Local & Michael Watkins Architect, llcApril 21, 2014

N
0

Feet

800400



RFHDAH LP
85.69 Ac.
R449731

ZANZI JAMES M T (+ 4)
118.92 Ac.
R031235

WATERSTONE MICHELLE LP
144.92 Ac.
R031699

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
150.63 Ac.
R485834

ZANZI JAMES M T (+ 4)
82.41 Ac.
R031236

AUSTIN COMMUNITY COLLEGE
100 Ac.

R505808

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
90.52 Ac.
R032213

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
79.33 Ac.
R032103

MARTI LEIGH LIMITED PARTN
70.37 Ac.
R031728

H E BUTT GROCERY CO
53.17 Ac.
R448044

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
47.62 Ac.
R031604

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
71.64 Ac.
R032196

HOUSE, FRANKLIN R
39.21 Ac.
R031325

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
61.05 Ac.
R457677

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
55.03 Ac.
R485832

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
51.99 Ac.
R433110

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
37.27 Ac.
R461858

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
51.64 Ac.
R485833

LEANDER DEVELOPERS 4 LTD
46.51 Ac.
R403524

JEAN BAPTISTE LTD
29.6 Ac.
R032239

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE LP
42.47 Ac.
R031694

MARTI LEIGH LIMITED PTNRS
40.69 Ac.
R321825

WADE, AGNES STEVENS
30.72 Ac.
R051592

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
40.17 Ac.
R032104

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE LP
36.85 Ac.
R395875

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
22.25 Ac.
R032233

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
26.44 Ac.
R031600

LEANDER CITY OF
16.84 Ac.
R108637

MJAG PARTNERSHIP LTD
20.39 Ac.
R032221

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
17.96 Ac.
R505807

JEAN BAPTISTE LTD
15.4 Ac.
R462742

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
22.44 Ac.
R510026

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
21.01 Ac.
R481339

HILL COUNTRY BIBLE CHURCH
19 Ac.

R522995

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
18.55 Ac.
R031324

LEANDER I S D TRUSTEE
13.63 Ac.
R489452

OSBAHR, GUNTER J
10 Ac.

R031722

CAPITAL METROPOLITAN TRAN
13.66 Ac.
R457676

WYLIE, JOHN RICHARD
10 Ac.

R032206

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
13.63 Ac.
R458187

OSBAHR MARCIA FAMILY TRST
10 Ac.

R031721

FABCON PRODUCTS.COM INC
22.92 Ac.
R031253

LEANDER I S D TRUSTEE
12.5 Ac.
R485950

WYLIE, JOHN RICHARD
10.38 Ac.
R032194

WEST TEX TRADING RETIRE L
12.01 Ac.
R032234

CR 270

381 S
U

RM 2243

183A TO
LL R

D
 FR

 N
B

183A TO
LL R

D
 FR

 SB

HERO WAY

183A TO
LL R

D
 SB

183A TO
LL R

D
 N

B

381 S
U S

W SOUTH ST

US
 1

83
 S

B

381 S
U 

N

R
D T

SE
W S

US
 1

83
 N

B

OLD 2243 WEST

EVA SI
HTA

M LE
M

D
R E

V
O

R
G 

K
A

O

67
2 

R
C

E SAN GABRIEL PKWY

H
A

LS
EY

 D
R

962 
R

C

W SAN GABRIEL PKWY

LION DR

W BROADE ST

RIVA RIDGE DR

H
O

R
IZO

N
 PA

R
K

 B
LVD

HERITAGE GROVE RD

CR
 2

66

LEE DR

SONNY DR

MUNICIPAL DR

PVR 918

RANCHERO RD

EAGLES WAY

PVR
 949

CR 26
7

S BAG
DAD RD

W
H

IT
LE

Y 
D

R
SIGNAL HILL DR

C
A

R
O

L 
AV

E

ORCHARD DR

R
D A

SE
M

R
EM

IN
G

TO
N

 D
R

BAKER LN

SOUTH BROOK DR

SOUTH GABRIEL DR

HORSESHOE DR

MASON ST

CHRISTOPHER LN

TS Y
HS

U
R

B S

AMANDAS WAY

C
LA

YT
O

N
 D

R

B
U

R
G

E
SS

 D
R

BROADE W
AY

L
RT 

N
RE

HT
R

O
N

R
D 

RE
D

N
AEL

MICA LN

K
IN

G
 LN

NORTH CREEK BLVD

TOPAZ LN

MATHESON DR

HAZELWOOD ST

R
ET 

WEIVY
KS

K
ATH

E
R

IN
E W

AY

DEXTER DR

EVA 
RE

N
N

A
B

TS Y
HS

U
R

B 
N

R
D 

D
O

O
W T

NE
B

D
R YEL

D
O

O
W

W WILLIS ST

TABERNASH DR

TS LEI
R

B
A

G 
N

W METRO DR

SHERRY DR

OVERLOOK BND

PO
W

EL
L 

D
R

LEN BAR LN

R
A

N
C

H
O

 V
IE

JO
 L

N

R
D TSE

W 
N

TER
R

A
C

E D
R

L
RT ES

O
R 

A
M

ME

G
LE

N 
O

AK
 L

N

CINDY LN

E SONNY DR

JO
PP

A 
RD

H
EN

SL
EY

 D
R

LOS ROBLES RD

SCENIC PATH

CAMINO ALTO DR

B
A

G
D

A
D

 S
T

E SOUTH ST

PA
M

PA
S 

R
IC

A
S 

D
REN

C
A

N
TO

 D
R

SA
W

YE
R 

TR
L

JESS MAYNARD TRL

ES
TA

N
C

IA
 W

AY

SA
N

 V
IC

E
N

TE
 D

R

ATKIN ST

NORWOOD DR

C
O

Y
O

TE LN

METRO DR

C
O

U
LE

E 
D

R

ESC
O

N
D

ID
O

 D
R

R
D 

G
N

OS E
V

O
D

E EVANS ST

LA
C

Y 
D

R

BA
R 

RY
DE

R 
TR

L

ORCHARD C
V

NORTH
 H

IL
L C

IR

RUBLES CT

L
RT LISS

OF

R
D L

AE
R 

O
NI

M
A

C

JENNIFER LN

RI
C LLI

M
D

NI
W

M
O

O
N

 G
LO

W
 D

R

JOE BATES DR

B
LU

EB
O

N
N

ET TR
L

E BROADE ST

WASHBURN DR

R
D SS

AL
G

TEAL LN

GENTRY DR

HIGH GABRIEL EAST
YA

W EI Z
NE

K
C

A
M

PARKHURST DR

FLANAGAN DR

TS TS
AE 

N

HIGH GABRIEL  EAST

CABALLERO RD

AIKEN DR

M
O

R
G

A
N

 D
R

FRIENDSHIP CV

H
IG

H
 G

A
B

R
IE

L 
D

R

LEN
 B

A
R

 C
T

R
D S

A
NI

B
AS

S 
TR

EA
SU

R
E 

O
A

K
S 

D
R

PECAN GROVE DR

C
A

SITA
S C

T

DEW DROP LN

RI
C 

K
C

O
REL

B
AT

O
A

K
LA

N
D

 C
V

MIDDLE BROOK DR

RED BUD CV

L
RT 

N
RE

HT
R

O
N

MUNICIPAL DR

MIDDLE BROOK DR S1

S1

S2

S2

S1
S3

CD

CDOS

OS

CD

CD

CD

CD

Hero Way

Hero Way

San Gabriel Pkwy.

C
o.

 R
d.

 2
69

H
or

iz
on

 P
ar

k 
B

lv
d.

U.S.
 1

83

183A Toll R
oad

Heritage Grove Rd.

Broade St.

B
ru

sh
y 

St
.

U
.S

. 1
83

M
el

 M
at

hi
s A

ve
.

San Gabriel Pkwy.

RM 2243
South St.

Sector Map1/9
Option A

Sectors
S1  General Sector
S2 Transit Sector
S3 Old Town Sector
CD Conventional Sector
OS Open Space

Sector Planning Boundary

Sector Planning Area
City of Leander, Texas

Sandy Sorlien / Smartcode Local & Michael Watkins Architect, llcApril 21, 2014

N
0

Feet

800400



RFHDAH LP
85.69 Ac.
R449731

ZANZI JAMES M T (+ 4)
118.92 Ac.
R031235

WATERSTONE MICHELLE LP
144.92 Ac.
R031699

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
150.63 Ac.
R485834

ZANZI JAMES M T (+ 4)
82.41 Ac.
R031236

AUSTIN COMMUNITY COLLEGE
100 Ac.

R505808

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
90.52 Ac.
R032213

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
79.33 Ac.
R032103

MARTI LEIGH LIMITED PARTN
70.37 Ac.
R031728

H E BUTT GROCERY CO
53.17 Ac.
R448044

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
47.62 Ac.
R031604

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
71.64 Ac.
R032196

HOUSE, FRANKLIN R
39.21 Ac.
R031325

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
61.05 Ac.
R457677

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
55.03 Ac.
R485832

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
51.99 Ac.
R433110

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
37.27 Ac.
R461858

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
51.64 Ac.
R485833

LEANDER DEVELOPERS 4 LTD
46.51 Ac.
R403524

JEAN BAPTISTE LTD
29.6 Ac.
R032239

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE LP
42.47 Ac.
R031694

MARTI LEIGH LIMITED PTNRS
40.69 Ac.
R321825

WADE, AGNES STEVENS
30.72 Ac.
R051592

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
40.17 Ac.
R032104

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE LP
36.85 Ac.
R395875

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
22.25 Ac.
R032233

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
26.44 Ac.
R031600

LEANDER CITY OF
16.84 Ac.
R108637

MJAG PARTNERSHIP LTD
20.39 Ac.
R032221

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
17.96 Ac.
R505807

JEAN BAPTISTE LTD
15.4 Ac.
R462742

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
22.44 Ac.
R510026

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
21.01 Ac.
R481339

HILL COUNTRY BIBLE CHURCH
19 Ac.

R522995

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
18.55 Ac.
R031324

LEANDER I S D TRUSTEE
13.63 Ac.
R489452

OSBAHR, GUNTER J
10 Ac.

R031722

CAPITAL METROPOLITAN TRAN
13.66 Ac.
R457676

WYLIE, JOHN RICHARD
10 Ac.

R032206

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
13.63 Ac.
R458187

OSBAHR MARCIA FAMILY TRST
10 Ac.

R031721

FABCON PRODUCTS.COM INC
22.92 Ac.
R031253

LEANDER I S D TRUSTEE
12.5 Ac.
R485950

WYLIE, JOHN RICHARD
10.38 Ac.
R032194

WEST TEX TRADING RETIRE L
12.01 Ac.
R032234

CR 270

381 S
U

RM 2243

183A TO
LL R

D
 FR

 N
B

183A TO
LL R

D
 FR

 SB

HERO WAY

183A TO
LL R

D
 SB

183A TO
LL R

D
 N

B

381 S
U S

W SOUTH ST

US
 1

83
 S

B

381 S
U 

N

R
D T

SE
W S

US
 1

83
 N

B

OLD 2243 WEST

EVA SI
HTA

M LE
M

D
R E

V
O

R
G 

K
A

O

67
2 

R
C

E SAN GABRIEL PKWY

H
A

LS
EY

 D
R

962 
R

C

W SAN GABRIEL PKWY

LION DR

W BROADE ST

RIVA RIDGE DR

H
O

R
IZO

N
 PA

R
K

 B
LVD

HERITAGE GROVE RD

CR
 2

66

LEE DR

SONNY DR

MUNICIPAL DR

PVR 918

RANCHERO RD

EAGLES WAY

PVR
 949

CR 26
7

S BAG
DAD RD

W
H

IT
LE

Y 
D

R
SIGNAL HILL DR

C
A

R
O

L 
AV

E

ORCHARD DR

R
D A

SE
M

R
EM

IN
G

TO
N

 D
R

BAKER LN

SOUTH BROOK DR

SOUTH GABRIEL DR

HORSESHOE DR

MASON ST

CHRISTOPHER LN

TS Y
HS

U
R

B S

AMANDAS WAY

C
LA

YT
O

N
 D

R

B
U

R
G

E
SS

 D
R

BROADE W
AY

L
RT 

N
RE

HT
R

O
N

R
D 

RE
D

N
AEL

MICA LN

K
IN

G
 LN

NORTH CREEK BLVD

TOPAZ LN

MATHESON DR

HAZELWOOD ST

R
ET 

WEIVY
KS

K
ATH

E
R

IN
E W

AY

DEXTER DR

EVA 
RE

N
N

A
B

TS Y
HS

U
R

B 
N

R
D 

D
O

O
W T

NE
B

D
R YEL

D
O

O
W

W WILLIS ST

TABERNASH DR

TS LEI
R

B
A

G 
N

W METRO DR

SHERRY DR

OVERLOOK BND

PO
W

EL
L 

D
R

LEN BAR LN

R
A

N
C

H
O

 V
IE

JO
 L

N

R
D TSE

W 
N

TER
R

A
C

E D
R

L
RT ES

O
R 

A
M

ME

G
LE

N 
O

AK
 L

N

CINDY LN

E SONNY DR

JO
PP

A 
RD

H
EN

SL
EY

 D
R

LOS ROBLES RD

SCENIC PATH

CAMINO ALTO DR

B
A

G
D

A
D

 S
T

E SOUTH ST

PA
M

PA
S 

R
IC

A
S 

D
REN

C
A

N
TO

 D
R

SA
W

YE
R 

TR
L

JESS MAYNARD TRL

ES
TA

N
C

IA
 W

AY

SA
N

 V
IC

E
N

TE
 D

R

ATKIN ST

NORWOOD DR

C
O

Y
O

TE LN

METRO DR

C
O

U
LE

E 
D

R

ESC
O

N
D

ID
O

 D
R

R
D 

G
N

OS E
V

O
D

E EVANS ST

LA
C

Y 
D

R

BA
R 

RY
DE

R 
TR

L

ORCHARD C
V

NORTH
 H

IL
L C

IR

RUBLES CT

L
RT LISS

OF

R
D L

AE
R 

O
NI

M
A

C

JENNIFER LN

RI
C LLI

M
D

NI
W

M
O

O
N

 G
LO

W
 D

R

JOE BATES DR

B
LU

EB
O

N
N

ET TR
L

E BROADE ST

WASHBURN DR

R
D SS

AL
G

TEAL LN

GENTRY DR

HIGH GABRIEL EAST
YA

W EI Z
NE

K
C

A
M

PARKHURST DR

FLANAGAN DR

TS TS
AE 

N

HIGH GABRIEL  EAST

CABALLERO RD

AIKEN DR

M
O

R
G

A
N

 D
R

FRIENDSHIP CV

H
IG

H
 G

A
B

R
IE

L 
D

R

LEN
 B

A
R

 C
T

R
D S

A
NI

B
AS

S 
TR

EA
SU

R
E 

O
A

K
S 

D
R

PECAN GROVE DR

C
A

SITA
S C

T

DEW DROP LN

RI
C 

K
C

O
REL

B
AT

O
A

K
LA

N
D

 C
V

MIDDLE BROOK DR

RED BUD CV

L
RT 

N
RE

HT
R

O
N

MUNICIPAL DR

MIDDLE BROOK DR

S1

S2

S2

S1
S3

CD

CDOS

OS

CD

CD

CD

CD

Hero Way

Hero Way

San Gabriel Pkwy.

C
o.

 R
d.

 2
69

H
or

iz
on

 P
ar

k 
B

lv
d.

U.S.
 1

83

183A Toll R
oad

Heritage Grove Rd.

Broade St.

B
ru

sh
y 

St
.

U
.S

. 1
83

M
el

 M
at

hi
s A

ve
.

San Gabriel Pkwy.

RM 2243
South St.

Sectors
S1  General Sector
S2 Transit Sector
S3 Old Town Sector
CD Conventional Sector
OS Open Space

Sector Planning Boundary

Sector Map2/9
Option B

Sector Planning Area
City of Leander, Texas

Sandy Sorlien / Smartcode Local & Michael Watkins Architect, llcApril 21, 2014

N
0

Feet

800400



RFHDAH LP
85.69 Ac.
R449731

ZANZI JAMES M T (+ 4)
118.92 Ac.
R031235

WATERSTONE MICHELLE LP
144.92 Ac.
R031699

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
150.63 Ac.
R485834

ZANZI JAMES M T (+ 4)
82.41 Ac.
R031236

AUSTIN COMMUNITY COLLEGE
100 Ac.

R505808

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
90.52 Ac.
R032213

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
79.33 Ac.
R032103

MARTI LEIGH LIMITED PARTN
70.37 Ac.
R031728

H E BUTT GROCERY CO
53.17 Ac.
R448044

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
47.62 Ac.
R031604

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
71.64 Ac.
R032196

HOUSE, FRANKLIN R
39.21 Ac.
R031325

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
61.05 Ac.
R457677

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
55.03 Ac.
R485832

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
51.99 Ac.
R433110

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
37.27 Ac.
R461858

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
51.64 Ac.
R485833

LEANDER DEVELOPERS 4 LTD
46.51 Ac.
R403524

JEAN BAPTISTE LTD
29.6 Ac.
R032239

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE LP
42.47 Ac.
R031694

MARTI LEIGH LIMITED PTNRS
40.69 Ac.
R321825

WADE, AGNES STEVENS
30.72 Ac.
R051592

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
40.17 Ac.
R032104

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE LP
36.85 Ac.
R395875

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
22.25 Ac.
R032233

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
26.44 Ac.
R031600

LEANDER CITY OF
16.84 Ac.
R108637

MJAG PARTNERSHIP LTD
20.39 Ac.
R032221

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
17.96 Ac.
R505807

JEAN BAPTISTE LTD
15.4 Ac.
R462742

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
22.44 Ac.
R510026

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
21.01 Ac.
R481339

HILL COUNTRY BIBLE CHURCH
19 Ac.

R522995

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
18.55 Ac.
R031324

LEANDER I S D TRUSTEE
13.63 Ac.
R489452

OSBAHR, GUNTER J
10 Ac.

R031722

CAPITAL METROPOLITAN TRAN
13.66 Ac.
R457676

WYLIE, JOHN RICHARD
10 Ac.

R032206

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
13.63 Ac.
R458187

OSBAHR MARCIA FAMILY TRST
10 Ac.

R031721

FABCON PRODUCTS.COM INC
22.92 Ac.
R031253

LEANDER I S D TRUSTEE
12.5 Ac.
R485950

WYLIE, JOHN RICHARD
10.38 Ac.
R032194

WEST TEX TRADING RETIRE L
12.01 Ac.
R032234

CR 270

381 S
U

RM 2243

183A TO
LL R

D
 FR

 N
B

183A TO
LL R

D
 FR

 SB

HERO WAY

183A TO
LL R

D
 SB

183A TO
LL R

D
 N

B

381 S
U S

W SOUTH ST

US
 1

83
 S

B

381 S
U 

N

R
D T

SE
W S

US
 1

83
 N

B

OLD 2243 WEST

EVA SI
HTA

M LE
M

D
R E

V
O

R
G 

K
A

O

67
2 

R
C

E SAN GABRIEL PKWY

H
A

LS
EY

 D
R

962 
R

C

W SAN GABRIEL PKWY

LION DR

W BROADE ST

RIVA RIDGE DR

H
O

R
IZO

N
 PA

R
K

 B
LVD

HERITAGE GROVE RD

CR
 2

66

LEE DR

SONNY DR

MUNICIPAL DR

PVR 918

RANCHERO RD

EAGLES WAY

PVR
 949

CR 26
7

S BAG
DAD RD

W
H

IT
LE

Y 
D

R
SIGNAL HILL DR

C
A

R
O

L 
AV

E

ORCHARD DR

R
D A

SE
M

R
EM

IN
G

TO
N

 D
R

BAKER LN

SOUTH BROOK DR

SOUTH GABRIEL DR

HORSESHOE DR

MASON ST

CHRISTOPHER LN

TS Y
HS

U
R

B S

AMANDAS WAY

C
LA

YT
O

N
 D

R

B
U

R
G

E
SS

 D
R

BROADE W
AY

L
RT 

N
RE

HT
R

O
N

R
D 

RE
D

N
AEL

MICA LN

K
IN

G
 LN

NORTH CREEK BLVD

TOPAZ LN

MATHESON DR

HAZELWOOD ST

R
ET 

WEIVY
KS

K
ATH

E
R

IN
E W

AY

DEXTER DR

EVA 
RE

N
N

A
B

TS Y
HS

U
R

B 
N

R
D 

D
O

O
W T

NE
B

D
R YEL

D
O

O
W

W WILLIS ST

TABERNASH DR

TS LEI
R

B
A

G 
N

W METRO DR

SHERRY DR

OVERLOOK BND

PO
W

EL
L 

D
R

LEN BAR LN

R
A

N
C

H
O

 V
IE

JO
 L

N

R
D TSE

W 
N

TER
R

A
C

E D
R

L
RT ES

O
R 

A
M

ME

G
LE

N 
O

AK
 L

N

CINDY LN

E SONNY DR

JO
PP

A 
RD

H
EN

SL
EY

 D
R

LOS ROBLES RD

SCENIC PATH

CAMINO ALTO DR

B
A

G
D

A
D

 S
T

E SOUTH ST

PA
M

PA
S 

R
IC

A
S 

D
REN

C
A

N
TO

 D
R

SA
W

YE
R 

TR
L

JESS MAYNARD TRL

ES
TA

N
C

IA
 W

AY

SA
N

 V
IC

E
N

TE
 D

R

ATKIN ST

NORWOOD DR

C
O

Y
O

TE LN

METRO DR

C
O

U
LE

E 
D

R

ESC
O

N
D

ID
O

 D
R

R
D 

G
N

OS E
V

O
D

E EVANS ST

LA
C

Y 
D

R

BA
R 

RY
DE

R 
TR

L

ORCHARD C
V

NORTH
 H

IL
L C

IR

RUBLES CT

L
RT LISS

OF

R
D L

AE
R 

O
NI

M
A

C

JENNIFER LN

RI
C LLI

M
D

NI
W

M
O

O
N

 G
LO

W
 D

R

JOE BATES DR

B
LU

EB
O

N
N

ET TR
L

E BROADE ST

WASHBURN DR

R
D SS

AL
G

TEAL LN

GENTRY DR

HIGH GABRIEL EAST
YA

W EI Z
NE

K
C

A
M

PARKHURST DR

FLANAGAN DR

TS TS
AE 

N

HIGH GABRIEL  EAST

CABALLERO RD

AIKEN DR

M
O

R
G

A
N

 D
R

FRIENDSHIP CV

H
IG

H
 G

A
B

R
IE

L 
D

R

LEN
 B

A
R

 C
T

R
D S

A
NI

B
AS

S 
TR

EA
SU

R
E 

O
A

K
S 

D
R

PECAN GROVE DR

C
A

SITA
S C

T

DEW DROP LN

RI
C 

K
C

O
REL

B
AT

O
A

K
LA

N
D

 C
V

MIDDLE BROOK DR

RED BUD CV

L
RT 

N
RE

HT
R

O
N

MUNICIPAL DR

MIDDLE BROOK DR

S2

S2

S3

CD

CD

OS

OS

CD

CD

CD

CD

S1

Hero Way

Hero Way

San Gabriel Pkwy.

C
o.

 R
d.

 2
69

H
or

iz
on

 P
ar

k 
B

lv
d.

U.S.
 1

83

183A Toll R
oad

Heritage Grove Rd.

Broade St.

B
ru

sh
y 

St
.

U
.S

. 1
83

M
el

 M
at

hi
s A

ve
.

San Gabriel Pkwy.

RM 2243
South St.

Sectors
S1  General Sector
S2 Transit Sector
S3 Old Town Sector
CD Conventional Sector
OS Open Space

Sector Planning Boundary

Sector Map3/9
Option C

Sector Planning Area
City of Leander, Texas

Sandy Sorlien / Smartcode Local & Michael Watkins Architect, llcApril 21, 2014

N
0

Feet

800400



RFHDAH LP
85.69 Ac.
R449731

ZANZI JAMES M T (+ 4)
118.92 Ac.
R031235

WATERSTONE MICHELLE LP
144.92 Ac.
R031699

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
150.63 Ac.
R485834

ZANZI JAMES M T (+ 4)
82.41 Ac.
R031236

AUSTIN COMMUNITY COLLEGE
100 Ac.

R505808

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
90.52 Ac.
R032213

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
79.33 Ac.
R032103

MARTI LEIGH LIMITED PARTN
70.37 Ac.
R031728

H E BUTT GROCERY CO
53.17 Ac.
R448044

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
47.62 Ac.
R031604

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
71.64 Ac.
R032196

HOUSE, FRANKLIN R
39.21 Ac.
R031325

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
61.05 Ac.
R457677

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
55.03 Ac.
R485832

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
51.99 Ac.
R433110

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
37.27 Ac.
R461858

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
51.64 Ac.
R485833

LEANDER DEVELOPERS 4 LTD
46.51 Ac.
R403524

JEAN BAPTISTE LTD
29.6 Ac.
R032239

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE LP
42.47 Ac.
R031694

MARTI LEIGH LIMITED PTNRS
40.69 Ac.
R321825

WADE, AGNES STEVENS
30.72 Ac.
R051592

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
40.17 Ac.
R032104

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE LP
36.85 Ac.
R395875

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
22.25 Ac.
R032233

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
26.44 Ac.
R031600

LEANDER CITY OF
16.84 Ac.
R108637

MJAG PARTNERSHIP LTD
20.39 Ac.
R032221

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
17.96 Ac.
R505807

JEAN BAPTISTE LTD
15.4 Ac.
R462742

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
22.44 Ac.
R510026

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
21.01 Ac.
R481339

HILL COUNTRY BIBLE CHURCH
19 Ac.

R522995

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
18.55 Ac.
R031324

LEANDER I S D TRUSTEE
13.63 Ac.
R489452

OSBAHR, GUNTER J
10 Ac.

R031722

CAPITAL METROPOLITAN TRAN
13.66 Ac.
R457676

WYLIE, JOHN RICHARD
10 Ac.

R032206

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
13.63 Ac.
R458187

OSBAHR MARCIA FAMILY TRST
10 Ac.

R031721

FABCON PRODUCTS.COM INC
22.92 Ac.
R031253

LEANDER I S D TRUSTEE
12.5 Ac.
R485950

WYLIE, JOHN RICHARD
10.38 Ac.
R032194

WEST TEX TRADING RETIRE L
12.01 Ac.
R032234

CR 270

381 S
U

RM 2243

183A TO
LL R

D
 FR

 N
B

183A TO
LL R

D
 FR

 SB

HERO WAY

183A TO
LL R

D
 SB

183A TO
LL R

D
 N

B

381 S
U S

W SOUTH ST

US
 1

83
 S

B

381 S
U 

N

R
D T

SE
W S

US
 1

83
 N

B

OLD 2243 WEST

EVA SI
HTA

M LE
M

D
R E

V
O

R
G 

K
A

O

67
2 

R
C

E SAN GABRIEL PKWY

H
A

LS
EY

 D
R

962 
R

C

W SAN GABRIEL PKWY

LION DR

W BROADE ST

RIVA RIDGE DR

H
O

R
IZO

N
 PA

R
K

 B
LVD

HERITAGE GROVE RD

CR
 2

66

LEE DR

SONNY DR

MUNICIPAL DR

PVR 918

RANCHERO RD

EAGLES WAY

PVR
 949

CR 26
7

S BAG
DAD RD

W
H

IT
LE

Y 
D

R
SIGNAL HILL DR

C
A

R
O

L 
AV

E

ORCHARD DR

R
D A

SE
M

R
EM

IN
G

TO
N

 D
R

BAKER LN

SOUTH BROOK DR

SOUTH GABRIEL DR

HORSESHOE DR

MASON ST

CHRISTOPHER LN

TS Y
HS

U
R

B S

AMANDAS WAY

C
LA

YT
O

N
 D

R

B
U

R
G

E
SS

 D
R

BROADE W
AY

L
RT 

N
RE

HT
R

O
N

R
D 

RE
D

N
AEL

MICA LN

K
IN

G
 LN

NORTH CREEK BLVD

TOPAZ LN

MATHESON DR

HAZELWOOD ST

R
ET 

WEIVY
KS

K
ATH

E
R

IN
E W

AY

DEXTER DR

EVA 
RE

N
N

A
B

TS Y
HS

U
R

B 
N

R
D 

D
O

O
W T

NE
B

D
R YEL

D
O

O
W

W WILLIS ST

TABERNASH DR

TS LEI
R

B
A

G 
N

W METRO DR

SHERRY DR

OVERLOOK BND

PO
W

EL
L 

D
R

LEN BAR LN

R
A

N
C

H
O

 V
IE

JO
 L

N

R
D TSE

W 
N

TER
R

A
C

E D
R

L
RT ES

O
R 

A
M

ME

G
LE

N 
O

AK
 L

N

CINDY LN

E SONNY DR

JO
PP

A 
RD

H
EN

SL
EY

 D
R

LOS ROBLES RD

SCENIC PATH

CAMINO ALTO DR

B
A

G
D

A
D

 S
T

E SOUTH ST

PA
M

PA
S 

R
IC

A
S 

D
REN

C
A

N
TO

 D
R

SA
W

YE
R 

TR
L

JESS MAYNARD TRL

ES
TA

N
C

IA
 W

AY

SA
N

 V
IC

E
N

TE
 D

R

ATKIN ST

NORWOOD DR

C
O

Y
O

TE LN

METRO DR

C
O

U
LE

E 
D

R

ESC
O

N
D

ID
O

 D
R

R
D 

G
N

OS E
V

O
D

E EVANS ST

LA
C

Y 
D

R

BA
R 

RY
DE

R 
TR

L

ORCHARD C
V

NORTH
 H

IL
L C

IR

RUBLES CT

L
RT LISS

OF

R
D L

AE
R 

O
NI

M
A

C

JENNIFER LN

RI
C LLI

M
D

NI
W

M
O

O
N

 G
LO

W
 D

R

JOE BATES DR

B
LU

EB
O

N
N

ET TR
L

E BROADE ST

WASHBURN DR

R
D SS

AL
G

TEAL LN

GENTRY DR

HIGH GABRIEL EAST
YA

W EI Z
NE

K
C

A
M

PARKHURST DR

FLANAGAN DR

TS TS
AE 

N

HIGH GABRIEL  EAST

CABALLERO RD

AIKEN DR

M
O

R
G

A
N

 D
R

FRIENDSHIP CV

H
IG

H
 G

A
B

R
IE

L 
D

R

LEN
 B

A
R

 C
T

R
D S

A
NI

B
AS

S 
TR

EA
SU

R
E 

O
A

K
S 

D
R

PECAN GROVE DR

C
A

SITA
S C

T

DEW DROP LN

RI
C 

K
C

O
REL

B
AT

O
A

K
LA

N
D

 C
V

MIDDLE BROOK DR

RED BUD CV

L
RT 

N
RE

HT
R

O
N

MUNICIPAL DR

MIDDLE BROOK DR S1

S1

S2

S2

S1
S3

CD

CDOS

OS

CD

CD

CD

CD

Hero Way

Hero Way

San Gabriel Pkwy.

C
o.

 R
d.

 2
69

H
or

iz
on

 P
ar

k 
B

lv
d.

U.S.
 1

83

183A Toll R
oad

Heritage Grove Rd.

Broade St.

B
ru

sh
y 

St
.

U
.S

. 1
83

M
el

 M
at

hi
s A

ve
.

San Gabriel Pkwy.

RM 2243
South St.

Parks and Trails
Connector, Complete
Connector, Planned
Primary Trail, Complete
Primary Trail, Planned
Secondary Trail, Planned
City Parks (Public)
Private Parks
Lake

Proposed Community Park

Sectors
S1  General Sector
S2 Transit Sector
S3 Old Town Sector
CD Conventional Sector
OS Open Space

Sector Planning Boundary

Sector Map with6/9
Parks and Trails

Sector Planning Area
City of Leander, Texas

Sandy Sorlien / Smartcode Local & Michael Watkins Architect, llcApril 21, 2014

N
0

Feet

800400



RFHDAH LP
85.69 Ac.
R449731

ZANZI JAMES M T (+ 4)
118.92 Ac.
R031235

WATERSTONE MICHELLE LP
144.92 Ac.
R031699

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
150.63 Ac.
R485834

ZANZI JAMES M T (+ 4)
82.41 Ac.
R031236

AUSTIN COMMUNITY COLLEGE
100 Ac.

R505808

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
90.52 Ac.
R032213

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
79.33 Ac.
R032103

MARTI LEIGH LIMITED PARTN
70.37 Ac.
R031728

H E BUTT GROCERY CO
53.17 Ac.
R448044

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
47.62 Ac.
R031604

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
71.64 Ac.
R032196

HOUSE, FRANKLIN R
39.21 Ac.
R031325

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
61.05 Ac.
R457677

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
55.03 Ac.
R485832

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
51.99 Ac.
R433110

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
37.27 Ac.
R461858

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
51.64 Ac.
R485833

LEANDER DEVELOPERS 4 LTD
46.51 Ac.
R403524

JEAN BAPTISTE LTD
29.6 Ac.
R032239

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE LP
42.47 Ac.
R031694

MARTI LEIGH LIMITED PTNRS
40.69 Ac.
R321825

WADE, AGNES STEVENS
30.72 Ac.
R051592

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
40.17 Ac.
R032104

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE LP
36.85 Ac.
R395875

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
22.25 Ac.
R032233

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
26.44 Ac.
R031600

LEANDER CITY OF
16.84 Ac.
R108637

MJAG PARTNERSHIP LTD
20.39 Ac.
R032221

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
17.96 Ac.
R505807

JEAN BAPTISTE LTD
15.4 Ac.
R462742

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
22.44 Ac.
R510026

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
21.01 Ac.
R481339

HILL COUNTRY BIBLE CHURCH
19 Ac.

R522995

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
18.55 Ac.
R031324

LEANDER I S D TRUSTEE
13.63 Ac.
R489452

OSBAHR, GUNTER J
10 Ac.

R031722

CAPITAL METROPOLITAN TRAN
13.66 Ac.
R457676

WYLIE, JOHN RICHARD
10 Ac.

R032206

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
13.63 Ac.
R458187

OSBAHR MARCIA FAMILY TRST
10 Ac.

R031721

FABCON PRODUCTS.COM INC
22.92 Ac.
R031253

LEANDER I S D TRUSTEE
12.5 Ac.
R485950

WYLIE, JOHN RICHARD
10.38 Ac.
R032194

WEST TEX TRADING RETIRE L
12.01 Ac.
R032234

CR 270

381 S
U

RM 2243

183A TO
LL R

D
 FR

 N
B

183A TO
LL R

D
 FR

 SB

HERO WAY

183A TO
LL R

D
 SB

183A TO
LL R

D
 N

B

381 S
U S

W SOUTH ST

US
 1

83
 S

B

381 S
U 

N

R
D T

SE
W S

US
 1

83
 N

B

OLD 2243 WEST

EVA SI
HTA

M LE
M

D
R E

V
O

R
G 

K
A

O

67
2 

R
C

E SAN GABRIEL PKWY

H
A

LS
EY

 D
R

962 
R

C

W SAN GABRIEL PKWY

LION DR

W BROADE ST

RIVA RIDGE DR

H
O

R
IZO

N
 PA

R
K

 B
LVD

HERITAGE GROVE RD

CR
 2

66

LEE DR

SONNY DR

MUNICIPAL DR

PVR 918

RANCHERO RD

EAGLES WAY

PVR
 949

CR 26
7

S BAG
DAD RD

W
H

IT
LE

Y 
D

R
SIGNAL HILL DR

C
A

R
O

L 
AV

E

ORCHARD DR

R
D A

SE
M

R
EM

IN
G

TO
N

 D
R

BAKER LN

SOUTH BROOK DR

SOUTH GABRIEL DR

HORSESHOE DR

MASON ST

CHRISTOPHER LN

TS Y
HS

U
R

B S

AMANDAS WAY

C
LA

YT
O

N
 D

R

B
U

R
G

E
SS

 D
R

BROADE W
AY

L
RT 

N
RE

HT
R

O
N

R
D 

RE
D

N
AEL

MICA LN

K
IN

G
 LN

NORTH CREEK BLVD

TOPAZ LN

MATHESON DR

HAZELWOOD ST

R
ET 

WEIVY
KS

K
ATH

E
R

IN
E W

AY

DEXTER DR

EVA 
RE

N
N

A
B

TS Y
HS

U
R

B 
N

R
D 

D
O

O
W T

NE
B

D
R YEL

D
O

O
W

W WILLIS ST

TABERNASH DR

TS LEI
R

B
A

G 
N

W METRO DR

SHERRY DR

OVERLOOK BND

PO
W

EL
L 

D
R

LEN BAR LN

R
A

N
C

H
O

 V
IE

JO
 L

N

R
D TSE

W 
N

TER
R

A
C

E D
R

L
RT ES

O
R 

A
M

ME

G
LE

N 
O

AK
 L

N

CINDY LN

E SONNY DR

JO
PP

A 
RD

H
EN

SL
EY

 D
R

LOS ROBLES RD

SCENIC PATH

CAMINO ALTO DR

B
A

G
D

A
D

 S
T

E SOUTH ST

PA
M

PA
S 

R
IC

A
S 

D
REN

C
A

N
TO

 D
R

SA
W

YE
R 

TR
L

JESS MAYNARD TRL

ES
TA

N
C

IA
 W

AY

SA
N

 V
IC

E
N

TE
 D

R

ATKIN ST

NORWOOD DR

C
O

Y
O

TE LN

METRO DR

C
O

U
LE

E 
D

R

ESC
O

N
D

ID
O

 D
R

R
D 

G
N

OS E
V

O
D

E EVANS ST

LA
C

Y 
D

R

BA
R 

RY
DE

R 
TR

L

ORCHARD C
V

NORTH
 H

IL
L C

IR

RUBLES CT

L
RT LISS

OF

R
D L

AE
R 

O
NI

M
A

C

JENNIFER LN

RI
C LLI

M
D

NI
W

M
O

O
N

 G
LO

W
 D

R

JOE BATES DR

B
LU

EB
O

N
N

ET TR
L

E BROADE ST

WASHBURN DR

R
D SS

AL
G

TEAL LN

GENTRY DR

HIGH GABRIEL EAST
YA

W EI Z
NE

K
C

A
M

PARKHURST DR

FLANAGAN DR

TS TS
AE 

N

HIGH GABRIEL  EAST

CABALLERO RD

AIKEN DR

M
O

R
G

A
N

 D
R

FRIENDSHIP CV

H
IG

H
 G

A
B

R
IE

L 
D

R

LEN
 B

A
R

 C
T

R
D S

A
NI

B
AS

S 
TR

EA
SU

R
E 

O
A

K
S 

D
R

PECAN GROVE DR

C
A

SITA
S C

T

DEW DROP LN

RI
C 

K
C

O
REL

B
AT

O
A

K
LA

N
D

 C
V

MIDDLE BROOK DR

RED BUD CV

L
RT 

N
RE

HT
R

O
N

MUNICIPAL DR

MIDDLE BROOK DR S1

S1

S2

S2

S1
S3

CD

CDOS

OS

CD

CD

CD

CD

C
o.

 R
d.

 2
76

Amandas
Way

South Brook Dr.

Coulee Dr.

Hero Way

Hero Way

San Gabriel Pkwy.

C
o.

 R
d.

 2
69

H
or

iz
on

 P
ar

k 
B

lv
d.

U.S.
 1

83

183A Toll R
oad

Heritage Grove Rd.

Broade St.

B
ru

sh
y 

St
.

U
.S

. 1
83

M
el

 M
at

hi
s A

ve
.

San Gabriel Pkwy.

RM 2243
South St.

A, B & C Streets
A
B
C

Sector Planning Boundary

A, B & C Streets

Sectors
S1  General Sector
S2 Transit Sector
S3 Old Town Sector
CD Conventional Sector
OS Open Space

7/9

Sector Planning Area
City of Leander, Texas

Sandy Sorlien / Smartcode Local & Michael Watkins Architect, llcMay 01, 2014

N
0

Feet

800400



RFHDAH LP
85.69 Ac.
R449731

ZANZI JAMES M T (+ 4)
118.92 Ac.
R031235

WATERSTONE MICHELLE LP
144.92 Ac.
R031699

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
150.63 Ac.
R485834

ZANZI JAMES M T (+ 4)
82.41 Ac.
R031236

AUSTIN COMMUNITY COLLEGE
100 Ac.

R505808

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
90.52 Ac.
R032213

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
79.33 Ac.
R032103

MARTI LEIGH LIMITED PARTN
70.37 Ac.
R031728

H E BUTT GROCERY CO
53.17 Ac.
R448044

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
47.62 Ac.
R031604

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
71.64 Ac.
R032196

HOUSE, FRANKLIN R
39.21 Ac.
R031325

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
61.05 Ac.
R457677

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
55.03 Ac.
R485832

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
51.99 Ac.
R433110

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
37.27 Ac.
R461858

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
51.64 Ac.
R485833

LEANDER DEVELOPERS 4 LTD
46.51 Ac.
R403524

JEAN BAPTISTE LTD
29.6 Ac.
R032239

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE LP
42.47 Ac.
R031694

MARTI LEIGH LIMITED PTNRS
40.69 Ac.
R321825

WADE, AGNES STEVENS
30.72 Ac.
R051592

LEANDER 183A DEVELOPMENT
40.17 Ac.
R032104

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE LP
36.85 Ac.
R395875

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
22.25 Ac.
R032233

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
26.44 Ac.
R031600

LEANDER CITY OF
16.84 Ac.
R108637

MJAG PARTNERSHIP LTD
20.39 Ac.
R032221

RB 270 PARTNERSHIP
17.96 Ac.
R505807

JEAN BAPTISTE LTD
15.4 Ac.
R462742

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
22.44 Ac.
R510026

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
21.01 Ac.
R481339

HILL COUNTRY BIBLE CHURCH
19 Ac.

R522995

TRANSIT VILLAGE INVESTMEN
18.55 Ac.
R031324

LEANDER I S D TRUSTEE
13.63 Ac.
R489452

OSBAHR, GUNTER J
10 Ac.

R031722

CAPITAL METROPOLITAN TRAN
13.66 Ac.
R457676

WYLIE, JOHN RICHARD
10 Ac.

R032206

BUTLER FAMILY SHINOAK LTD
13.63 Ac.
R458187

OSBAHR MARCIA FAMILY TRST
10 Ac.

R031721

FABCON PRODUCTS.COM INC
22.92 Ac.
R031253

LEANDER I S D TRUSTEE
12.5 Ac.
R485950

WYLIE, JOHN RICHARD
10.38 Ac.
R032194

WEST TEX TRADING RETIRE L
12.01 Ac.
R032234

CR 270

381 S
U

RM 2243

183A TO
LL R

D
 FR

 N
B

183A TO
LL R

D
 FR

 SB

HERO WAY

183A TO
LL R

D
 SB

183A TO
LL R

D
 N

B

381 S
U S

W SOUTH ST

US
 1

83
 S

B

381 S
U 

N

R
D T

SE
W S

US
 1

83
 N

B

OLD 2243 WEST

EVA SI
HTA

M LE
M

D
R E

V
O

R
G 

K
A

O

67
2 

R
C

E SAN GABRIEL PKWY

H
A

LS
EY

 D
R

962 
R

C

W SAN GABRIEL PKWY

LION DR

W BROADE ST

RIVA RIDGE DR

H
O

R
IZO

N
 PA

R
K

 B
LVD

HERITAGE GROVE RD

CR
 2

66

LEE DR

SONNY DR

MUNICIPAL DR

PVR 918

RANCHERO RD

EAGLES WAY

PVR
 949

CR 26
7

S BAG
DAD RD

W
H

IT
LE

Y 
D

R
SIGNAL HILL DR

C
A

R
O

L 
AV

E

ORCHARD DR

R
D A

SE
M

R
EM

IN
G

TO
N

 D
R

BAKER LN

SOUTH BROOK DR

SOUTH GABRIEL DR

HORSESHOE DR

MASON ST

CHRISTOPHER LN

TS Y
HS

U
R

B S

AMANDAS WAY

C
LA

YT
O

N
 D

R

B
U

R
G

E
SS

 D
R

BROADE W
AY

L
RT 

N
RE

HT
R

O
N

R
D 

RE
D

N
AEL

MICA LN

K
IN

G
 LN

NORTH CREEK BLVD

TOPAZ LN

MATHESON DR

HAZELWOOD ST

R
ET 

WEIVY
KS

K
ATH

E
R

IN
E W

AY

DEXTER DR

EVA 
RE

N
N

A
B

TS Y
HS

U
R

B 
N

R
D 

D
O

O
W T

NE
B

D
R YEL

D
O

O
W

W WILLIS ST

TABERNASH DR

TS LEI
R

B
A

G 
N

W METRO DR

SHERRY DR

OVERLOOK BND

PO
W

EL
L 

D
R

LEN BAR LN

R
A

N
C

H
O

 V
IE

JO
 L

N

R
D TSE

W 
N

TER
R

A
C

E D
R

L
RT ES

O
R 

A
M

ME

G
LE

N 
O

AK
 L

N

CINDY LN

E SONNY DR

JO
PP

A 
RD

H
EN

SL
EY

 D
R

LOS ROBLES RD

SCENIC PATH

CAMINO ALTO DR

B
A

G
D

A
D

 S
T

E SOUTH ST

PA
M

PA
S 

R
IC

A
S 

D
REN

C
A

N
TO

 D
R

SA
W

YE
R 

TR
L

JESS MAYNARD TRL

ES
TA

N
C

IA
 W

AY

SA
N

 V
IC

E
N

TE
 D

R

ATKIN ST

NORWOOD DR

C
O

Y
O

TE LN

METRO DR

C
O

U
LE

E 
D

R

ESC
O

N
D

ID
O

 D
R

R
D 

G
N

OS E
V

O
D

E EVANS ST

LA
C

Y 
D

R

BA
R 

RY
DE

R 
TR

L

ORCHARD C
V

NORTH
 H

IL
L C

IR

RUBLES CT

L
RT LISS

OF

R
D L

AE
R 

O
NI

M
A

C

JENNIFER LN

RI
C LLI

M
D

NI
W

M
O

O
N

 G
LO

W
 D

R

JOE BATES DR

B
LU

EB
O

N
N

ET TR
L

E BROADE ST

WASHBURN DR

R
D SS

AL
G

TEAL LN

GENTRY DR

HIGH GABRIEL EAST
YA

W EI Z
NE

K
C

A
M

PARKHURST DR

FLANAGAN DR

TS TS
AE 

N

HIGH GABRIEL  EAST

CABALLERO RD

AIKEN DR

M
O

R
G

A
N

 D
R

FRIENDSHIP CV

H
IG

H
 G

A
B

R
IE

L 
D

R

LEN
 B

A
R

 C
T

R
D S

A
NI

B
AS

S 
TR

EA
SU

R
E 

O
A

K
S 

D
R

PECAN GROVE DR

C
A

SITA
S C

T

DEW DROP LN

RI
C 

K
C

O
REL

B
AT

O
A

K
LA

N
D

 C
V

MIDDLE BROOK DR

RED BUD CV

L
RT 

N
RE

HT
R

O
N

MUNICIPAL DR

MIDDLE BROOK DR S1

S1

S2

S2

S1
S3

CD

CDOS

OS

CD

CD

CD

CD

Optional:
CLDs and TNDs

based on pedestrian
sheds may be developed

anywhere in CD.

Hero Way

Hero Way

San Gabriel Pkwy.

C
o.

 R
d.

 2
69

H
or

iz
on

 P
ar

k 
B

lv
d.

U.S.
 1

83

183A Toll R
oad

Heritage Grove Rd.

Broade St.

B
ru

sh
y 

St
.

U
.S

. 1
83

M
el

 M
at

hi
s A

ve
.

San Gabriel Pkwy.

RM 2243
South St.

Transect Zones

T1  Natural
T2  Rural
T3  Sub-Urban
T4  General Urban
T5  Urban Center
T6  Urban Core
Civic Building
Special District

Sector Planning Boundary

Community Units
 - TND - -
 - - RCD - 
 - - - OTD
 CLD TND - -
 - - - -

  CLD TND RCD OTD

 T1/T2 50% min.  no min. - -

 T3 10-30% 10-30% - -
 T4 20-40% 30-60% 10-30% mapped
 T5 - 10-30% 10-30% mapped
 T6 - - 40-80% -

Transect Zone Allocation

Sectors
S1  General Sector
S2 Transit Sector
S3 Old Town Sector
CD Conventional Sector
OS Open Space

1/2 mile radius Pedestrian Shed
1/4 mile radius Pedestrian Shed

Sector Map with9/9
Approved Transect Zones

Sector Planning Area
City of Leander, Texas

Sandy Sorlien / Smartcode Local & Michael Watkins Architect, llcApril 21, 2014

N
0

Feet

800400



SAVANNA RANCH,SEC 1

BENBROOK RANCH,
SEC 2

BENBROOK
RANCH
PARK

DEVINE
LAKE
PARK

BENBROOK RANCH,
SEC 1

PLAIN
ES

LEANDER
PARK & RIDE
RAIL STATION

EONCR,SEC 2

EONCR,SEC 1
EONCR,SEC 3

ESTATES OF
NORTH CREEK
RANCH, SEC 4

BAGDAD
ES

NORTHCREEK,SEC 3
HAWKESLANDING

NORTH CREEKSEC 2

NORTH CREEKSEC 1
NORTHCREEKCOMMPARK

LEANDER 2243
SUBDIVISION

H.E.B

BAGDAD
CEMETERY

BAGDADMEADOWS

WESTWOOD

CARNEROSSUBDIVISION
WESTVIEWMEADOWS

WESTVIEWMEADOWSSEC 4

OLDTOWNVILLAGE

OLD TOWNVILLAGE,SEC 2

OLD TOWNVILLAGE,SEC 1
LISD LISD

LISD

LEO
CTR

WA
LK

ER
 A

DD
ITI

ON

ATKIN ADDITION

MASONS ADDITION

ORIGINAL TOWN OF LEANDER

LEANDER CROSSING

LEANDER CROSSING

LEANDER CROSSING

OVERLOOK ESTATES

CRYSTALCROSSINGPH 1

RIDGEWOODNORTH

OAKRIDGE,SEC4

OAKRIDGE,SEC3

OAKRIDGE,SEC2

OAKRIDGE,SEC1

ALLENREEDACRES

LEANDERHEIGHTS, SEC 3

LEANDER
MS

LEANDERHEIGHTS,SEC 1

MAGNOLIA CREEK

MASONCREEKNORTH,SEC 2

MASONCREEKNORTH,SEC 1

MASON CREEK.SEC 4

FALCON OAKS,SEC 1

BLEDSOE
PARK

VISTA RIDGE,PH 3

VISTA RIDGE,PH 1
VISTA RIDGE,PH 4 LION ACRES

LEANDERHEIGHTS,SEC 2

MASON
CREEK
PARK

N. CREEK
RANCH
PARK

NORTH CREEK DR

GLOBAL VILLAGE

NORTHSIDE MEADOW

VILLAS ATVISTA RIDGE
VISTA RIDGE,PH 2A

PALMERA RIDGE

MARBELLA

STEWARTCROSSING

4C

2A

5D

4C

2A

4C

3A

4C

4C

3A

4C

5D

5D

5D

5D

4C

4C

2A

5D

4C3A3A

4D

5D

4C
5D

3A

5D

4C

3A

5D

2A

2A

3A

4C
4C

4C

4C

4C
4C

4C

4C5C

3A

CR 270

US
 18

3

RM 2243

HERO WAY

183A TOLL RD FR NB

183A TOLL RD FR SB

183A TOLL RD SB
183A TOLL RD NB

W SOUTH ST

S U
S 

18
3

N 
US

 18
3

CR
 27

6

OLD 2243 WEST

ME
L M

AT
HI

S A
VE

E SAN GABRIEL PKWY

S W
ES

T D
R

HA
LS

EY
 DR

BA
KE

R 
LN

CR
 26

9

US
 18

3 S
B

OA
K 

GR
OV

E R
D

W SAN GABRIEL PKWY

LION DR

US
 18

3 N
B

W BR
OAD

E S
T

CR 26
7

LEE DR

HERITAGE GROVE RD

PVR 918

ORCHARD DR

HORIZON PARK BLVD

MUNICIPAL DR

CHRISTOPHER LN

WH
ITL

EY
 D

R

CA
RO

L A
VE

ME
SA

 D
R

S BAGDAD RD

SOUTH BROOK DR

RE
MI

NG
TO

N 
DR

MASON ST

HORSESHOE DR

MI
KE

S W
AY

AMANDAS WAY
CL

AY
TO

N 
DR

KING LN

BROADE WAY

NORTH CREEK BLVD

NO
RT

HE
RN

 TR
L

RIVA RIDGE DR

HAZELWOOD ST

JENNIFER LN

SHERRY DR

LEN BAR LN

TE
RR

AC
E 

DR
HE

NS
LE

Y D
R

LOS ROBLES RD

COLLABORATIVE WAY

BA
GD

AD
 ST

E SOUTH ST

PVR 949

METRO DR

NORWOOD DR

E EVANS ST

RUBLES CT
JOE BATES DR

TEAL LN

PARKHURST DR

MUNICIPAL DR

±0 1,000 2,000 3,000
Feet

ZONING CASE 14-Z-013
TOD PUD Amendment &
SmartCode Update

SFR
SFE
SFS
SFU
SFC 
SFL

SFT 
SFU/MH
TF
MF
LO 
LC

GC
HC
HI
PUD

TOD PUD Boundary
City Limits
Future Annexation Per DA
Involuntary Annexation
Voluntary Annexation



Item # 10 
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
JUNE 26, 2014 

  
 

 
 
Agenda Subject: Composite Zoning Ordinance Case 14-OR-003:  Hold a public 

hearing and consider action on amending sections of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance, to add the definition of ornamental 
trees and riparian corridors and to modify the definition of a 
significant tree, update the site standards regarding landscape 
requirements, to add and modify requirements for drainage and 
detention facilities, to amend the site development standards to 
include the protection of riparian corridors, and to update the 
parking lot connections requirements.   

 
Background: One of the goals of the Comprehensive Plan is to "Enhance 

protective measures for areas of unique environmental quality."  
The plan goes on to identify two specific objectives, 1) adopt 
standards for the protection of significant trees, and 2) adopt 
standards and practices to protect significant riparian corridors.  In 
addition, it is the City's goal to foster the conservation of natural 
resources including water conservation.  The Planning & Zoning 
Commission identified this item as Priority #3 at the November 14, 
2013 meeting.  Staff is proposing the following amendments to the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance in order to achieve these goals: 
1. Addition of the definition of ornamental trees and riparian 

corridors 
2. Modification of the definition of a significant tree 
3. Update the site standards regarding landscape requirements 
4. Addition and modification of the requirements for drainage and 

detention facilities 
5. Amendment of the site development standards to include the 

protection of riparian corridors 
6. Update the parking lot connections requirements 

 
Origination: City of Leander Planning Department 
 
Financial  
Consideration: None 
 
  



Item # 10 
 

Recommendation:  Staff recommends approval. 
 
Attachments: 1.   Summary of Proposed Amendments 
  
Prepared By:   Robin M. Griffin, AICP  
 Senior Planner  06/19/2014 
 



1 
 

COMPOSITE ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS 

ARTICLE I – GENERAL 
 
SECTION 6:  DEFINITIONS 
Ornamental Tree means a tree that is identified as a small tree/large shrub in the 
preferred plant list maintained by the Planning Department or the Grow Green Guide for 
Native and Adaptive Landscape Plants published by the City of Austin Watershed Protection 
and Texas A&M AgriLife Extension. 
 
Riparian Corridor means any defined stream channel including the area up to the ordinary 
high water (or bankfull-flow line), as well as all riparian (streamside) vegetation in 
contiguous adjacent uplands.  Riparian Corridors also includes the Secondary Trail Corridors 
identified in the City of Leander Parks, Recreation & Open Space Master Plan. 
 
Significant Tree means a living tree that the City desires to preserve to the greatest extent 
possible. They include trees  identified in the preferred plant list maintained by the Planning 
Department or the Grow Green Guide for Native and Adaptive Landscape Plants published by 
the City of Austin Watershed Protection and Texas A&M AgriLife Extension.  hardwood trees 
such as oak, elm, pecan, walnut, hickory, cherry, cypress, redbud and any rare species.  They 
do not include hackberry, mountain juniper, cedar, bois d’arc, cottonwood, chinaberry or 
sycamore, except for an unusually large or significant specimen or any other invasive species 
listed in the Grow Green Guide for Native and Adapted Landscape Plants. 

 
ARTICLE VI – SITE STANDARDS 

SECTION 1:  LANDSCAPING AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS 
(a) Purpose. 

(1) For providing for the orderly, safe, attractive and healthful development of land 
located within the community and promoting the health, safety and general 
welfare of the community, it is deemed necessary to establish requirements for 
the installation and maintenance of landscaping elements and other means of site 
improvements in developed properties.  

(2) To enhance the community's ecological, environmental and aesthetic qualities. 
(3) Paved surfaces, automobiles, buildings and other improvements produce increases 

in air temperatures, a problem especially noticeable in this southern region, 
whereas plants have the opposite effect through transpiration and the creation of 
shade. Likewise, impervious surfaces created by development generate greater 
water runoff causing problems from contamination, erosion and flooding. 
Preserving and improving the natural environment and maintaining a working 
ecological balance are of increasing concern. The fact that the use of landscape 
elements can contribute to the processes of air purification, oxygen regeneration, 
water absorption, water purification, and noise, glare and heat abatement as well 
as the preservation of the community's aesthetic qualities indicates that the use of 
landscape elements is of benefit to the health, welfare and general well being of 
the community and, therefore, it is proper that the use of such elements be 
required. 



2 
 

(4) The City experiences frequent droughts; therefore, it is the purpose of this Section 
to encourage the use of drought resistant vegetation. 
 

(b) General. 
(1) Installation: All landscape materials shall be installed and maintained according to 

generally accepted landscape practices for the region.  Low water demanding 
landscapes, are encouraged and should include plants recommended by the Lower 
Colorado River Authority’s Texas Hill Country Landscape Option Specifications, a 
copy of which is available in the City Planning Department. 

(2) Maintenance: The owner of landscaped property shall be responsible for the 
maintenance of all landscape areas. Said areas shall be maintained so as to 
present a healthy, neat and orderly appearance at all times and shall be kept free 
of refuse and debris. All planted areas shall be provided with a readily available 
water supply and watered as necessary to ensure continuous healthy growth and 
development.  Landscape irrigation systems shall not be mandatory with low 
water demanding landscapes, which are encouraged.  Maintenance shall include 
the removal of dead plant material and its replacement if that material was used 
to meet the requirements of this section. 

(3) Significant Trees greater than eight (8) inches in caliper shall be preserved to the 
greatest extent reasonably possible. Significant Trees removed during 
construction shall be supplanted with Replacement Trees if required by the 
landscape requirements of this section. 

(4) Replacement Trees. 
(i) Replacement Trees shall be a minimum of two (2) inches in caliper measured 

four (4’) feet above finished grade immediately after planting. A list of 
recommended replacement trees shall be maintained by the Department of 
Planning and included in the Grow Green Guide for Native and Adaptive 
Landscape Plants published by the City of Austin Watershed Protection and 
Texas A&M AgriLife Extension. 

(ii) If the developer chooses to substitute trees not included on the 
recommended list, those trees shall have an average mature crown greater 
than fifteen (15) feet in diameter to meet the requirements of this section. 
Trees having an average mature crown less than fifteen (15) feet in diameter 
may be substituted by grouping trees so as to create at maturity the 
equivalent of a fifteen foot (15) diameter crown if the drip line area is 
maintained. 

(iii) A minimum pervious area three (3) feet in radius, and not less than fifty 
percent (50%) of the calculated drip line area is required around the trunks 
of all existing and proposed trees.  The radius of a drip line area is calculated 
as the trunk caliper times twelve.  (Example:  An eight inch caliper tree has 
a drip line of eight feet in radius.) 

(5) Shrubs, vines and ground cover planted pursuant to this section shall be healthy 
nursery stock.  

(6) Turfgrass. 
(i) All turfgrass installed shall have summer dormancy capabilities and shall be 

one of the varieties set forth in Exhibit “B” the preferred plant list maintained 
by the Planning Department or the Grow Green Guide for Native and Adaptive 
Landscape Plants published by the City of Austin Watershed Protection and 
Texas A&M AgriLife Extension.  Buffalo grass, zoysia grass or Bermuda grass 
are recommended for sunny sections of the landscape.   

(ii) Turfgrass shall be limited to two thirds (2/3) of the lot after subtracting the 
impervious cover for single-family and two-family lots.  Alternative options to 
turfgrass can include native and adaptive landscape plants as specified in the 



3 
 

Grow Green Guide for Native and Adaptive Landscape Plants published by the 
City of Austin Watershed Protection and Texas A&M AgriLife Extension, mulch, 
crushed granite, or similar material.  No more than fifty (50%) percent of the 
lot may consist of non-plant material.  

(i)(iii) Turfgrass shall be limited to fifty (50%) percent of the required landscape 
area for other than single-family and two-family development (he maximum 
landscape that may be planted in turfgrass for commercial development 
(listed in (c) subsections (i) through (iv) below) is fifty (50) percent.   

 

All Cultivars which achieved at least 80% recovery after 60 days without precipitation 
or rainfall 
  EXHIBIT B   
  11/22/2006 Stat. 11/22/2006 
Cultivar Species % Recovery Grouping Uniformity 
Celebration Bermudagrass 100.0 a 9.00 a 
Grimes EXP Bermudagrass 100.0 a 9.00 a 
Common Bermuda Bermudagrass 98.8 ab 9.00 a 
GN1 Bermudagrass 98.8 ab 9.00 a 
Tifway 419 Bermudagrass 98.8 ab 9.00 a 
Tex Turf Bermudagrass 97.5 ab 9.00 a 
TifSport Bermudagrass 97.5 ab 9.00 a 
Buffalograss Buffalograss 95.0 abc 9.00 a 
Floratam Saint Augustine 88.8 abcd 8.50 a 

Source: Chalmers, et. Al., Evaluation of sixty-Day Drought Survival in San Antonio of 
Established Turfgrass Species and Cultivars: Year 1,San Antonio Water System, 2006 

(6)(7) Synthetic or artificial lawns or plants shall not be used in lieu of plant 
requirements. 

(7)(8) The use of architectural planters may be permitted in fulfillment of landscape 
requirements. 

(8)(9) Any approved decorative aggregate or pervious brick pavers shall qualify for up to 
ten percent (10%) of the required landscaping if contained in planting areas, but no 
credit shall be given for concrete or other impervious surfaces. 

(9)(10) Other than single-family and two-family development, setback areas shall be 
landscaped per the standards of this section. 
 

(c) Landscape Requirements. 
(1) A minimum percentage of the total lot area of property on which development 

occurs, after the effective date of this ordinance, shall be devoted to landscape 
development in accordance with the following schedule.  Such percentages may 
include setback areas.  The maximum landscape that may be planted in turfgrass 
for commercial development (listed in subsections (i) through (iv) below) is fifty 
(50) percent.  However, all non-single-family and non-two-family setback areas 
are required to be landscaped in accordance with (23) below even if they exceed 
the following percentages: 
(i) Multifamily Dwellings, 20% 
(ii) Office and Professional Uses, 15% 
(iii) Commercial Uses, 15% 
(iv) Industrial or manufacturing, 10% 



4 
 

(v) Single-family-Dwellings and Two-Family dwellings, see Item (34) below 
(vi) Schools, churches, community centers and parks, 15%.  

 
(2) The following may not be counted toward the above landscape area requirements: 

(i) Detention and water quality ponds unless such ponds are designed as 
follows: 
a. The ponds shall utilize earthen berms.   
b. Any structural stabilization shall be limited to the use of native stone 

(except for outlet structures) and shall be limited to not more than thirty 
percent (30%) of the perimeter of the pond.   

c. Such ponds shall be seamlessly integrated with the landscaping. 
d. Such ponds shall be not greater than eighteen inches deep. 
e. Such ponds shall not comprise more than 25% of the required 

landscaped area. 
(ii) Utility, mechanical and electrical facilities.  
(iii) Sidewalks or other paved surfaces except for any decorative aggregate or 

pervious brick pavers if contained in planting areas and comprising less than 
ten percent (10%) of the required landscape area. 

(iv) Landscaped areas less than four feet in width.  In calculating the width of 
landscaped areas, such areas shall not be divided by any form of pavement 
(e.g. sidewalks, detention or water quality ponds, paving, etc.) 
 

(3) (The following is for other than single-family or two-family development) Trees 
and shrubs identified on the preferred plant list and included in the Grow Green 
Guide for Native and Adaptive Landscape Plants published by the City of Austin 
Watershed Protection and Texas A&M AgriLife Extension  shall be utilized within the 
required landscaping as described below.  At least seventy five percent (75%) of 
the planted trees are required to be significant trees such as oak, elm, pecan, 
walnut, hickory, cherry, cypress, redbud and any rare species.  Existing significant 
trees and shrubs that are retained in healthy condition may count toward 
fulfillment of these requirements.  In calculating the credit from existing 
significant trees and shrubs that are retained, shrubs shall be credited on a one 
for one basis if such shrub is equivalent or greater in size to a comparable five 
gallon container grown shrub.  Trees shall be credited on a caliper inch basis (for 
every one caliper inch of a tree that is saved, credit shall be given for one caliper 
inch of a tree required to be planted), with saved significant trees over 18” caliper 
counting on a one for two basis (for every one caliper inch of a significant tree 
over 18” caliper that is saved, credit shall be given for two caliper inches of a tree 
required to be planted). 
(i) For every six hundred (600) square feet of landscape area and setback area 

required by this ordinance, two (2) shade trees (two inch caliper or larger) 
and four (4) shrubs (five gallon container size or larger) shall be planted.  
Two ten gallon ornamental trees may be substituted for every one required 
shade tree as long as at least half of the required number of shade trees is 
installed. 

(ii) To allow for larger landscaped activity areas at school facilities, for every 600 
sq. ft. of landscaping required by this section, 1 tree and 3 shrubs (five 
gallon container size or larger) shall be planted. 

(iii) To reduce the thermal impact of unshaded parking lots, additional trees shall 
be planted as necessary so that the center point of each parking space is no 
more than 50 feet away from the trunk of a tree.  

(1) (4) Minimum landscape requirements for detached single-family and two-family 
residential structures (except for townhouses on lots less than thirty-five feet wide 



5 
 

in the SFT district) shall be two (2) two-inch significant trees such as oak, elm, 
pecan, walnut, hickory, cherry, cypress, redbud and any rare species measured 
eighteen inches above finished grade immediately after planting, three (3) one-
gallon shrubs, three (3) five-gallon shrubs and lawn turf grass or alternative as 
defined in (b)(6)(ii) of this Section from the front property line to the front two (2) 
corners of the structure and a minimum coverage area extending 3’ from the 
slab/foundation to protect water runoff from the roof drip line.  If lawn grass is not 
used in this area, then rain gutter systems shall be in place.  One three and a half 
inch caliper tree may be substituted for two (2) two-inch trees if the tree is 
planted in the front yard.  Existing trees and shrubs that are retained in healthy 
condition may count toward fulfillment of these requirements.  Minimum 
landscape requirements for townhouses constructed in the SFT district on lots less 
than thirty-five feet wide are the same as above except that only one hardwood 
tree is required to be planted per lot. 

 
(5) Significant trees removed during construction shall be replaced based on a 

replacement ratio (inches removed to inches planted) as follows: 
(i) Replacement trees shall not be required for the removal of trees less than 

eight (8) inches in caliper. 
(ii) For every one caliper inch of existing significant tree eighteen (18) inches 

and larger that is not retained during construction in healthy condition, two 
caliper inches of significant tree shall be planted as replacement for projects 
(other than single-family or two-family development meeting above 
requirements). 

(ii)(iii) For every one caliper inch of existing significant tree eighteen (18) 
inches and larger that is located within proposed right-of-way or utility 
easements as part of a single-family or two-family development, two caliper 
inches of significant tree shall be planted as replacement for projects.  The 
required replacement trees for single-family or two-family developments 
may be planted in park or landscape lots that will be owned and maintained 
by the homeowners association and located within the same subdivision.   

(iii)(iv) For every one caliper inch of existing significant tree between eight (8) 
and eighteen (18) inches that exceeds 50% of total caliper inches that is not 
retained, one caliper inch of significant tree shall be planted as replacement 
for projects (other than single-family or two-family development meeting 
above requirements). 

(iv)(v) Existing hardwood trees less than the size required for replacement 
and greater than or equal to two inches in caliper, and existing hardwood 
trees between 8” and 18” to an extent greater than 50% of the total caliper 
inches that are retained during construction in healthy condition may be 
counted toward replacement requirements as well as toward planting 
requirements. 

(v)(vi) A fee in lieu of planting replacement trees of not less than one 
hundred fifty dollars ($150) per required caliper inch may be paid by the 
applicant, or planting replacement trees in remote locations may be 
approved, if replacement plantings are not feasible on the site. 

(vi)(vii) Removal of Significant Trees larger than eighteen (18) inches in caliper 
for other than single-family or two-family development, or other than such 
trees included in an alternative tree preservation plan as described in (viii) 
below, requires approval of the Commission. 

(vii)(viii) An alternative tree preservation plan may be approved by the Director 
of Planning for properties where existing tree cover is especially dense and 
the following are found: 



6 
 

a. Removal of a significant number of trees is unavoidable,  
b. The applicant has planned the development so as to save the highest 

quality and greatest number of trees that could be reasonably expected,  
c. All areas of the site that can be reasonably utilized for tree replacement 

have been utilized, and 
d. The landscape area and tree planting requirements of this ordinance have 

been exceeded by at least fifty percent (50%), 
(viii)(ix) An applicant for a single-family or two-family preliminary plat or final 

plat (except in the SFR district) shall provide an aerial photo or tree survey 
with the street and lot layout superimposed at a scale of 1”=100’ (or as 
appropriate).  The aerial photo shall be high resolution and printed at no less 
than 300 dpi and spatial resolution of one (1) foot or less pixels.  In addition, 
the applicant shall provide a tree survey for trees eighteen (18) caliper 
inches and larger and located within proposed right-of-way or utility 
easements.  The applicant shall provide a tree preservation plan that 
identifies the surveyed trees and the mitigation of the protected trees that 
are proposed for removal.and  aAn applicant for a commercial building 
permit shall provide a tree survey with the application identifying significant 
trees located on the property that meet the requirements indicated in this 
subsection.  The applicant shall provide a tree preservation plan that shows 
which trees are to be preserved and protected and which trees are to be 
replaced in accordance with the replacement requirements of this subsection, 
if any, and shall be required to demonstrate that lot lines, street layouts and 
site improvements have been designed and located and that lot width, depth 
and size flexibility as permitted by the applicable zoning district has been 
utilized to the maximum extent necessary to retain the maximum number of 
significant trees reasonably practicable.  The Director of Planning shall 
determine if adequate performance is achieved based on the standards of 
this paragraph.  Approval of the tree protection plan by the Director of 
Planning is required prior to preparation and submission of a subdivision or 
building permit application.  The applicant may appeal any decision of the 
Director to the Commission.  A decision of the Commission may be appealed 
to the City Council.  Any preserved or replacement trees may be counted 
toward the landscape requirements of this section.  See the Construction 
Plan requirements for details. 

(6) Credit for Significant Trees: In order to provide credit toward the preservation of 
existing significant trees, no more than fifty percent (50%) of the critical root zone 
shall be disturbed and/or distressed with impervious cover, and the remaining 
critical root zone shall consist of at least one hundred (100) square feet. 

(7) Invasive Species:  Multi-Family and non-residential projects are required to 
remove all invasive species for the portion of the project indentified within the 
limits of construction.  Single-family and two-family developments that remove all 
invasive species as listed in the Grow Green Guide for Native and Adaptive 
Landscape Plants published by the City of Austin Watershed Protection and Texas 
A&M AgriLife Extension are eligible for a twenty-five (25%) percent credit towards 
the tree mitigation requirements.   

(8) Tree Diversification:  No more than fifty (50%) percent of the same species may 
be planted to meet the tree planting requirements. 

(9) The landscaping shall be placed upon that portion of a tract or lot that is being 
developed. Fifty percent (50%) of the required landscaped area and required 
plantings contained in (c) landscape requirements (above) shall be installed 
between the front property lines and the building being constructed. Undeveloped 
portions of a tract or lot shall not be considered landscaped, except as specifically 



7 
 

approved by the City. Landscaping placed within public right-of-ways shall not 
fulfill the minimum landscape requirements.  

(10) No landscaping over three feet in height shall be planted within forty (40) feet of 
the intersection of any street pavement (see Figure N).  Any planted or existing 
vegetation within this area shall be kept pruned so that foliage shall not grow or 
exist within three and eight feet above the elevation of the curb closest to the 
vegetation. 

(11) The Director of Planning may grant exceptions to these provisions to require a 
lesser amount of landscaping if the intent of this ordinance is met, and the 
reduction of the landscape area results in the preservation of natural features 
having comparable value. 

(12) In cases of death or removal of a tree planted pursuant to the terms of this 
section, a replacement tree of equal size and type shall be required to be planted. 
A smaller tree that will have a mature crown similar to the tree removed may be 
substituted if the planting area or pervious cover provided for the larger tree in 
this section is retained. 

(13) The location, calculations, size and description of all landscaping and screening 
materials proposed to satisfy the requirements of this section shall be shown on a 
Landscape Plan, and included with the construction plans. 

(14) Landscape plans are required with all new multi-family and non-residential 
permits showing:  
(i) New and existing trees, shrubs, groundcover, turf areas and native areas.  
(ii) Proposed plantings by botanical name, common name, spacing, quantity, 

container size. 
(iii) Property lines, streets and street names 
(iv) Driveway(s), sidewalk(s) and other hardscape features 
(v) Existing and/or proposed buildings. 
(vi) Point of irrigation connection (POC) and water meter for the irrigation 

system. 
(15) Soil Depth (New residential and non-residential)      

All new landscapes (non-residential and residential) are required to have a 
minimum of six inches (6") of soil depth in areas planted with turfgrass. This six-
inch (6") minimum soil depth will consist of 75 percent soil blended with 25 
percent compost. The soil/compost blend shall be incorporated into the top two 
inches of the native soil. The six-inch (6") depth requirement does not apply to 
the area between the drip line and trunk of existing trees, shrub beds or wildscape 
areas.  Areas with existing native vegetation that remain undisturbed shall be 
exempt from the soil depth provision of this section; provided that native soil and 
vegetation in such area is fenced during construction and protected from 
disturbance and compaction during the construction process.  

(16) Mulch (all non-residential properties). All exposed soil surfaces of non-turf areas 
within the developed landscape area must be mulched with a minimum two-inch 
layer of organic material. Examples of organic material include pine bark, 
shredded cedar, composted leaves, and shredded landscape clippings. 
Native/wildscape areas are exempt. 

(17) WaterWise Landscape Principles. These principles shall be an integral component 
of the landscape design and plan. Homebuilders shall be required to offer a 
WaterWise landscape option in any series of landscape options offered to home 
buyers.  The seven basic principles of WaterWise landscaping include: 
(i) Proper planning and design 



8 
 

(ii) Proper soil preparation (compost-improved topsoil) 
(iii) Practical turfgrass selection of drought resistant-species  
(iv) Appropriate plant selection.  The plants listed as invasive plants to avoid  in 

the Grow Green Guide for Native and Adaptive Landscape Plants published by 
the City of Austin Watershed Protection and Texas A&M AgriLife Extension set 
forth in Exhibit “C” shall not be offered as part of a WaterWise landscape 
option. 

 
EXHIBIT C 

List of Invasive Plants Not Acceptable for Use  
The following list comes from the August 2004 edition of the Grow Green Guide to Native 
and Adapted Landscape Plants. 

Trees to Avoid 
Chinaberry    Melia azedarach 
Chinese Parasol Tree   Firmiana simplex 
Chinese Pistache   Pistacia chinensis 
Chinese Tallow    Sapium sebiferum 
Mimosa (non-native)   Albizzia julibrissin 
Paper Mulberry    Broussonetia papyrifera 
Salt Cedar    Tamarisk spp. 
Tree of Heaven    Ailanthus altissima 
Vitex     Vitex agnus-castus 
White Mulberry    Morus alba 
Shrubs to Avoid 
Chinese Photinia    Photinia spp. 
Common Privet    Ligustrum sinense, L. vulgare 
Japanese Ligustrum   Ligustrum lucidum 
Nandina (berrying varieties)  Nandina domestica 
Pyracantha    Pyracantha spp. 
Russian Olive    Elaeagnus angustifolia 
Wax Leaf Ligustrum   Ligustrum japonicum 
Vines to Avoid 
Cat’s Claw Vine    Macfadyena unguis-cati 
English Ivy    Hedera helix 
Japanese Honeysuckle   Lonicera japonica 
Kudzu     Pueraria lobata 
Vinca     Vinca major, V. Minor 
Wisteria (non-native)   Wisteria sinensis, W. floribunda 
Other Plants to Avoid 
Elephant Ear    Alocasia spp., Colocasia spp. 
Giant Cane    Arundo donax 
Holly Fern    Cyrtomium falcatum 
Running Bamboo   Phyllostachys aurea 

(v) Efficient irrigation systems 
(vi) Use of mulches 
(vii) Appropriate maintenance 

 
(18) Irrigation Requirements (New residential and non-residential installations): 



9 
 

(i) All irrigation systems, both residential and non-residential, shall be installed 
in accordance with state law, Title 2 Texas Water Code, Chapter 34 and Title 
30 Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 344, as amended, as regulated and 
enforced by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ). 
Irrigation contractors who install the irrigation system must be a TCEQ 
Licensed Irrigator.  

(ii) A permit shall be required for the installation of all automatic irrigation 
systems. 

(iii) All automatic irrigation systems are required to have a rain sensor connected 
to an irrigation controller in order to stop the irrigation cycle during and after 
a rainfall event. Rain sensors are to be installed in a location where rainfall is 
unobstructed, such as a rooftop or fence line. Rain sensors are to be 
adjusted at the one-fourth-inch setting. 

(iv) All new residential and non-residential irrigation systems are required to 
have pressure regulators if static pressure at the site exceeds the sprinkler 
manufacturer’s recommended operating range. Extensive misting due to high 
pressure wastes water. 

(v) Irrigation systems are to have a controller with multiple cycle, rain sensor 
capability and irrigation water budget feature. 

(vi) Sprinkler systems shall be designed as to minimize overspray onto the 
hardscape. 

(vii) Sprinkler heads shall be installed at least eight (8) inches from the curb. 
(viii) For strips of land less than six (6) feet in width, spray irrigation shall be 

prohibited and low-flow irrigation systems (such as drip, bubblers or micro-
irrigation) are required. For strips of land between six (6) feet and fifteen 
(15) feet in width, only low-flow irrigation (such as drip, bubblers or micro-
irrigation), or spray irrigation using low-angle spray nozzles designed for the 
specific width to be irrigated shall be permitted.  For strips of land more than 
fifteen (15) feet in width, only low precipitation rotors with low angle nozzles 
may be used to irrigate turf areas. Planting beds may be irrigated with low-
flow or spray irrigation. All spray heads must be designed to prevent low 
head drainage. 

(ix) The incorporation of treated effluent, rainwater, or water from rain/storm 
water systems in an irrigation system is encouraged. 

(19) A property owner’s association may not include or enforce a provision in a 
dedicatory instrument that prohibits or restricts a property owner from: 
(i) Implementing measures promoting solid waste composting of vegetation, 

including grass clippings, leaves or brush, or leaving grass clippings 
uncollected on grass; 

(ii) Installing rain barrels or a rainwater harvesting system; or 
(iii) Implementing efficient irrigation systems, including underground drip or 

other drip irrigation systems. 
(20)  A property owner’s association may not include or enforce a provision that 

requires:  
(i) A defined irrigation schedule specified by the association unless at defined 

irrigation schedule is mandated by the association’s water supplier in order 
to curtail outdoor water use; 

(ii) Maintenance of the landscape to a specified level that requires the property 
owner to irrigate his or her landscape; 

(iii) Installation or maintenance of any specific variety or limited choice of 
varieties of turf grass; or 

(iv) The homeowner to install a minimum percentage of turf in the landscape. 
 



10 
 

 
***** 

SECTION 7:  DRAINAGE AND DETENTION FACILITIES: 
(a) Purpose. 

The purpose of this section is provide for the design of drainage and detention facilities that 
contribute to the visual aesthetics of projects and limit the amounts of visible concrete that 
do not meet the requirements listed below.   

(b) Non-Residential and Multi-Family Drainage and Detention Facilities: 
(1) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities include all detention ponds, water 

quality ponds, outlet structures, berms, improved channels or other improvements 
associated with the drainage improvements.  Roadside swales and inlets are not 
included. 

(2) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities are not allowed within ten feet (10’) 
of street ROW except those which are necessary to convey drainage in the shortest 
possible route to or from street ROW. 

(3) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities located within the front setback shall 
not exceed 25% of the area of the front setback. 

(4) Any fencing around non-residential and multi-family detention ponds shall be 
constructed of wrought iron or tubular metal or other similar product. 

(5) Vertical walls for non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities shall be limited to 
not more than thirty (30%) percent of the perimeter of the pond excluding outlet 
structures.  The remainder of the perimeter shall be earthern embankment no steeper 
than 3:1 slope.  All exposed concrete is required to provide textured concrete and 
tinting in earthern colors, or masonry veneer including but not limited to ledgestone, 
fieldstone, or cast stone.   In the event that the drainage facility is below grade, 
concrete is permitted and screening requirements listed in Article VI, Section 1 (d) of 
this Ordinance shall apply. 

(c) Residential Drainage and Detention Facilities: 
(1) Residential drainage facilities include all detention ponds, water quality ponds, outlet 

structures, berms, improved channels or other improvements associated with the 
drainage improvements. Roadside swales and inlets are not included. 

(2) Residential drainage facilities shall utilize earthern berms and be designed with a curvi-
linear shape.  Any structural stabilization shall be limited to the use of native stone 
(except for outlet structures) and shall be limited to not more than thirty (30%) 
percent of the perimeter of the pond.  Such ponds shall be seamlessly integrated with 
the landscaping.     

(1)(3) All exposed concrete is required to provide textured concrete and tinting in 
earthern colors, or masonry veneer including but not limited to ledgestone, fieldstone, 
or cast stone.  In the event that the drainage facility is below grade, concrete is 
permitted and screening requirements Article VI, Sec. 1 (d) of this Ordinance shall 
apply. 

   



11 
 

SECTION 14:   ADDITIONAL MULTI-FAMILY AND NON-RESIDENTIAL STANDARDS  
 
***** 
 
(a) Non-Residential and Multi-Family Drainage and Detention Facilities: 

(1) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities include all detention ponds, water 
quality ponds, outlet structures, berms, improved channels or other improvements 
associated with the drainage improvements. 

(2) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities are not allowed within ten feet (10’) 
of street ROW except those which are necessary to convey drainage in the shortest 
possible route to or from street ROW. 

(3) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities located within the front setback shall 
not exceed 25% of the area of the front setback. 

(4) Fencing is allowed around non-residential and multi-family detention ponds only if the 
fencing is constructed of wrought iron or tubular metal or other similar product. 

 
 

ARTICLE VI - SITE STANDARDS 

SECTION 13:  COMMERCIAL NON-RESIDENTIAL OR MULTI-FAMILY  PARKING LOT 
CONNECTIONS 
A commercial non-residential or multi-family site (zoned LO, LC or GC) contiguous with another 
commercial non-residential or multi-family site shall provide parking aisle connections to the 
boundary of the site for connection to such contiguous non-residential or multi-family 
commercial site unless such connection is determined to be inappropriate by the Department of 
Planning and Community Development.  The Department of Planning and Community 
Development shall make its determination after considering all relevant factors, including, but 
not limited to, the following: when there exists topographic constraints, environmental 
constraints, existing development that has not provided for such connections, or adjacent uses 
that are incompatible for the purposes of mixing traffic. 

 
 

ARTICLE IX - SITE DEVELOPMENT 

SECTION 3:  PROCEDURES FOR APPROVAL OF SITE PLANS  
(a) Site Plan Approval 

The Planning Department shall not approve a site plan until all reviewing departments 
of the city have indicated that the proposed site plan, with all applicable attachments, 
complies with all applicable provisions of the code of ordinances of the city including the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance and the Subdivision Ordinance.  Park land and park 
improvements shall be required for all multi-family development in accordance with the 
standards of Sec. 61 of the Subdivision Ordinance.  Regulations regarding the 
protection of riparian corridors shall be required for all developments in accordance with 
the standards of Sec. 48 of the Subdivision Ordinance.  The Planning Department shall 
approve a site plan if the proposed development complies with all applicable codes of 
the city.  If the Planning Department finds that the site plan does not comply with all 
applicable codes of the city, the site plan shall be disapproved pending submittal of a 
site plan in compliance with the code of ordinances of the city. Approval of a site 
development permit authorizes the applicant to begin site development. 



Item # 11 
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
JUNE 26, 2014 

  
 

 
 
Agenda Subject: Subdivision Ordinance Case 14-OR-005:  Hold a public hearing 

and consider action on amending sections of the Subdivision 
Ordinance, to add provisions for the protection of riparian 
corridors, to add requirements associated with parking lot 
connections and to add tree survey requirements.   

 
Background: One of the goals of the Comprehensive Plan is to "Enhance 

protective measures for areas of unique environmental quality."  
The plan goes on to identify two specific objectives, 1) adopt 
standards for the protection of significant trees, and 2) adopt 
standards and practices to protect significant riparian corridors.  In 
addition, it is the City's goal to foster the conservation of natural 
resources including water conservation.  The Planning & Zoning 
Commission identified this item as Priority #3 at the November 14, 
2013 meeting.  Staff is proposing the following amendments to the 
Subdivision Ordinance in order to achieve these goals.  Staff is 
proposing the following amendments to the Subdivision 
Ordinance: 
1. Addition of the definition and provisions for the protection of 

riparian corridors 
2. Addition of requirements associated with parking lot 

connections 
3. Addition of tree survey requirements 

 
Origination: City of Leander Planning Department 
 
Financial  
Consideration: None 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends approval. 
 
Attachments: 1.   Summary of Proposed Amendments 
  
Prepared By:   Robin M. Griffin, AICP  
 Senior Planner  06/19/2014 
 



1 
 

SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE 

 
ARTICLE I – GENERAL 

 
SECTION 1.  DEFINITIONS 
Riparian Corridor means any defined stream channel including the area up to the ordinary 
high water (or bankfull-flow line), as well as all riparian (streamside) vegetation in 
contiguous adjacent uplands.  Riparian Corridors also includes the Secondary Trail Corridors 
identified in the City of Leander Parks, Recreation & Open Space Master Plan. 
 

ARTICLE II – PROCEDURE 
 

SECTION 22.  PRELIMINARY PLAT 

(c) Content. 
(2) Existing Conditions. 

***** 
(iii) A tree protection plan consisting of an aerial photo or tree survey with the 

street and lot layout superimposed at a scale of 1”=100’ (or as appropriate) 
demonstrating that lot lines and street layouts have been designed and located 
and that lot width, depth and size flexibility (as permitted by the applicable 
zoning district if inside the City) has been utilized to the maximum extent 
necessary to retain the maximum number of significant trees reasonably 
practicable.  The aerial photo shall be high resolution and printed at no less 
than 300 dpi and spatial resolution of one (1) foot or less pixels.  In addition, 
the applicant shall provide a tree survey for trees eighteen (18) caliper inches 
and larger and located within proposed right-of-way or utility easements.  
The applicant shall provide a tree preservation plan that identifies the 
surveyed trees and the mitigation of the protected trees that are proposed for 
removal as required by the Composite Zoning Ordinance.  The tree protection 
plan is required to be approved by the Director of Planning prior to submission 
of a preliminary plat application. 

 
  



2 
 

ARTICLE III – DESIGN STANDARDS 

SECTION 42.  TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENTS 
(h) Non-Residential or Multi-Family Parking Lot Connections.  Reciprocal access to interior 
lots within a subdivision and lots adjacent to a subdivision is required.   
 
***** 
SECTION 48.  RIPARIAN CORRIDORS 
Riparian Corridor setbacks shall be based on the following drainage criteria for all 
developments.  These setback requirements do not include trails: 

(a) Creeks or swales draining more than five (5) acres but less than forty (40) acres 
shall have a minimum buffer width of twenty-five (25’) feet from the centerline of 
the creek or swale 

(b) Creeks or swales draining more than forty (40) acres but less than one hundred 
twenty-eight (128) acres shall have a minimum buffer width of seventy-five (75’) 
feet from the centerline of the creek or swale. 

(c) Creeks or swales draining more than one hundred twenty-eight (128) acres but less 
than six hundred forty (640) acres shall have a minimum buffer width of one 
hundred (100’) feet from the centerline of the creek or swale. 

(d) A one hundred (100’) foot buffer is required off of the centerline of creeks identified 
on the City of Leander Parks, Recreation & Open Space Master Plan. 

 


	6-26-14 P&Z Agenda Packet
	6-26-14 P&Z Agenda
	6-12-14 P&Z Minutes
	14-PP-005 Exec Summary Travisso, Section 2 Preliminary Plat
	14-PP-005 Att 1 Travisso, Sec 2 Preliminary Plat
	Travisso-Sec2_Prelim-Plat_Sh1
	Travisso-Sec2_Prelim-Plat_Sh2
	Travisso-Sec2_Prelim-Plat_Sh3
	Travisso-Sec2_Prelim-Plat_Sh4
	Travisso-Sec2_Prelim-Plat_Sh5
	Travisso-Sec2_Prelim-Plat_Sh6
	Travisso-Sec2_Prelim-Plat_Sh7

	13-FP-016 Exec Summary Savanna Ranch Sec 2 Final Plat
	13-FP-016 Att 1 Savanna Ranch Section 2 Final Plat
	210 scan
	211 scan
	212 scan

	14-FP-004 Exec Summary Northside Meadow Ph 2 Final Plat
	14-FP-004 Att 1 Northside Meadow, Phase 2 Final Plat
	14-Z-013 Exec Summary SmartCode TOD Update
	14-Z-013 Att 1 Planning Analysis SmartCode Amendment
	14-Z-013 Att 3 Conventional Development Sector Proposed Amendment.pdf
	14-Z-013 Att 3 Conventional Development Sector Proposed Amendment


	14-Z-013 Att 4 Sector Map 1 Opt A 2014 APR 21
	14-Z-013 Att 5 Sector Map 2 Opt B 2014 APR 21
	14-Z-013 Att 6 Sector Map 3 Opt C 2014 APR 21
	14-Z-013 Att 7 Sector Map 6 Trails 2014 APR 21
	14-Z-013 Att 8 Sector Map 7 ABC Streets 2014 MAY 01
	14-Z-013 Att 9 Sector Map 9 TZones 2014 APR 21
	14-Z-013 Att 10 Zoning Exhibit SmartCode
	6-26-14 P&Z Agenda Packet3
	14-OR-003 Exec Summary Landscape Ordinance Amendment
	14-OR-003 Att 1 Summary of Proposed Amendments
	SECTION 1:  LANDSCAPING AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS
	SECTION 7:  DRAINAGE AND DETENTION FACILITIES:
	SECTION 14:   ADDITIONAL MULTI-FAMILY AND NON-RESIDENTIAL STANDARDS 
	ARTICLE VI - SITE STANDARDS
	SECTION 13:  COMMERCIAL NON-RESIDENTIAL OR MULTI-FAMILY  PARKING LOT CONNECTIONS

	ARTICLE IX - SITE DEVELOPMENT
	SECTION 3:  PROCEDURES FOR APPROVAL OF SITE PLANS 


	14-OR-005 Exec Summary Subdivision Ordinance Amendment
	14-OR-005 Att 1 Summary of Proposed Amendments
	SECTION 42.  TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENTS



